

Consolidated Housing and Community Development Annual Action Plan for the State of Alaska

State Fiscal Year 2013 (Federal Fiscal Year 2012)

SFY2013 (July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2013)

Date: May 15, 2012

Author: Elaine Mello, Planning Officer

Oscar Cedano, Planner

Department of Planning and Program Development







Table of Contents

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	3
Overview	3
Plans for SFY2013	4
	•
II. SUMMARY OF OBJECTIVES	8
A. Seven Guiding Principles	8
Evaluation of Past Performance	9
Priorities and Specific Objectives	10
III. SUMMARY OF OUTCOMES	11
IV. SUMMARY OF SFY2013 CHANGES	12
A. Neighborhood Stabilization Program (NSP) 1 & 3	12
B. American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009	13
HOME Investment Partnerships Program	13
Weatherization	14
National Housing Trust	14
Annual Funding Plan for Housing	14
Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG)	16
V. SUMMARY OF PROPOSED ACTIVITIES	16
VI. COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT - COMPETITIVE GRANT	4-
PROGRAM	17
A. National Objectives	18
State Goals and Objectives	18
Amount of Funds Available and Distribution	19
CDBG Competitive Grant Program	20
Community Development Block Grant - Other Prioritization Processes	27
Assessment of Relationship of CDBG funds to Goals and Objectives	32
Statement of Specific Annual Outcomes	33
VII. HOME INVESTMENT PARTNERSHIPS PROGRAM	34
A. Overview	34
B. Rehabilitation of Owner-Occupied Housing	37
Rental Housing Development Activities	39
Homeownership Housing Development Activities:	42
The Homeownership Development Program (HDP)	42
HDP Resale Model	43
HDP Recapture Model	47
Rental and Homeownership Housing Predevelopment Program	47
Community Housing Development Organizations (CHDOs) Development Activities	48
Tenant Based Rental Assistance (TBRA)	48
Operating Expense Assistance Program for Community Housing Development Organizations (CHDOs)	49
Homeownership Program: The Home Opportunity Program (HOP)	50
HOME Program Development	52
Administration	53



XV.	. ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT	93
XIV	V. INPUT FROM OTHER PLANNING EFFORTS	91
E.	Protecting and Improving Housing and Community Development Assets	90
D.	Accessing, Targeting and Leveraging Resources	89
C.	Role of Local Governments	88
B.	Infrastructure for Housing and Community Development	87
A.	Improving Organizational Capacity	86
XII		86
E.	Evaluating and Reducing Lead Based Paint Hazards	85
D.	Developing Economic Opportunities for Low Income Families	84
C.	Weatherization Programs	83
В.	Teacher, Health Professional, and Public Safety Housing Grant Program	82
Α.	Public Housing Division	80
XII	. OTHER HOUSING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT ACTIONS	79
4110	Envirence (EEE)	, 0
XI.	LIMITED ENGLISH PROFICIENCY (LEP)	78
Б.	Animatively Furthering Fair Housing	76
A. B.	Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing	71 76
	Impediments to Fair Housing	/1 71
Χ.	ALASKA'S FAIR HOUSING PLAN	71
G.	Efforts to Promote Accessible Housing	70
F.	Expanding the Capacity of Sponsors to Access Special Needs Housing Programs Efforts to Promote Accessible Housing	69
E.	Beneficiary and Special Needs Housing Grant Program Expanding the Conscituted Spensors to Assess Special Needs Housing Programs	69
D.	Housing Opportunities for Persons With AIDS (HOPWA)	68
C.	Beneficiaries of the Alaska Mental Health Trust Authority	68
В.	Senior Citizens Housing Development Fund	67
A.	Overview	67
IX.	ASSISTING ALASKANS WITH SPECIAL NEEDS	67
В.	Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) Program	60
Α.	Continuum of Care Overview	59
VII	I. ALASKA'S CONTINUUM OF CARE FOR THE HOMELESS	59
AIIIII	mative ividiketing Procedures	50
	ority and Women-Owned Business Outreach Plan mative Marketing Procedures	57 58
	itoring	54
	ching Requirements	54



Consolidated Housing and Community Development Plan For the State of Alaska

SFY2013 (July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2013) Annual Action Plan

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Overview

Alaska receives approximately \$5 million annually (not including funding from related federal stimulus bills) from the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) via the following three federal formula programs:

- Community Development Block Grant Program (CDBG)
- Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG)
- Home Investment Partnerships Program (HOME)

This SFY2013 Annual Action Plan sets forth specifically how the State of Alaska will expend CDBG, ESG and HOME funding during the period from July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2013.

HUD requires these programs to be administered by recognized Participating Jurisdictions (PJs). Regarding all areas outside Anchorage (referred to as the "balance of state"), the State of Alaska Department of Commerce, Community and Economic Development (DCCED) is the recognized PJ for CDBG and Alaska Housing Finance Corporation (AHFC) is the recognized PJ for the HOME and ESG programs. The Municipality of Anchorage (MOA) is the PJ for all three programs within Anchorage.

The overall goal of these programs is to support the development of viable communities by providing decent housing and a suitable living environment, and expanding economic opportunities principally for low and moderate income persons. To achieve this, it is important to extend and strengthen partnerships among all levels of government and the private sector, including for-profit and non-profit organizations, in the production and operation of affordable housing.

In order to maintain eligibility for these formula housing and community development programs, PJs must develop and maintain a Consolidated Planning process. Several other federal programs require recipients to demonstrate consistency with the Consolidated Planning process of the PJ within which they intend to operate.



Key elements of the State of Alaska's Consolidated Planning process are the:

- Housing and Community Development Five Year Plan (HCD) (July 1, 2010 through June 30, 2015)
- Citizen Participation Plan (developed with the HCD)
- Annual Action Plans (AAP) based on the State of Alaska fiscal year (SFY);
- Consolidated Annual Performance and Evaluation Reports (CAPER) which must be completed within 90 days of the close of the state fiscal year

This SFY2013 Annual Action Plan (AAP) is the third AAP under the current Five Year HCD for SFY2011-2015. This AAP addresses the CDBG, ESG and HOME programs in all areas of Alaska, except Anchorage. Questions regarding the Anchorage HCD planning process should be directed to the Municipality of Anchorage, Planning Department, Community Planning Division, 825 L Street, Room 506, Anchorage, AK 99501, Mail: P.O. Box 196650, Anchorage, Alaska 99519-6650 or by calling #907-343-4285.

Plans for SFY2013

1. Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Funds

The majority of CDBG funds will be used for the CDBG Competitive Grant Program or CDBG Funded Projects—Other Prioritization Processes. Based on available information at this time, the estimated amount the State will receive for use in SFY2013 is \$2,131,122.

Within the CDBG Competitive Grant Program, the majority of project funds, estimated to be approximately \$2 million for SFY2013, will be targeted toward community development activities and planning activities which address health and safety needs, or which support future economic development and community self-sufficiency. At the discretion of the Department, a portion of the CDBG Competitive Grant Program funds may be set-aside and designated for use under the CDBG Funded Projects—Other Prioritization Processes such as 1) AHFC's Owner-Occupied Rehabilitation Program (ORP) contractors for housing rehabilitation/accessibility activities, or 2) CDBG eligible applicants for construction ready homeless shelters and transitional housing projects.



2. Emergency Solutions Grant

All Emergency Solutions Grants (ESG) program activities work towards the statutory goal of the 2011-2015 HCD Plan to create a suitable living environment and provide decent housing. This will be accomplished by providing operating support to emergency shelters and funding programs designed to prevent homelessness and/or rapidly re-house homeless persons. The estimated amount the State will receive in SFY2013 is \$228,007. ESG funds will be awarded on a competitive basis to units of local government and non-profit organizations.

3. HOME Investment Partnership Funds

All HOME Program activities work towards the statutory goal of the 2011-2015 HCD Plan to provide decent housing, create suitable living environments, and expand economic opportunities for Alaskans with incomes at or below eighty percent (80%) of the median income. The estimated amount the State will receive in SFY2013 is approximately \$3,000,000.

SFY2013 HOME funds and prior year unexpended funds will be allocated to existing programs including Rental Housing Development (RHD) in the amount of \$2,307,788 and with an estimated outcome of 10 units, the Homeownership Development Program (HDP) utilizing a \$450,000 set-aside and producing 12 units that all meet the Alaska equivalent of the Energy Star standard, the Home Opportunity Program (HOP) utilizing as much as \$1,425,000, Operating Expense Assistance (OEA) for Community Housing Development Organizations in the approximate amount of \$150,000, Owner-Occupied Rehabilitation Program (ORP) with an estimated rehabilitation of 12 homes and Tenant-Based Rental Assistance (TBRA) according to processes and amounts described below.

Unexpended prior year Rental and Homeownership Housing Predevelopment Program funds will be redirected toward providing HOME Program Technical Assistance, as needed. Approximately \$1.56 million in "one-time" program income receipts will be allocated according to four priorities as set forth below in the HOME Program section of this document.



Citizen Participation

Alaska's Consolidated Housing and Community Development Annual Action Plan (AAP) was created and maintained through a joint effort of several state agencies. An Interagency Steering Committee was created for this process. It includes representatives from AHFC, the Alaska Department of Commerce, Community and Economic Development (DCCED), the Alaska Department of Health and Social Services (DHSS), the Alaska State Department of Labor (DOL), and the Alaska Mental Health Trust Authority (AMHTA). As the lead agency in HCD planning, AHFC facilitates the process and provides a single point of contact for the public on matters relating to the HCD Annual Action Plan.

The HCD Annual Action Plan reflects the collective priorities of many agencies, organizations and private citizenry within the State of Alaska. These groups and individuals represent a variety of housing and community development programs and concerns. Other entities giving input include state and local governments, non-profit organizations, regional housing authorities and representatives of the private sector. Private citizens (particularly those with low incomes or residing in areas in which community development activities are likely to take place) are encouraged to participate in the development and review of the AAP.

Pursuant to federal regulations (24 CFR 91.115), the State of Alaska has developed and adopted a Citizen Participation Plan encouraging public participation in the HCD planning process. Alaska's size and wide range of social, economic and physical environments present many challenges to any planning process. A variety of approaches were used to ensure the public had opportunities to participate in the SFY2013 Annual Action Plan. The Interagency Steering Committee met on December 13, 2011 and provided ongoing input and review of the AAP. A statewide teleconferenced public hearing was held on February 2, 2012 to obtain public comment regarding housing and community development in preparation for drafting the SFY2013 Action Plan. The draft AAP was made available for public review and comment on February 17, 2012 for a period of 32 days which ended on March 20, 2012.

During the year leading up to, and in preparation for, the drafting of the SFY2012 Action Plan, AHFC representatives have gathered information on housing needs with such groups and in such forums as:

- Alaska Funders Group/ Philanthropy Northwest
- HUD Office of Native American Programs (ONAP)
- Alaska Coalition on Housing and Homelessness
- Alaska Mental Health Board
- Alaska Mental Health Trust Authority Board and Subcommittees
- Alaska Council on the Homeless (The Governor's Council)



- Homebuilders
- National Council of State Housing Agencies (NCSHA) Spring and Winter Meetings
- Alaska Commission on Aging
- Statewide Independent Living Council
- Alaska Prisoner Reentry Task Force
- Affordable Housing Partnership
- Juneau Affordable Housing Commission
- Juneau Homeless Coalition
- Barrow Homeless Coalition
- NEST in Nome
- United Way of Anchorage
- Kenai Homeless Coalition
- Mat-Su Homeless Coalition
- Fairbanks Homeless Coalition
- Alaska Association of Housing Authorities
- Alaska Municipal League Annual Meeting
- Alaska Department of Transportation and Public Facilities
- Housing Grand Opening Ceremonies in Anchorage and Fairbanks
- Palmer Senior Center Grand Opening
- Anchorage Chamber of Commerce Presentations on Statewide Topics Related to Housing
- Anchorage Economic Development Corporation Presentations on State Economy
- Public Housing Forums regarding Preferences and administration of Section 8
 Program
- National Finance Development Seminar Sponsored by NAHRO
- Various Discussions with State Legislative Representatives Regarding Housing and Related Issues
- Covenant Candlelight Vigil for the Homeless
- Alaska Council on Domestic Violence and Sexual Assault
- Two Public Housing Division 'focus groups' with approximately a dozen Anchorage area directors of not-for-profit agencies that serve homeless populations
- Annual Affordable Housing Tax Credit Conference by Novogradac & Co.
- Annual Conference of the Alaska Chapter of the national Association of Social Workers
- Neighborhoods USA Conference, May of 2011
- Alaska Chapter of the U.S. Interagency Council on Homelessness
- Council of State Community Development Agencies
- Program Monitoring of thirty-four AHFC Grantees



Notification of the availability of the draft plan, and the public hearing were advertised in the Anchorage Daily News, a newspaper of statewide circulation, and in a number of regional and community newspapers. Announcements of the availability of the draft plan were sent to many individuals, organizations and local governmental entities via electronic list serve. The draft plan was made available on AHFC's website or in hard copy by contacting the HCD Plan Coordinator from February 17, 2012 through March 20, 2012, inclusive. The availability of the draft plan was posted on the AHFC Facebook page. Public comments on the draft SFY2013 Annual Action Plan were received through March 20, 2012 and considered. The AHFC's Board of Directors reviewed the plan at their April 4, 2012 meeting prior to the plan being submitted to HUD in May, 2012.

II. Summary of Objectives

A. Seven Guiding Principles

Consistent with statutory requirements, the overall goal for the Consolidated Housing and Community Development Plan (HCD) for the State of Alaska is to:

Provide decent housing, create suitable living environments, and expand economic opportunities for Alaskans with incomes at or below eighty percent (80%) of median income.

The State of Alaska's Five Year HCD Plan (July 1, 2010 through June 30, 2015) identified seven general principles to guide the State's efforts to implement the above statutory goal. These principles are:

- 1. The use of federal housing and community development funds should emphasize benefit to low income Alaskans and increase sustainable housing and neighborhood options for Alaskans. Rationale: The amount of federal funds is limited; greatest needs are among the lowest-income households. Low to moderate income Alaskans should not have their housing options limited to only lower-income neighborhoods.
- 2. Use of community development funds should emphasize the creation of economic opportunity through development of infrastructure. Rationale: Basic infrastructure is lacking in many of Alaska's communities and is a major barrier to economic self-sufficiency. Location-efficient facility decisions can reduce the operating and capital expenses associated with transportation.
- 3. Preserve and upgrade existing housing supply through weatherization and rehabilitation. Rationale: Because it is so expensive to develop new housing,



every effort must be made to prolong the useful life and to lower operating costs of Alaska's existing housing.

- 4. Use of federal homeless funds should emphasize activities that maintain and strengthen the service delivery system for Alaska's homeless, consistent with local strategies. Rationale: Very little formula funding is available for services to help the homeless and near-homeless.
- 5. Maximize the use of federal housing and community development funds by supporting projects that include significant leveraging resources. Rationale: The amount of federal funds is limited; more can be accomplished if federal funds are combined with state and local resources.
- 6. Expand the supply of affordable housing for Alaskans with special needs, incorporating universal design and appropriate supportive services. Rationale: Existing housing supply is inadequate to meet current and projected need for this population, which has historically been underserved.
- 7. Housing and community development projects should incorporate climate specific design and engineering, energy efficient community design and construction techniques and innovative technologies. Rationale: Use of appropriate technologies insures long term viability of housing and community development projects. Communities designed in consideration of the link between transportation and housing costs, can minimize the consumption of energy used for mobility.

The Consolidated Annual Performance and Evaluation Report (CAPER) based on this SFY2013 Annual Action Plan will quantify, as practicable, and evaluate progress under each of the guiding principles.

Evaluation of Past Performance

The Consolidated Annual Performance and Evaluation Report (CAPER) reports the effectiveness of each five-year Consolidated Housing and Community Development (HCD) Plan and its corresponding Annual Action Plans. The CAPER for SFY2011 (the first year of the current HCD Plan) may be found at **www.ahfc.us**. It was used in developing the SFY2013 Annual Action Plan (AAP).

The process to develop the SFY2012 CAPER will begin in early July 2012 with a fifteen day public comment period on the draft CAPER anticipated in late August or early September of 2012. The SFY2012 CAPER will be submitted to HUD by September, 2012.



Priorities and Specific Objectives

In order to comply with the performance measurement system, this plan identifies goals and objectives and applicable outcome statements for each funded activity based on type of project. These activities will also be reported in the IDIS system and the SFY2013 CAPER.

Addressing the range of needs and allocating resources in an equitable manner is a complicated task. The state of Alaska is committed to moving forward with a set of objectives that will measure our performance while addressing the needs of low to moderate income families. Because funds are distributed through a competitive process, we cannot predict who will apply or how funds will be distributed geographically. Therefore, we have not included a geographic distribution formula.

There are obstacles that complicate the process of addressing needs in the State of Alaska. For example, most applicants find it very challenging to identify funding sources to fill the gap between CDBG or HOME funds and the actual cost of their projects. The cost of construction in rural Alaska is much higher than in urban areas and the cost of construction in the urban areas of Alaska is much higher than in other states. The building season in Alaska is shorter than in most states and it shortens more dramatically the farther north the project. Costs are driven higher where materials must be flown or barged to the project site. In order to obtain experience and develop the qualifications necessary to create the efficiencies that keep project costs within budget, workers and organizations in rural areas face challenges not always evident in urban Alaska. Training, modern technologies and other resources may not be readily available in small communities. Local organizations or communities and regional Housing Authorities continue to work diligently, and successfully, to identify and bridge these gaps.

Another obstacle is the growing number of labor-intensive requirements to administer the ESG program, especially the Homeless Prevention and Rapid Re-Housing components. Many homeless service providers around the state are small, faith-based operations with only one or two paid staff and a corps of volunteers. The complexity of qualifying and assisting ESG program participants, will require significant capacity building efforts.

The current Five Year HCD Plan states that annual priorities are to be shaped by the Guiding Principles listed above. Specific objectives will be defined within the Annual Action Plans according to these Principles. Projects and activities are funded if they support the annual objectives. During SFY2013 the objectives will be:



Suitable Living Environment — In general, this objective relates to activities that are designed to benefit communities, families, or individuals by addressing issues in their living environment.

Decent Housing — The activities that typically would be found under this objective are designed to cover the wide range of housing possible under the HOME, CDBG or ESG programs. This objective focuses on housing programs where the purpose of the program is to meet individual family or community needs and not programs where housing is an element of a larger effort, since such programs would be more appropriately reported under Suitable Living Environment.

Creating Economic Opportunities— This objective applies to the types of activities related to economic development, commercial revitalization or job creation.

Once the objective for each activity is selected, the State of Alaska PJ will select one of three outcome categories which best reflects what it is seeking to achieve by funding that activity.

III. Summary of Outcomes

As indicated in the preceding section, the Outcome Performance Measurement System for Community Planning and Development Formula Grant Programs was utilized during SFY2012 (FFY 2011). During SFY2012, the State of Alaska PJ has incorporated, to the extent possible, the outcome performance measurement system for the State's HOME, CDBG and ESG Programs. For the SFY2013 Annual Action Plan, the state has incorporated performance measures for (Federal) Fiscal Year 2012 CDBG, HOME and ESG funding. This includes the determination of an objective and selection of an outcome for each activity, based on the type of activity and its purpose.

The three outcome categories are:

Availability/Accessibility. This outcome category applies to activities that make services, infrastructure, public services, public facilities, housing, or shelter available or accessible to low and moderate income people, including people with disabilities. In this category, accessibility does not refer only to physical barriers, but also to making the affordable basics of daily living available and accessible to low and moderate income people where they live.

Affordability. This outcome category applies to activities that provide affordability in a variety of ways in the lives of low-and moderate-income people. It can include the creation or maintenance of affordable housing, basic infrastructure hook-ups, or services such as transportation or day care.



Sustainability: Promoting Livable or Viable Communities. This outcome applies to projects where the activity or activities are aimed at improving communities or neighborhoods, helping to make them livable or viable by providing benefits to persons of low- and moderate-income or by removing or eliminating slums or blighted areas, through multiple activities or services that sustain communities or neighborhoods.

OUTCOME STATEMENT MATRIX			
	Outcome 1: Availability or Accessibility	Outcome 2: Affordability	Outcome 3: Sustainability
Objective 1: Suitable Living Environment	Enhance Suitable Living Environment through Improved Accessibility	Enhance Suitable Living Environment through Improved or New Affordability	Enhance Suitable Living Environment through Improved or New Sustainability
Objective 2: Decent Housing	Create Decent Housing with Improved or New Availability	Create Decent Housing with Improved or New Affordability	Create Decent Housing With Improved or New Sustainability
Objective 3: Economic Opportunities	Provide Economic Opportunity through Improved or New Accessibility	Provide Economic Opportunity through Improved or New Affordability	Provide Economic Opportunity through Improved or New Sustainability

IV. Summary of SFY2013 Changes

A. Neighborhood Stabilization Program (NSP) 1 & 3

The State of Alaska is the only designated Alaskan recipient of NSP1 funds under the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008 (HERA). The State of Alaska received the minimum NSP1 allocation of \$19.6 million. Eight agencies were awarded NSP1 funding for nine projects. NSP1 provided funding for two self-help homeownership programs for low to moderate income families in Anchorage and in Kenai, provided funding for acquisition, demolition, relocation and new housing construction activities as a part of a large redevelopment project in Fairbanks, provided funding for the acquisition and rehabilitation of foreclosed properties to rent or resale to incomequalified borrowers in several community, and provided funding for the purchase of vacant properties for redevelopment into additional affordable housing opportunities. NSP1 also provided funding for an innovative youth-build program utilizing program income from the resale of foreclosed properties to recycle program income for



additional NSP-eligible activities. Over 93% of the NSP1 funding has been expended over a year prior to the end of the performance period.

An additional allocation of NSP funds, titled NSP3, was made available through the Dodd-Frank Act on July 21, 2010. The State of Alaska received the minimum NSP3 allocation of \$5 million. NSP3 funds will be utilized directly by AHFC for the development of additional units of Public Housing in the Mountain View/Russian Jack final target area in Anchorage, Alaska. This project is currently in the planning and development stages and will be ongoing through February of 2014.

B. American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009

The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 provided approximately \$789 billion in appropriations nationwide to fund a number of programs to strengthen the economy and invest in America's future. An additional \$5,490,631 in HOME Program funds were awarded to AHFC under the Tax Credit Assistance (TCAP) Program, to be used for the Low Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) program. These TCAP funds were allocated to financing gaps caused by the adverse equity market conditions and were completely drawn down during SFY2012, a year ahead of the deadline. Additional funding of \$14,346,267 was awarded through the Low Income Housing Grants in Lieu of Tax Credits program and has been fully expended as well.

Homeless Prevention & Rapid Re-Housing Program (HPRP) funds were awarded to Alaska/AHFC in SFY10 in the amount of \$1,143,986. Non-profit agencies in 9 Alaskan communities were awarded HPRP funds to assist homeless and near-homeless households to stabilize. All program activities concluded in SFY12 and by the start of SFY13, Alaska/AHFC anticipates that this award will be fully close-out.

HOME Investment Partnerships Program

The number of Owner-Occupied Rehabilitation Program (ORP) households served remains low in relation to the number of households AHFC would like to serve. The high volume of work under the State's Weatherization Program and the difficulties in administering the Owner-Occupied Rehabilitation Program (ORP) has contributed to this reduction. AHFC will not allocate any additional HOME funds to ORP for SFY2013. Currently, \$503,044 in previous year ORP program funding allocations remains uncommitted. Any uncommitted ORP funds in SFY2013 will be carried forward to SFY2014, or, reallocated to another eligible activity in accordance with the priorities outlined in Section VIII., L. HOME Program Development.

In SFY2012, the HOME program receipted an historically high amount of program income and repaid funds. The total estimated amount of HOME program income and



repaid funds that is expected to be available in SFY2013 is \$1,561,993; this is an historically high amount of HOME receipts. AHFC does not expect this trend to continue. Funds will be allocated in accordance with the priorities outlined in Section VIII., L. HOME Program Development.

As the HOME program approaches its twentieth anniversary, the State recognizes that a few HOME rental housing development properties that are in the fifteenth year of the affordability period have deferred maintenance, limited or negative net operating income, or have high vacancy rates and marketability issues. The State has included in this AAP a process and criteria for identifying "troubled" rental housing development projects and a process for evaluating whether additional HOME funds may be needed in order to preserve existing HOME affordable housing stock. AHFC may pursue a waiver from HUD regarding the prohibition against investing additional HOME dollars in rental properties past the first year of project completion if AHFC deems it to necessary to preserve units.

Weatherization

In 2008, the Alaska State Legislature passed legislation expanding the state weatherization program by \$200 million and allowing for the development of a \$160 million Home Energy Rebate Program. In SFY2012 AHFC received \$100 million in State Funding for the Weatherization and Home Energy Rebate programs. For SFY2013 AHFC, requested an additional \$51.5 million in State funding for the use of these programs. AHFC Weatherization and the Home Energy Rebate programs together these will reduce energy bills and increase energy efficiency in homes throughout Alaska. The popularity of these programs has increased dramatically over the course of the past year. They are discussed further below.

National Housing Trust

The legislation authorizing the National Housing Trust remains in effect, but no funds have been appropriated by Congress. Given the present federal financial climate, it is unlikely that funding will occur during SFY2013 (FFY2012). If funding does occur, it will be allocated according to the Trust requirements and the principles within this Annual Action Plan.

Annual Funding Plan for Housing

The Annual Funding Plan for Housing Table, which appears on the following page, reflects anticipated funding levels for SFY2013 (July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2013), and covers all areas of Alaska outside of Anchorage. The state funding



indicated in the funding table reflects the amounts in the Governor's SFY2013 Capital Budget request to the Alaska Legislature. AHFC updated the Federal figures in the table based on the latest information available at the time of the release of the final SFY2013 Annual Action Plan.

HCD Plan Annual Action Plan

Annual Funding Plan For Housing State of Alaska (Excluding Municipality of Anchorage) Fiscal Year 2013 (July 1, 2012 - June 30, 2013)

		Anti	icipated Fun	ding		Sec.
Program Name	Program Type	Federal	State	Total	Total I Units	215 Units
AHFC Energy Interest Rate Reduction	Interest rate reduction for energy efficiency	0	3,500,000	3,500,000	140	7
AHFC IRRLIB Program	Interest rate reduction for low-income borrowers	0	1,000,000	1,000,000	91	37
AHFC Multifamily Loan Program	Multifamily, special needs, congregate & senior progs.	0	17,690,000	17,690,000	71	N/A
AHFC Rural Housing Program	Mortgages for rural areas	0	90,564,617	90,564,617	365	18
AHFC Streamline Refinance Program	FHA Refinancing	0	40,785,560	40,785,560	194	12
AHFC Taxable First-Time Buyer Program	Conventional single-family mortgages for first-time buyer	0	72,481,000	72,481,000	293	12
AHFC Taxable Program	Conventional single-family mortgages	0	40,000,000	40,000,000	123	4
AHFC Tax-Exempt First-Time Homebuyers Prg	First-time homebuyer mortgages	0	74,599,000	74,599,000	357	64
AHFC Veterans Mortgage Program	Tax-exempt veterans loan program	0	38,756,000	38,756,000	125	1
Other AHFC Loan Programs	Mobile Homes, Non-conforming, Seconds	0	1,000,000	1,000,000	5	2
Total Mortgages:		0	380,376,177	380,376,177	1,764	157
	1		1			
Beneficiary and Special Needs Housing	Housing for people with disabilities	0		1,750,000	N/A	N/A
Building System Replacement Program	Upgrades to AHFC Public Housing Building Systens	0		855,000	N/A	N/A
Capital Fund Program	Public Housing Improvements	1,817,600		1,817,600	N/A	N/A
CDBG	HUD - Community Development Block Grant Program	2, <u>131,</u> 122	42,622	2,1 <u>73,744</u>	N/A	_N/A
Competitive Grants for Public Housing	Matching Funds Public Housing Resident Programs	426,000	198,800	624,800	N/A	N/A
Domestic Violence Housing Assistance Prg	Rental Assistance for Domestic Violence Victims	0	783,756	783,756	N/A	N/A
Energy Efficiency Monitoring	Energy Rating, Marketing, Tech. Asst., Special Projects	0	590,000	590,000	N/A	N/A
Energy Programs	Weatherization Assistance and Home Energy Rebates	885,000	29,500,000	30,385,000	N/A	N/A
ESG	HUD - Emergency Shelter Grant Program	228,007	128,007	356,014	N/A	N/A
Federal and Other Competitive Grants	Matching Funds for Federal Grant Programs	1,680,000	840,000	2,520,000	N/A	N/A
Fire Protection Systems	Replacement of Fire Systems AHFC Public Housing	0	1,249,600	1,249,600	N/A	N/A
HOME	Rehab, new const, rental and homebuyer assistance	3,000,000	750,000	3,750,000	15	4
HOME Program Income & Recapture	Program income/recapturefrom HOME activity	1,561,994	i0_	1,561,994	2	1
Homeless Assistance Program	Funding For Homeless Programs and Prevention	0	3,520,000	3,520,000	N/A	N/A
Housing Opportunities for Persons with AIDS	Rental Assistance - HOPWA	915,440	265,000	1,180,440	N/A	N/A
Security Systems Replacement/Upgrades	Upgrades to AHFC Public Housing Security Systems	0	284,000	284,000	N/A	N/A
Senior Citizen Housing Development Fund	Senior Housing Rehabilitation and Construction	0	4,000,000	4,000,000	20	N/A
Statewide ADA Improvements	Accessibility Modifications - Public Housing	0	284,000	284,000	N/A	N/A
Statewide Project Improvements	Improvements to AHFC Public Housing	0	1,136,000	1,136,000	N/A	N/A
Supplemental Housing Development Program	Rural Housing Infrastructure Improvements and Rehab.	0	5,600,000	5,600,000	N/A	N/A
Teacher, Health, and Public Safety Housing	Homeownership and Rental Housing for Teachers	0	6,000,000	6,000,000	18	N/A
Total Grants:		\$12,645,163	I I \$57,776,785 I	I \$70,421,948 	55	5
	lo	0.074.5	· _	0.074.0	1	
Public Housing Operating Subsidy	Operating costs	6,074,357			756	756
Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers	Rental assistance	_1 <u>3,275,582</u>	¦ <u>0</u>	13, <u>275,582</u>	1,901	1,901
Total Rental Assistance:		\$19,349,939	\$0	\$19,349,939	\$2,657	\$2,657



Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG)

SFY2013 will mark the first full year the Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) program will be operating under the new regulations set forth in 24 CFR 576. Due to the historically high demand for funding to support the operation of homeless shelters throughout the state, Alaska intends to exercise its option to award the maximum amount allowable (60%) of its FFY 2012 allocation to emergency shelter activities. The remaining 40% will be awarded for the mandatory activities of homeless prevention and rapid re-housing to agencies with the demonstrated capacity to meet all of the regulatory requirements. The award of the second allocation of FFY 2011 ESG funds occurred late in the year. As a result, activities associated with this award that were originally anticipated to commence in SFY2012 will now be carried out in SFY2013 as well.

V. Summary of Proposed Activities

The following section describes activities that will be undertaken by the State to address the priority needs and specific objectives identified in the Five Year HCD Plan (SFY2011 through 2015). A detailed description will be given of the three federally funded allocation programs that serve non-metropolitan Alaska (all areas outside of Anchorage). These three formula programs are the Community Development Block Grant Program (CDBG), the Home Investment Partnership Program (HOME), and the Emergency Solutions Grant Program (ESG). In these three program descriptions, the methods of allocating funds and criteria used to target program resources towards Consolidated Plan objectives will be outlined.

The proposed activities of the State will be outlined in three areas:

- Alaska's Continuum of Care for the Homeless. This portion of the Annual Action Plan describes the actions addressing the emergency shelter (including ESG) and transitional housing needs of homeless families and individuals, as well as those who meet the new definition of "at-risk" of homelessness. Activities to assist homeless households will be discussed. The goal of Alaska's Continuum of Care is to help homeless persons make a rapid transition to permanent, affordable housing. For some individuals, appropriate supportive services will be a critical component of this strategy.
- Assisting Alaskans with Special Needs. In this section, proposed actions will be described that address the needs of older Alaskans, persons with disabilities, persons with alcohol or other drug addictions, persons with HIV/AIDS, and other "at risk" Alaskans. Also included in this section is an updated description of Alaska's Fair Housing Plan, including the updated



Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice. Activities addressing these impediments in SFY2013 are described

• Other Housing and Community Development Actions. The State will outline its plans during SFY2013 to address underserved housing and community development needs. This section will cover actions promoting the development and maintenance of affordable housing, including the use of public housing resources and the development of public housing resident initiatives. The coordination of Low-Income Housing Tax Credits with other affordable housing resources will also be discussed. Actions will be outlined that help remove barriers to affordable housing, evaluate and reduce lead based paint hazards, develop economic opportunities for low-income families, improve organizational capacity, and improve the coordination between public housing and social service agencies.

VI. Community Development Block Grant - Competitive Grant Program

The CDBG Competitive Grant Program is a flexible source of competitive funding for a broad range of community development activities. Following is information on the method the State will use to distribute CDBG funds, the criteria used to select projects for funding, how funding is to be allocated among eligible activities and other information that will enable local governments and the public to comment on the State's planned CDBG program activities for the coming year. The Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development (DCCED) is truly committed to making the program responsive to local community needs, especially as they relate to the low- and moderate-income population.

Grant funding from SFY2013, which utilizes FFY 2012 funds, is available for three categories of projects: Community Development, Planning, and Special Economic Development. An eligible applicant may apply for up to \$850,000 during a single annual competition. It is anticipated that the competition for FFY 2012 funds will be held in the fall of 2012. The Department provides an application kit to potential grantees with additional details about the program, specific eligibility thresholds and other important information which will assist an applicant in the process of seeking CDBG program funds. The Department may elect to hold more than one competition annually if it is in the best interest of the CDBG program to do so. The Department reserves the right to make program changes based on pending budget cuts, if any, at the federal level.



A. National Objectives

Title I of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as amended in 1992, identifies three National Objectives for the CDBG program:

- Principally benefit persons of low and moderate income;
- Prevent or eliminate slums or blight; or
- Meet urgent community development needs which pose a serious and immediate threat to public health or safety.

State Goals and Objectives

The State of Alaska has elected to consider funding only those projects meeting the first national objective as the overall mission of the State's CDBG program which is to enhance the quality of life for low- and moderate-income persons, particularly in rural Alaska. The CDBG program fulfills this mission by acting upon the following defined goals and objectives.

- Ensure that the State's CDBG funds will be used to principally benefit low- and moderate-income persons;
- Provide financial resources to communities for public facilities, planning and special economic development activities which encourage community selfsufficiency, reduce or eliminate conditions detrimental to the health and safety of local residents, and reduce the costs of essential community services; and
- Provide capital to assist in the creation or retention of jobs that primarily benefit low and moderate income persons.

The following objectives guide distribution and use of funds:

- > To support activities which provide a substantial or direct benefit to low- and moderate-income persons;
- > To support activities which eliminate clear and imminent threats to public health and safety;
- To support local efforts toward solving public facility problems by constructing, upgrading, or reducing operational/maintenance costs of essential community facilities;



- > To support activities which demonstrate strong local support as evidenced by inclusion in a local community, economic, or capital improvement plan;
- > To support activities which demonstrate potential for long-term positive impact;
- To support activities which complement the Owner-Occupied Housing Rehabilitation (ORP) component of AHFC's HOME Investment Partnership Program;
- To support activities which encourage local community efforts to combine and coordinate CDBG funds with other public and private resources whenever possible;
- > To support economic-development activities which will result in business development and job creation or retention which principally benefit low-and moderate-income persons; and
- To support activities which either include, as part of the application, or have completed, design, engineering, architectural, or feasibility plans as appropriate.

The following objectives guide DCCED staff in program administration and in providing technical assistance to applicants and CDBG grantees:

- ❖ To provide staff support and encouragement, as well as information and referral, to communities engaged in developing local projects and activities which offer innovative and transferable solutions to community development problems;
- To develop a simplified grant management system incorporating training, technical assistance, and other related services to ensure that projects are completed in a timely and efficient manner, within budget, and in conformance with applicable program requirements and sound management principles; and
- ❖ To evaluate the program's design and implementation on an ongoing basis and make revisions where appropriate.

Amount of Funds Available and Distribution

It is estimated that the State of Alaska will receive \$2,131,122 in federal State Community Development Block Grant funding for the SFY2013 program year. Of this amount, it is anticipated that, following the administrative and technical assistance set-asides, all of the funding will be utilized to support the CDBG Competitive Grant Program or CDBG Funded Projects—Other Prioritization Processes as described herein. As provided for in federal regulations, the State will exercise its option to reserve one percent (1%) of its CDBG funds to provide training and technical assistance to CDBG applicants and grantees. The State of Alaska, Department of



Commerce, Community, and Economic Development reserves the right to revise funding amounts, when relatively minor, without a formal amendment to this Plan.

Of the funds available under the CDBG Competitive Grant Program, the majority of project funds will be targeted toward community development activities and planning activities which address health and safety needs, or which support future economic development and community self-sufficiency. Special emphasis will be placed on coordinating with other funding sources such as USDA Rural Development, the Economic Development Administration, the Denali Commission, the state of Alaska Designated Legislative Grant Program; the Administration for Native Americans; and other appropriate federal, state, and private funding sources. The Department will encourage applicants to include or have previously secured funds for design, engineering, and feasibility planning for projects, as appropriate, prior to making application for CDBG funding for construction or project implementation.

CDBG Competitive Grant Program

At a time determined appropriate by the Alaska Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development (DCCED), a competition for Federal Fiscal Year 2012 (SFY2013) CDBG funds will be held. Eligible applicants for the CDBG Competitive Grant Program are:

Any municipal government entity as defined by Title 29 of the Alaska Statutes; i.e. home rule, first, second, and third-class boroughs, unified municipalities, and first and second-class cities, which exercise powers consistent with the proposed project, except the Municipality of Anchorage.

An eligible applicant, as defined above, may submit a CDBG Competitive Grant application in cooperation with a non-municipal entity, such as a nonprofit corporation organized under AS 10.20 which is in good standing with the state of Alaska, or a Native Village Council, if the proposed project will principally benefit lowand moderate-income residents of the municipal government entity. A Cooperative Agreement will be encouraged among parties to the application.

1. Eligible Activities

CDBG Competitive Grant Program funds may be used for projects in three categories: Community Development; Planning; and Special Economic Development. The following summary, identifying the most common types of eligible activities within each category, is excerpted from Title I of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as amended in 1987. These examples are for general information only



and are not intended to be all inclusive. Communities are encouraged to consult with CDBG program staff about project eligibility and structure.

a. Community Development

CDBG Competitive Grant funds may be used for acquisition, construction, rehabilitation or installation of public facilities, and improvements such as health clinics, day care centers, community centers, waste and sewer systems, solid waste disposal facilities, flood and drainage facilities, docks and harbors, and electrical distribution lines, and fuel and gas distribution systems; transportation improvements including local service roads, trails, airports, barge facilities or subsistence access areas; removal of architectural barriers which bar handicapped and elderly persons from accessing public facilities and structures; and acquisition or disposition of real property, clearance, demolition, or removal of buildings and improvements. This category also includes acquisition, design, construction, or rehabilitation of fire-protection facilities, and purchase of fire-protection equipment.

b. Planning

CDBG Competitive Grant funds may be used for conducting studies, collecting data, preparing analyses, preparing plans and identifying actions which will implement plans, conducting marketing and feasibility studies, preparing community economic development plans, preparing community land use plans, preparing capital improvement plans, or conducting updates of any of the above. *Note:* There is a limit, imposed by federal statute, on the percentage of funds which may be used for planning purposes.

c. Special Economic Development

Under Section 105(a)(14), CDBG Competitive Grant funds may be used for commercial or industrial improvements carried out by the grantee or a non-profit sub-recipient, including acquisition, construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation, or installation of commercial or industrial buildings, structure, and other real-property equipment and improvements. Under Section 105(a)(17), CDBG Competitive Grant funds may be used for assistance (through the eligible applicant) to an identified private, for-profit entity for an economic development activity when there is a public benefit provided to the community as a whole.

2. Ineligible Activities

The following activities are *not eligible* for CDBG Competitive Grant funding. This listing of ineligible activities is not intended to be all-inclusive. Applicants are encouraged to consult with CDBG program staff to determine project eligibility.



a. Regular Government Operations

CDBG Competitive Grant funds may not be used to pay for the ongoing responsibilities of general local government.

b. Maintenance and Operation

CDBG Competitive Grant funds may not be used for operation and maintenance expenses of public or community facilities.

c. Equipment

The purchase of motor vehicles, equipment or furnishings not permanently attached to a building is ineligible except when such vehicles or equipment are used for fire protection.

d. Government Buildings

Government buildings such as courthouses, city halls, borough administrative buildings, tribal government offices, and other buildings used for the general conduct of government are not eligible for CDBG assistance except for the removal of architectural barriers preventing handicapped access.

e. Political Activities

CDBG Competitive Grant funds may not be used to finance the use of facilities or equipment for political purposes or to engage in other partisan political activities.

3. Special Requirements and Funding Limitations for the CDBG Competitive Grant Program

The following is a summary of special requirements and funding limitations pertinent to the CDBG Competitive Grant program. Detailed information on these requirements will be made available to applicants and potential applicants by DCCED, as part of a comprehensive application kit.

a. Maximum Benefit

Each CDBG Competitive Grant activity must meet the National Objective of benefiting populations or targeting areas which consist of at least fifty-one percent (51%) lowand moderate-income persons. Community-wide activities are restricted to communities with a total population of at least fifty-one percent (51%) low- and moderate-income residents. The Department will provide applicants with a list of communities meeting the fifty-one percent (51%) low-and-moderate population threshold for community-wide activities.



b. Single-Purpose Projects

CDBG Competitive Grant funds will address single-purpose projects only. If more than one activity is proposed by an applicant, each must directly relate to and address a single-identified need.

c. Adequate-Funding Requirement

CDBG Competitive Grant funds will be targeted and priority for funding will be directed toward projects demonstrating, at the time of application, that adequate funding to complete the project is secured. The CDBG program cannot fund projects which are unable to be completed with the funds available or which fail to demonstrate that a benefit will be provided to the low and moderate income residents after expenditure of CDBG funds.

d. Phased Projects

CDBG Competitive Grant funds will be used for phased projects only one time. The phase of the project for which funding is sought must demonstrate, at the time of application, that upon completion there will be a direct benefit to low and moderate income residents as a result of CDBG participation. Design, planning, or feasibility study requests which may later identify a need for construction or implementation funds are not considered phased projects.

e. Design/Engineering/Planning Costs

An application for CDBG Competitive Grant funds will be considered for construction projects which include funding for design and construction. However, it should be noted that applicants which applied for and received CDBG funding for project engineering, feasibility, and/or planning within two years prior to the application for implementation, may receive priority consideration of funding.

f. Past Recipients

A past recipient of CDBG Competitive Grant funds may not be considered for award of additional CDBG Competitive Grant funds until (a) a minimum of seventy-five percent (75%) of the non-administrative funds have been expended, and reported to DCCED and, in the judgment of the Department, the previously-funded project is substantially complete; or (b) the project is complete and all reporting requirements are met. Applicants with prior year grants are encouraged to verify expenditure levels with CDBG program staff. Review of applications by the ASC from past recipients who fail to meet the above requirements is at the discretion of CDBG Program Staff.

g. Maximum Number of Applications

An eligible applicant may submit only one CDBG Competitive Grant application in response to any one solicitation.

h. Maximum Grant Amount

An eligible applicant may apply for and receive a maximum of \$850,000 in CDBG Competitive Grant funds in response to any one solicitation.



i. Administrative Cost Limit

An applicant may apply for and receive not more than five percent (5%) of its total CDBG request for administrative costs. The Department may require successful applicants to attend a grant implementation workshop prior to release of awarded funds. If the applicant is required to attend the Department reserves the right to increase the administrative funds above five percent (5%) at its discretion. This will be negotiated after awards are announced.

j. Leverage

Each applicant for CDBG Competitive Grant Funds will be required to provide some matching funds if the application is to receive the maximum points in project review. Although there is no specific cash match requirement, those applicants offering some cash and in-kind match will likely score higher in project evaluation than those who fail to do so. Ideally, a minimum of twenty-five percent (25%) match will be provided and documented in the application. The source of all matching funds, whether cash or in-kind, must be identified in the application and must be documented.

k. Building Code and Standards Enforcement

Each CDBG activity which includes construction, renovation, rehabilitation, expansion or modification of buildings and facilities for public or commercial purposes must be designed to comply with pertinent state and federal building standards and codes. Applicants are encouraged to comply with provisions of the Department's *Grant Recipient Construction Manual*. The Department reserves the right to review and require modification of construction plans for compliance with these standards. Applicants will be required to submit evidence of State Fire Marshal approval of plans.

I. Davis-Bacon Wage Requirements

Each CDBG activity which includes construction, renovation, rehabilitation, expansion or modification of buildings and facilities for public or commercial purposes; site development; major equipment installation; or similar activity which involves the use of *contracted labor and services*, must comply with Davis-Bacon and other federal labor-standard requirements.

m. Environmental Review

Each CDBG activity must obtain appropriate environmental clearances as required by 24 CFR 570.495.

n. Site Control

Each CDBG activity involving the use of real property requires that the applicant document that it has the enforceable right to use the property. This document may be in the form of a deed, lease (usually for not less than 20 years), easement or



similar formally executed document. Site Control must be adequately documented at the time of application for CDBG funding. The Department may elect to make contingent awards for funding if it determines that site control can be secured and documented within a specified period of time after award, usually not more than six months.

o. Displacement

Each CDBG grant activity involving the acquisition, demolition, or rehabilitation of real property or displacement of persons for a project or program with HUD financial assistance will be required to follow the requirements stated under section 104(d) of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as amended and the implementing regulations of 24 CFR part 42, which requires a residential anti-displacement and relocation assistance plan.

p. HUD Reform Act, Section 102

Each applicant for CDBG funds must make certain disclosures if the applicant receives in excess of \$200,000 in federal funds from any source during the fiscal year in which the CDBG application is made. Applicants must disclose assistance from other government sources in connection with the project, financial interests of persons involved in the project, and expected sources and uses of funds that are to be made available for the project or activity. Applicants must update the disclosures required within 30 days of any substantial change during the period when an application is pending or assistance is being provided.

q. IRS Liens/Judgments

A municipality may not be awarded CDBG funds if they have any unresolved federal tax liens or court judgments filed against them. If an applicant has a repayment agreement in place to resolve tax liens or judgments, they must provide documentation of such an agreement.

r. Section 3 Reporting

Section 3 is a provision of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968. The purpose of Section 3 is to ensure that employment and other economic opportunities generated by certain HUD financial assistance shall, to the greatest extent feasible, and consistent with existing Federal, State and local laws and regulations, be directed to low- and very low income persons. Successful applicants must document actions taken to comply with the employment, training and contracting requirements of Section 3 and submit periodic reports to grants staff.

s. DUNS & CCR:

All recipients are required to have a Dun and Bradstreet (DUNS) number and to register with the Central Contractor Registration (CCR). Applicants will be required to show evidence they have met this requirement at the time an application is submitted.



4. Selection Process and Rating Criteria

The application-selection process for the *CDBG Competitive Grant Program* consists of two stages; threshold review and project rating and selection. During the threshold review, CDBG staff screen all applications for eligibility and completeness, without awarding points. An application must meet all of the threshold-review requirements to progress to the second stage of the selection process. The project rating and selection process, stage two, will be conducted by an Application Selection Committee, using the criteria outlined below. The Committee reserves the right to exercise flexibility in making specific recommendations, if those recommendations, in the opinion of the majority of Committee members, best serves the interest of the CDBG program and the program recipients. It should also be noted that applicants who applied for and received CDBG funding for project design, engineering, feasibility, and/or planning within two years prior to the application for implementation, may receive priority consideration for funding. Applications will be evaluated and assigned points by the Application Selection Committee based on the following criteria:

Rating Factor	Maximum Points
1. Project Description and Selection	15
2. Project Plan/Readiness	25
3. Project Impact	25
4. Budget/Match/In-Kind	25
5. Administrative Capability	10

Total Maximum Score	100

Following completion of the rating process, applications will be placed in rank order. The Application Selection Committee will forward funding recommendations to DCCED management staff for review to insure the ASC scored project applications in accordance with the rating criteria and procedure outlined herein. Applicants will receive written notification of the rating process results.

5. Appeals

Applicants may appeal the notification of rating results to the Director of the Division of Community and Regional Affairs. The only basis for an appeal is non-adherence by DCCED to the grant selection and award procedures as identified above. Appeals must be received by the Department in writing within 30 days of the date of the notification of rating results and must clearly state the basis for the appeal. The appeal will be reviewed by the Director and a final determination made within 30 days of the Director's receipt of the written appeal. The decision of the Director, provided to the applicant in writing, is final and conclusive.



Community Development Block Grant - Other Prioritization Processes

1. CDBG - Owner-Occupied Rehabilitation Program

At the discretion of the Department, a portion of the above referenced CDBG Competitive Grant Program funds may be set-aside and designated for use by AHFC's Owner-Occupied Rehabilitation Program (ORP) contractors for housing rehabilitation/accessibility activities. Grants may be awarded for up to a maximum of \$500,000 in CDBG funding. The focus will be on funding emergency rehabilitation activities which compliment HOME Program activities and fill a gap that addresses critical health, safety and accessibility rehabilitation improvements not currently being met through HOME or other programs. The guidelines for assistance will follow AHFC's HOME Owner-Occupied Rehabilitation Policies and Procedures Manual where applicable.

a. Cooperative Agreement

The Department will subcontract through the eligible CDBG municipal government, with AHFC's ORP contractors who are selected through a competitive process by AHFC to administer the owner occupied rehabilitation component of the State's HOME Investment Partnership Program. The ORP contractors are responsible for securing a Cooperative Agreement with the CDBG eligible municipal government entity in which the rehabilitation/retrofit activity is to take place.

b. Income Guidelines and Verification

The ORP contractors are responsible for insuring verification that this program solely benefits low to moderate income households. Income guidelines and verification will follow AHFC's HOME ORP Policy and Procedures Manual.

c. Project Approval, Project Set-up, and Environmental Review Forms

The guidelines for project approval, project set-up submission, and environmental review will follow AHFC's HOME ORP Policy and Procedures Manual using forms modified and updated for the CDBG – ORP program.

d. Standards

Project specific work on a home that is utilizing CDBG funds must meet Housing Ouality Standards (HOS) but the entire home will not be required to meet overall HOS.

e. Compliance with all applicable program requirements

The ORP contractors and the CDBG eligible municipal government entity are responsible for compliance with all other applicable CDBG program requirements.



f. Allowable activities

Allowable activities under this program would include, but not be limited to, roof replacement, foundation repair or replacement, correction of structural deficiencies, accessibility modifications, sanitation repairs (well, septic, bathrooms, etc.), lead reduction, moisture control and mold mitigation, heating system repairs and replacement, and energy efficiency improvements. CDBG funds may not be used for equipment or furnishings unless an integral part of the building.

g. Maximum Amount per Home

The maximum amount of CDBG funds per owner-occupied home will be limited by CDBG regulations and by the grant agreement between the municipal government entity and DCCED.

h. Expected Timeframe

Funds awarded under this housing rehabilitation program component are expected to be expended within 18 to 24 months of obligation unless otherwise approved by the Department.

i. Past Recipient

The seventy-five percent (75%) expenditure requirement under the Past Recipient provision of the Action Plan shall not apply to this ORP CDBG Program.

j. Administrative Costs

Administrative cost limits will be negotiated on a case by case basis but will not exceed ten percent (10%) of the grant amount.

2. Homeless Assistance Program - CDBG

At the discretion of DCCED, a portion of the above referenced CDBG competitive grant funds may be set-aside for CDBG eligible applicants for construction ready homeless shelters and transitional housing projects. Through AHFC's competitive Homeless Assistance Program (HAP), notification will be given that certain projects may be eligible, subject to the criteria outlined below, for up to \$500,000 in CDBG funding. After the close of competition for AHFC's Homeless Assistance Program, applicants will be reviewed for possible inclusion and receipt of CDBG funds.

a. Cooperative Agreement

Applicants notified of eligibility for the HAP CDBG program will be responsible for securing a Cooperative Agreement with the eligible municipal government entity in which the rehabilitation or construction project is to take place. If a Cooperative Agreement is not reached in a timely manner, as determined by DCCED, the Department reserves the right to use these identified HAP CDBG funds in the CDBG Competitive Grant Program, or other activities outlined in the Annual Action Plan.



b. Construction Ready

All HAP CDBG projects must be construction ready, which is defined as providing a completed business plan for facility operation; providing a detailed construction budget, with a sources and uses statement; verification of commitment of all other required funding sources for the project; evidence of site control; and completion of all planning, design, engineering and architectural plans for the project.

c. Other Program Requirements

Communities/applicants awarded funds under HAP CDBG program must meet all of the requirements for participation in the CDBG program including but not limited to Eligible Applicants; Eligible Activities; Public Hearing Requirements; National Objectives; Resolutions with Certifications of Compliance; HUD Reform Act; Civil Rights; Environmental Review; and Federal Labor Standards and agree to execute a CDBG Grant Agreement with DCCED within the timeframe outlined by the Department at the time of the award. CDBG funds may not be used for equipment or furnishings unless an integral part of the building.

d. Expected Timeframe

Funds awarded under the HAP CDBG program component are expected to be expended within 18 to 24 months of obligation unless otherwise approved by the Department.

3. Planning Applications

The Department reserves the right to issue, under the CDBG Competitive Grant Program, an application exclusively for Planning Activities if it is determined to be in the best interest of the program to do so. The purpose of exercising this option would be to assist communities in preparing for potential future construction projects as well as meeting other community planning needs.

4. Other CDBG Applications

The Department reserves the right to accept applications for CDBG funding outside the annual CDBG Competitive Grant cycle if extenuating circumstances, as determined by the Department, warrant such action.

5. Monitoring by DCCED

CDBG Competitive Grants and activities will be monitored on an ongoing basis by DCCED staff. It is the goal of the Department to monitor each CDBG funded activity at least once during the life of the grant. The primary objectives of the monitoring process are:



- To determine whether grantees are in compliance with required procedures for project management, financial management and recordkeeping, and audit requirements;
- To determine whether the environmental review and related actions of grantees are technically adequate in determining the project's impact on the environment and the impact of the environment upon the project;
- To provide technical assistance to grantees in remedying problems and resolving program deficiencies;
- To determine whether the obligations and costs incurred against the project are authorized by the Grant Agreement and adequately documented;
- To determine whether labor standards and civil-rights requirements are being adequately met;
- To determine whether acquisition/relocation provisions apply and are being adequately met; and
- To determine whether project objectives, timelines, and goals are being met in a timely and efficient manner.

The monitoring process consists of two levels: (1) on-site and (2) in-house or desk monitoring. Because of extremely high transportation costs in Alaska, and the remote location of the majority of communities participating in the CDBG program, not all projects will receive on-site monitoring by DCCED staff. The Department will determine how each project will be monitored, based on such factors as the complexity of project activities, administrative capacity of the grantee as evidenced by past grant activity, previous audit findings of the grantee, financial management capacity of the grantee, and cost-effectiveness of sending a Department staff member to the site. The Department employs a number of staff who often travel to remote areas of the state for various reasons.

CDBG staff will solicit the assistance of other Department staff to conduct on-site project reviews whenever possible. This may include requesting that photographs be taken of project facilities or activities. Some projects may be monitored in-house by CDBG staff for certain compliance areas and on-site by CDBG or other Department staff for other compliance areas. Other projects may be monitored only in-house by CDBG program staff.

The Department will continue procedures whereby all grant agreements and project activities are monitored in-house on an ongoing basis by CDBG staff. Grant files



reflect that ongoing technical assistance and review of grant status is occurring. Monthly status reports are submitted by grantees, reviewed by CDBG staff, and form the basis for constructive feedback to grantees. Financial-reimbursement requests are carefully reviewed and, on a selective basis, grantees asked to provide source documentation with billings before payment is made. CDBG staff maintains regular contact, both in person and by telephone, with all grantees.

If problems are identified through either in-house or on-site monitoring, grantees are notified in writing, and corrective action is required within a specific time frame. Department staff follows up on corrective actions taken and verifies completion.

The Department is committed to providing on-site monitoring to as many grantees as funding allows. In-house monitoring is a valuable alternative to on-site visits, but does not totally replace on-site visits by staff. Program records indicate which form of monitoring is used for each project and contain appropriate source documentation from grantees to support any findings made.

Specific procedures outlining minimum monitoring standards and timelines have been developed by the Department and are provided to successful applicants for funding through the CDBG Competitive Grant program.

6. Reallocated, Recaptured and Unobligated Funds

Reallocated funds are those funds which HUD has recaptured from a grantee and reallocated to the State in accordance with the Community Development Act of 1974, as amended through 1992. Reallocated funds received by the State with its annual grant will be made available to eligible applicants in accordance with the application process described above.

Recaptured funds are unspent funds which the Department recovers from grantees when it is clear that an approved activity is no longer viable or that the recapture will not preclude local ability to complete the approved activities or when the activities have been completed and funds remain in the grant agreement.

Recaptured funds will either be reallocated to existing grantees who demonstrate a need for additional funds (not exceeding a grant cap of \$850,000) or be reallocated to applicants between award cycles when it is demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Department that an immediate and pressing need exists and it is in the best interests of the program and applicant to award funds immediately. Recaptured funds may also be reallocated to other activities outlined in the Annual Action Plan outside of the competitive grant process (ORP and HAP).

Unobligated funds are funds which have not been, or are no longer intended to be, distributed according to the method of distribution described herein. Unobligated



funds will either be reallocated to existing grantees who demonstrate a need for additional funds (not exceeding a grant cap of \$850,000) or be reallocated to applicants between grant-award cycles when it is demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Department that an immediate and pressing need exists and that it is in the best interests of the program and the applicant to award funds immediately. Unobligated funds may also be reallocated to other CDBG activities outlined in the Annual Action Plan outside of the competitive grant process (ORP and HAP).

7. Program Income

Program income includes income generated by the use of CDBG funds awarded to an eligible applicant or sub-recipient. Program income includes, but is not limited to, payments of principal and interest on loans made with CDBG funds, proceeds from the lease or disposal of real property and equipment acquired with CDBG funds, and interest earned on CDBG funds held in interest-bearing accounts.

Program income generated by CDBG Competitive Grant recipients prior to close out of the grant from which the income was generated will be authorized by the Department to be retained by the recipient for the purpose of continuing the activity from which the program income was derived, in accordance with applicable regulations. Program income is subject to all applicable CDBG requirements.

A CDBG recipient proposing to retain program income must maintain the following records:

- Sources of program income
- Date and amounts of program income deposits
- Interest earned
- Dates and amounts of program income disbursements
- Documentation that activities funded with program income constitute a continuation of activities from which income was originally generated

Assessment of Relationship of CDBG funds to Goals and Objectives

The overall mission of the Community Development Block Grant Program is to enhance the quality of life for low and moderate income persons, particularly in rural Alaska. Goals include ensuring that the majority of funds will be used to benefit low and moderate income persons and to provide the financial resources for public facilities, planning, and economic development activities which reduce or eliminate conditions detrimental to the health and safety of local residents and reduce the costs of essential community services. In Program Year 2011 a total of 1 back-up generator, one emergency response facility, one electrical distribution repair, 1 senior



center renovation, 1 public safety facility design, and 1 comprehensive community development plan were completed, benefiting 1,236 persons. All of these projects addressed local health and safety issues. Of the 1,236 persons served with these funds 352 were extremely low income; 319 were low income; 282 were moderate income; and 283 were non-low-moderate income. A total of 77 % of those served were low to moderate income people.

Statement of Specific Annual Outcomes

During the 2013 program year (FFY 2012) the CDBG program anticipates providing for approximately 10 new public facilities/infrastructure improvements with approximately 2,664 low to moderate income (LMI) persons benefiting and thus meeting the objective of benefiting LMI persons and achieving the outcome of availability/accessibility.

Additional information about the CDBG program may be obtained from:

Jill Davis, Grants Manager Department of Commerce, Community, and Economic Development

Phone: 907-451-2717 FAX: 907-451-2742 211 Cushman Street

Fairbanks, AK 99701-4639 E-Mail: jill.davis@alaska.gov



VII. HOME Investment Partnerships Program

A. Overview

The Home Investment Partnerships Program (HOME) was created by the National Housing Affordability Act of 1990. The statutory purposes of this Act are:

- Expanding the supply of safe, decent, energy-efficient housing for low income families:
- Strengthening the abilities of state, local and non-profit agencies to design and implement strategies for affordable housing; and
- Creating and strengthening partnerships to produce and manage affordable housing.

The State of Alaska's HOME allocation for SFY2013 is anticipated to be \$3,000,000. Additionally, AHFC will provide \$750,000 in state matching funds to contribute to the federal matching requirements under the HOME program.

AHFC (AHFC) is responsible for the administration of the State's formula HOME allocation. As a separate Participating Jurisdiction, the Municipality of Anchorage receives its own formula allocation of HOME funds. Anchorage is the only Alaska community receiving separate HOME funds. No State HOME funds will be used within the Municipality of Anchorage.

Priorities for the use of HOME funds are established in the Consolidated Housing and Community Development Plan (HCD). The following program description outlines HOME funded activities for State Fiscal Year 2013 (July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2013) funded from Federal Fiscal Year 2012 (FFY 2012) appropriations.

- Rehabilitation of Owner-Occupied Housing;
- Rental Development Activities;
- Homeownership Development Activities;
- Community Housing Development Organization (CHDO) Development Activities;
- Rental and Homeownership Housing Development Technical Assistance or Pre-development Activities;
- Tenant Based Rental Assistance;
- Operating Expense Assistance for CHDOs; and
- Homebuyer Assistance Programs.

All HOME Program activities work towards the statutory goal of the 2011-2015 HCD Plan to provide decent housing, create suitable living environments, and expand economic opportunities for Alaskans with incomes at or below eighty percent (80%)



of the median income. The seven general principles from this five-year HCD Plan guide the direction and implementation of HOME Program activities. Priorities and Objectives for the coming program year are summarized in the Appendix C table and are detailed in the program descriptions that follow. Additionally, program achievements from SFY2011 are included in Appendix C as a measure of how the State is meeting its stated goals as outlined under the Five Year Consolidated Plan (2011-2015).



Allocation of FFY 2012 HOME Funds - July 1, 2012 through June 30, 2013

Activity	HUD	AHFC Match	Total
Rental Housing Development (RHD)			
Program			
Program Funds	700,000	400,000	1,100,000
CHDO Program Funds*	450,000	0	450,000
Subtotal	1,150,000	400,000	1,550,000
Homeownership Development			
Program (HDP)			
Program Funds	400,000	50,000	450,000
Subtotal	400,000	50,000	450,000
Owner-Occupied Rehabilitation			
Program (ORP)			
Program Funds	0	0	0
Sub-recipient Expense	0	0	0
Subtotal	0	0	0
Home Opportunity Program (HOP)			
Program Funds	1,000,000	200,000	1,200,000
Sub-recipient Expense	125,000	100,000	225,000
Subtotal	1,125,000	300,000	1,425,000
Tenant-Based Rental Assistance			
(TBRA)			
Program Funds	0	0	0
Sub-recipient Expense	0	0	0
Subtotal	0	0	0
CHDO Operating Expense Assistance			
(OEA)			
Subtotal	150,000	0	150,000
Rental and Homeownership Housing			
Pre Development Program	_	_	_
Subtotal	0	0	0
AHFC HOME Program Administration	175,000	0	175,000
Subtotal	175,000	0	175,000
Total HOME	3,000,000	750,000	3,750,000
Reprogrammed prior funding and			
program income/ repaid funds**	1,468,721		1,468,721
			•

^{*}CHDO Program Funds are set aside for Community Housing Development Organizations to own, develop or sponsor HOME assisted units through the RHD program, subject to the limitations of 24 CFR 92.300

^{**}HOME Program Income and repaid funds receipted in the first two quarters of SFY2012.



APPENDIX A to the SFY2012 Annual Action Plan includes additional tables on the Status of Active HOME funds, allocated under prior Annual Action Plans and uncommitted and unexpended funds allocated under prior Annual Action Plans.

B. Rehabilitation of Owner-Occupied Housing

The HCD plan places priority on preserving and upgrading existing housing supply through rehabilitation and weatherization to low-income homeowners. Although AHFC remains committed to the continuation of the Owner-Occupied Rehabilitation Program (ORP), the expenditure of ORP funds remains low. There are several factors that have contributed to the reduction in ORP expenditures. First, the State of Alaska has allocated \$360 million dollars to AHFC to administer weatherization and energy programs. One of the two SFY2012 AHFC ORP sub-recipients administers the weatherization program for AHFC in addition to ORP. The State legislature has imposed aggressive implementation and expenditure requirements on the weatherization and energy programs; this has necessitated the full attention of AHFC's weatherization program grantees. Consequently, ORP production has been adversely impacted.

Currently, \$405,912 in previous year ORP program funding allocations remains uncommitted. In addition, two ORP sub-recipients continue to offer rehabilitation services to eligible applicants throughout the state under existing contracts. For these reasons, AHFC will not allocate any HOME funds to ORP for SFY2013. AHFC will either renew funding commitments with existing ORP sub-recipients or, through a competitive process, select agencies to provide rehabilitation services. A Notice of Funding Availability (NOFA) will be announced. Interested organizations are invited to respond by the published deadline and proposals are evaluated by AHFC. AHFC may choose to increase existing ORP sub-recipient funding commitments. However, ORP funding may be re-allocated to the rental housing development program or the Tenant Based Rental Assistance program if AHFC determines that funds cannot be spent within a reasonable timeframe.

HOME and CDBG funding, where appropriate, will continue to be used in conjunction with other federal and state funds to achieve the goal of upgrading existing housing stock. Such funding sources include, but are not limited to AHFC/DOE Weatherization funds, Senior Citizen Housing Development Funds, DHSS Accessibility Brokerage Program funds, and USDA Housing Preservation funds. All homes considered for assistance under the ORP program must be occupied by owners with annual incomes at or below 60 percent of the area median income as determined by HUD adjusted for household size. AHFC will consider waiver requests for eligible households that exceed 60 percent area median income but do not exceed 80



percent area median income; waiver considerations are outlined in the AHFC ORP Policy and Procedure Manual. Eligible households with one or more of the following characteristics receive preference under this program:

- Persons over the age of 55;
- Families with children who are six (6) years old or younger; and
- Families in which at least one of the occupants has a disability, as defined in 24 CFR Part 92.2;

The objective of housing rehabilitated under the ORP program with HOME program funding is to create additional decent and sustainable housing stock in Alaska. All units will be brought up to code and will meet the AHFC HOME Program Written Rehabilitation Standards. The after-rehabilitation value of the property may not exceed the allowable HOME 203(b) limits or 95% of the area median sales price, whichever is greater. Furthermore, if a homeowner has been previously assisted with HOME funds and is currently still within the period of his or her outstanding HOME note or deed restrictions, he or she is not eligible for additional HOME funded assistance under this program. HOME funds provided through the ORP program will be in the form of conditionally-forgivable, zero interest loans to the homeowners. Maximum loan and grant limitations, and criteria for when each apply, will be established by AHFC in the ORP Policy and Procedure Manual. The eligible homeowner will execute a note and deed of trust to secure some or all of the assistance provided.

Loan provisions will have a forgiveness (recapture) period of four years. Equal portion of the amount subject to forgiveness will be deducted from the loan balance for each full year of ownership. In the event the homeowner fails to own the home after the rehabilitation activities are complete for the required recapture period, any amount of the loan not forgiven will be due and payable upon the sale or transfer of title of the property. In addition, in the case of a sale (voluntary or otherwise) the maximum amount of funds subject to recapture is limited to whatever net proceeds (if any) are available. The homeowner must show that the appraised value of the home is not sufficient to pay off the HOME loan(s) in addition to any other lien in superior position, and standard and customary seller's closing costs. Net proceeds are calculated by the sales price less any non-HOME loans or repayments less closing costs.

In the event that the cost to rehabilitate a property exceeds 75 percent of the replacement cost, the property may be reconstructed with ORP funds; the owner may be required to make principal payments on the portion of the loan that exceeds the forgivable amount.



The objective of housing rehabilitated under the ORP program with CDBG funds is to provide repairs for homeowners that have an immediate need to correct an emergency condition that has been determined to present an imminent danger to the health and safety of occupants or to protect a property from further structural damage. CDBG funding will be provided in the form of a grant through the eligible local government.

This program meets the HOME HUD objective of providing decent housing with improved or new sustainability and the CDBG objective of creating a suitable living environment by providing funding for owner-occupied housing rehabilitation services which address emergency needs and health and safety issues for low to moderate income households while improving availability and accessibility. The following outcomes are estimations that will be used to measure the progress of this program:

- It is estimated that twelve units will be rehabilitated.
- It is estimated that eight units will be owned by seniors, families with children or persons with disabilities.

Outcomes will be driven by the applicant pool and the amount of HOME funds assisted in each unit. The number of units that may be completed for seniors, families with children or persons with disabilities will be dependent on the number of applications to the program. Additional homes may be assisted if the amount of HOME funds invested is less than anticipated. Any uncommitted ORP funds in SFY2013 will be carried forward to SFY2014, or, reallocated to another eligible activity in accordance with the priorities outlined below in Section L. HOME Program Development.

Rental Housing Development Activities

Over the last several years, AHFC has increased the emphasis on rehabilitation and preservation of existing affordable housing resources in the rating criteria for the LIHTC, HOME and Senior Citizen Housing Development Fund (SCHDF) programs. As a result, more affordable housing rental units have been renovated and several federally subsidized rental projects have remained in the affordable housing stock. Yet, throughout the state, there are still serious shortages of affordable, decent housing for low-income Alaskans. Constraints of financial feasibility impede the development of affordable housing, in both rural and urban communities. Critical to the implementation of the strategies contained in this Plan is a dedicated source of funds to leverage other funding sources for the development of new affordable housing opportunities, as well as the acquisition and rehabilitation of existing structures.



On an annual basis through the Greater Opportunities for Affordable Living (GOAL) program and/ or the Special Needs Housing Grant (SNHG) program, AHFC announces the availability of HOME funds for rental development. The SNHG program allocates capital development funds to develop rental housing projects that will serve special needs, and often low-income, households. In SFY2013, HOME rental development funds may also be awarded through the SNHG award process, in addition to the GOAL process, if AHFC deems that it is in the best interest of the HOME program to do so.

Proposals for rental housing development will be evaluated based on AHFC's Rating and Award Criteria Plan, as approved by AHFC's Board of Directors. AHFC encourages applicants to submit proposals that meet the housing needs identified through the HCD Plan. Such characteristics include providing extended benefit to low income Alaskans (for at least 30 years); serving lower income Alaskans (at or below 50 percent of the median income); increasing and/ or preserving housing opportunities in rural areas; promoting housing for people with special needs and very low-income households (at or below 30 percent of the median income); incorporating energy efficient, sustainable housing design, and accessibility features into housing; and rehabilitation of housing.

Potential project sponsors must submit an application package to AHFC by the published deadline. Applications are reviewed, evaluated, and competitively ranked in relationship to other applications. An allocation of \$1,100,000 in SFY2013 (FFY 2012) HOME funds will be used to assist project sponsors in acquiring, rehabilitating, or constructing rental housing. In addition, \$450,000 will be earmarked as CHDO assistance for rental housing developments. Another \$757,788 of unexpended, prior year funding will augment SFY2013 rental housing development activities. Therefore, a total amount of \$2,307,788 is available in SFY2013 rental housing development activities.

For the purposes of this program, sponsors may include local governments, regional housing authorities, non-profit organizations and for-profit developers. The funds may be applied to the new construction, acquisition and acquisition/rehabilitation of rental housing. Projects may be located in either rural or urban areas (with the exception of Anchorage). Various housing types are eligible, including (but not limited to) apartments, single room occupancy units, congregate housing, single family homes, and group residences.

HOME assistance will be used to help fill the funding gap between a project's development costs and other sources of funds that may reasonably be expected to contribute to the project. These funding sources will include any debt that the project's cash flow may support, plus any match or leverage funds dedicated to the project at the time of application. The goal is to bring the debt and/or cost of debt service down to a level where the project becomes financially feasible, at rent levels affordable to low-income households, as specified in HOME regulations. Funds will



be provided in the form of grants or zero interest loans. For-profit project sponsors may not receive a HOME grant. Such sponsors are eligible for a HOME loan, subject to underwriting assumptions acceptable to AHFC. The maximum HOME program loan or grant for any one rental development may not exceed the per-unit subsidy amount(s) for the federally HOME-Assisted unit(s).

For rental housing developments, project compliance monitoring for HOME requirements during the period of affordability will be performed by AHFC's Audit (Compliance) Department. Mechanisms to monitor continued affordability will be similar to those employed under the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit Program.

This program meets the HUD objective of providing decent housing with improved or new affordability. The following outcomes are estimations that will be used to measure the progress of this program:

- It is estimated that a total of ten (10) affordable units (both HOME and non-HOME) will be developed.
- It is estimated that seven (7) of those units will be HOME assisted.
- It is estimated that five (5) of those units will be AHFC HOME set asides.
- It is estimated that two (2) of those units will be made available to the elderly.
- It is estimated that three (3) of those units will be made accessible.

There are a number of factors that will influence these outcomes such as: the types of projects and size of the projects that apply for funding; the point priorities AHFC places on various features in the GOAL round; and the availability of rental subsidy. In addition, it is difficult for the HOME program to serve populations such as the homeless, persons with HIV/AIDS or other special needs populations because of programmatic restrictions regarding the combination of housing and social services that is necessary for such populations.

Additional HOME rental units may be funded in SFY2013 if AHFC allocates HOME program income or repaid funds to the rental housing development program in accordance with the priorities outlined below in Section L. HOME Program Development. Any uncommitted rental housing development funds in SFY2013 will be carried forward to SFY2014.

The State of Alaska currently uses the Building Energy Efficiency Standard (BEES), a State specific standard. As of April 1, 2007 the BEES changed to conform to the 2006 International Energy Conservation Code with Alaska-specific amendments. These amendments were modified again February 9, 2010. See the following website: http://www.ahfc.us/reference/bees.cfm. With this change, the BEES is much more stringent. However, HUD only accepts the Federally Certified Energy Star standards. Therefore, while the AHFC program is producing energy efficient structures, they are not certified or recognized by HUD as Energy Star units. In the



2013 GOAL Application process under which HOME funds are awarded to sub-recipients, applicants can achieve points for energy efficiency by committing to exclusively use Energy Star products and also by acquiring either a Five Star Plus BEES rating or an Energy Star Certification for the project. Applicants are encouraged to visit www.energystar.gov for complete product specifications and updated lists of qualifying products.

Homeownership Housing Development Activities:

The Homeownership Development Program (HDP)

Homeownership Development Program (HDP) funds are awarded through an annual Notice of Funding Availability (NOFA). HDP awards are limited to participants in the USDA's 523 self-help homeownership program, Community Land Trusts, CHDOs and Habitat for Humanity organizations. There will be a set-aside of \$450,000 for HDP. Any funds remaining after HDP awards are determined will be allocated to rental development projects or the Tenant Based Rental Assistance program.

The maximum per-unit HOME subsidy for HDP is \$40,000 per unit. In addition, the purchase price for each unit may not exceed the allowable HOME 203(b) limits or 95% of the area median sales price, whichever is greater. HDP funds may be used for land acquisition, site / infrastructure costs, minimal soft costs and if necessary, down payment and closing cost assistance. The amount of allowable soft costs may not exceed 10% of the HDP hard costs. The NOFA and corresponding application will require that the need be clearly demonstrated for proposed HDP project in their respective local housing marketplaces.

The project sponsor is responsible for identifying homebuyer assistance resources that may be necessary for low-income homebuyers to purchase the home for the proposed sales price. Units assisted with homeownership development funds under this program are not eligible for buy down assistance under the Home Opportunity Program (HOP) but are eligible to receive down payment and closing cost assistance.

All HDP sub-recipients will use the recapture model unless an applicant explicitly requests to employ the resale method at the time of application for funding. AHFC will authorize the use of the resale method if the sub-recipient is able to demonstrate to AHFC the following: home prices in the community are rapidly increasing or the community is considered a "high cost area" (for this purpose, AHFC will identify "high cost area" annually in the HDP NOFA packet); the sub-recipient has the necessary experience, capacity and qualifications needed to service resale agreements for the term of the agreements; the sub-recipient is familiar with land leases and covenants; the sub-recipient has the experience, capacity and capability to income qualify future homeowners. If the proposed community is not considered a "high cost area" by



AHFC's definition, AHFC may consider other compelling reasons presented by the sub-recipient to employ the resale method in a particular community or location.

For HOME funded HDP projects, AHFC will secure the HOME subsidy through an assistance agreement and covenant under the resale provisions or a note, deed of trust, and assistance agreement under the recapture provisions consistent with the terms described in the HOME Program description. AHFC will evaluate project proposals to determine the financial feasibility of the project and other predetermined selection criteria. AHFC will conduct a subsidy layering review on each project receiving HDP funds to ensure that the amount of HDP funds provided does not exceed the amount necessary to provide affordable housing. Funding awards will be made to applicants based on the availability of funds, relative ranking among the other applicants, and other criteria determined to be appropriate.

This program meets the HUD objective of providing decent housing with improved affordability. The following outcomes are estimations that will be used to measure the progress of this program:

- It is estimated that twelve units will be developed.
- It is estimated that twelve units will meet the Alaska equivalent of the Energy Star standard.

There are a number of factors that will influence these outcomes such as the applicants and criteria under the NOFA. Any uncommitted HDP funds in SFY2013 will be carried forward to SFY2014, or, reallocated to another eligible activity in accordance with the priorities outlined below in Section L. HOME Program Development.

HDP Resale Model

The resale model requires that when a homeowner sells their home, he or she sells it for a restricted price to a low income household (80% below the median income). HDP funds up to \$40,000 may be provided in assistance. HOP funds can only be used for down payment and closing cost assistance in a project assisted with HDP funds. Interest buy downs are not an eligible cost.

When using the resale method, the original HOME-assisted buyer must receive a fair return on investment if the property is sold during the period of affordability. A fair return on investment is calculated as shown in Resale Methodology demonstrated below.

43



Capital improvements are permanent structural improvements or restoration of some aspect of the property that will either enhance the property's overall value or increases its useful life. Capital improvements have to last for more than one year and add value to the home, prolong its life, or adapt it to new uses. The improvements must still be evident when the home is being sold. Repairs and maintenance items are not considered capital improvements. Repairs return something to its original condition and are done to maintain a home's good condition without adding value or prolonging its life (e.g., painting, fixing sagging gutters). Capital improvements that are no longer a part of the home or that have reached their useful life will not be included when determining the fair return on investment. The value of capital improvements will be based on the actual costs of improvements as demonstrated by the homeowner's receipts.

It is important to note that if the house depreciates in value, the original homebuyer may not receive a return on his or her investment because the home sold for less or the same prices as the original purchase price. In addition, a homeowner's return on investment is limited by the amount of the market appreciation.

Housing under the resale provision must remain affordable to a reasonable range of low-income homebuyers. Low-income households between 30 to 80 percent of area median incomes are considered to be within the reasonable range of borrowers that should be targeted for the subsequent purchase of units utilizing the resale method. A household's monthly PITI payments must be at least 23% of the borrower's monthly income as qualified by the primary Lender and in no circumstances exceed 40%. If funding is available and the homebuyer is eligible, HOP assistance may be used to assist the subsequent low-income borrower.

For purposes of the HOME program, acceptable HDP projects using the resale option must include the following features:

1. HDP restrictions must remain in place for the minimum period affordability. The resale affordability period will be determined by amount of direct development assistance provided under the HDP in addition to any HOP assistance provided to the original homebuyer. The affordability period is based on the amount of assistance and is as follows:

Less than \$15,000 5 years \$15,000 to \$40,000 10 years More than \$40,000 15 years

For example, a unit may receive \$40,000 in HDP development subsidy and \$10,000 in down payment assistance from the HOP program. The total HOME assistance is \$50,000 and the affordability period is 15 years. All subsequent homebuyers for 15 years will need to be eighty percent (80%) below the median income.



- 2. An assistance agreement with the original homebuyer and all subsequent homebuyers must be established based on the affordability period.
- 3. In the event that the original homebuyer sells the home and the subsequent homebuyer receives HOP assistance the resale period restarts, based on the amount of new HOP assistance received. For example, the original homebuyer received \$50,000 in HOME assistance (development subsidy + down payment assistance) and the affordability period was 15 years. The homebuyer sold the home after owning it for 5 years and the new homebuyer received \$10,000 in HOP assistance. The affordability period would restart at time of sale and would now be 5 years.
- 4. A sample ground lease for the property must be approved by AHFC before any assistance will be approved. The lease must specify the grantees first right of refusal, the homeowner's maximum share of appreciation, resale formula, and other restrictions required by 24 CFR Part 92.
- 5. The resale formula may allow the homeowner to realize a maximum of 50 percent of the home's (market) appreciation. Increased home value due to the homeowner's capital investment in the home may be retained in full by the homeowner.
- 6. The remaining (market) appreciation (at least 50 percent) must be factored into the resale formula to reduce the home's subsequent sales price, making the home increasingly more affordable over the lease period.
- 7. The grantee must agree to exercise a first right of refusal in any subsequent sales of the home.
- 8. The grantee must agree to verify incomes of the original homebuyer and any subsequent homebuyers, and provide documentation of income verification to AHFC during the affordability period.

RESALE FORMULA

The Maximum Sales Price is the maximum amount the homeowner may receive when selling the property to a low-income household. The Maximum Sales Price shall be the lesser of the current appraised value at the time of sale or the price determined by the following formula:

Homeowner's Purchase Price [see step (a)]	\$
Plus Appreciation Due to Homeowner Capital Improvements	+
Plus Homeowner's Share of Pro-Rated Market Appreciation	
[see step (e)]	+



Equals Maximum Sales Price:	\$	
(a) Determining Homeowner's Purchase Price: Homeowner and Grantee agree that the Homeowner's Purchase Price is calculated as follows:		
Total Initial Sales Price: Less any grant or subsidy assistance provided to Homeowner to assist in the purchase of the home: Equals Homeowner's Purchase Price:	\$ \$ \$	
The Initial Sales Price for any subsequent owner shall be the sales price of the property at the time of that owner's purchase. The Homeowner's Purchase Price shall be recalculated using the formula above at the time of that owner's purchase, and may be recorded as an amendment to this agreement at the time of that subsequent sale.		
(b) Determining Market Appreciation: At the time of sal Market Appreciation is calculated as follows:	e by Homeowner the	
Current Appraised Value Less Initial Appraised Value [see step (c)] Less Appreciation Due to Homeowner Capital Improvements Equals the Market Appreciation	\$ \$	
(c) Determining Initial Appraised Value: Homeowner and the time Homeowner purchased the property, the Initial Approperty was \$[Input Initial Appraised Value]. The initial apsubsequent owner shall be the appraised value of the proper owner's purchase, and such amount may be recorded as a agreement at the time of that subsequent sale.	opraised Value of the opraised value for any orty at the time of that	
(d) Prorating the Homeowner's Investment as part of Market	et Appreciation	
To preserve the public subsidy that helped to make pos- homeownership opportunity, it is necessary to determine the and private investment that contributed to the Market App calculated by comparing Homeowner's Purchase Price to the I Appreciation is then prorated by this ratio. Following is a step calculating Prorated Appreciation.	ratio of public subsidy reciation. The ratio is nitial Appraised Value.	
Homeowner's Purchase Price [see step (a)] Divided by Initial Appraised Value [see step (c)] Times Market Appreciation [see step (b)] Equals Prorated Appreciation	\$ / x \$	



(e) Determining Homeowner's Share of Prorated Market Appreciation: The Homeowner's Share of Appreciation shall be determined by multiplying the Market Appreciation by the 50% (fifty percent). Following is a step-by-step approach for calculating Homeowner's Share of Appreciation:

Prorated Appreciation [see step (d)]	\$	
Multiplied by the Shared Appreciation Factor	X	.50
Equals Homeowner's Share of Prorated Market Appr	eciation	
(if amount is negative, enter 0)	Х	

HDP Recapture Model

Under the recapture model the first \$10,000 in direct assistance is provided as a forgivable loan. Direct assistance is defined as the difference between the market value and sales price of the home in addition to any HOME assistance. For every year the homeowner continues to own the home and make it his or her primary residence, the loan will be forgiven by a maximum of \$2,000, or twenty percent (20%) of the loan, whichever is less. Any remaining HDP assistance provided will be secured against the home as a loan with zero percent (0%) interest, repayable at the time the homebuyer no longer owns the property. If the homeowner fails to meet the primary residency requirement during the affordability period, the full amount of assistance is due and owing. The recapture provisions will be triggered by a sale prior to the completion of the affordability period. The amount subject to recapture is the total amount of direct assistance less the prorated amount of the first \$10,000 forgiven per the terms described above plus any amounts that are not forgiven.

In the case of a sale (voluntary or otherwise) the maximum amount of funds subject to recapture is limited to whatever net proceeds (if any) are available. The homeowner must show that the appraised value of the home is not sufficient to pay off the HOME loan(s) in addition to any other lien in superior position, and standard and customary seller's closing costs. Net proceeds are calculated by the sales price less any non-HOME loans or repayments less closing costs.

Rental and Homeownership Housing Predevelopment Program

AHFC has determined that the funds traditionally allocated to the Rental and Homeownership Housing Predevelopment Program will be more effectively used in the future to augment AHFC's HOME Training and Technical Assistance efforts. Historically, HOME Training and Technical Assistance was provided to HOME developers, sponsors, owners, property managers and sub-recipients with funds granted to AHFC from HUD. In SFY2013, AHFC will not receive a direct allocation of HOME Technical Assistance (HOME TA) funds from HUD. However, the need for



HOME technical assistance and training remains a priority to AHFC in order to continue to maintain and develop HOME and affordable housing experience and capacity. Therefore, AHFC will direct unexpended prior year Rental and Homeownership Housing Predevelopment funds towards the AHFC HOME Training and Technical Assistance. Any uncommitted technical assistance funds in SFY2013 will be carried forward to SFY2014, or, reallocated to another eligible activity in accordance with the priorities outlined below in Section L. HOME Program Development.

Community Housing Development Organizations (CHDOs) Development Activities

The National Housing Affordability Act placed a high priority on using community-based non-profit organizations to develop affordable housing. A set-aside of 15 percent of each Participating Jurisdiction's HOME funds was mandated for the exclusive use of CHDOs. The standards for certification as a CHDO were established by federal regulation. Only certified CHDOs will be eligible to access the set-aside of CHDO funds for the development of affordable housing. This program meets the HUD objective of providing decent housing with improved affordability.

CHDO set-aside funds are a sub-set of HOME funds reserved for the development of affordable housing. In the State of Alaska HOME Program, these funds may be used for allowable HOME activities outlined in the Rental Development Activities, through the GOAL and SNHG programs described above, subject to the limitations of 24 CFR 92.300. If an eligible CHDO is awarded HDP funding, those funds may be designated as CHDO set-aside or CHDO reserve funds. To participate in the CHDO set-aside, an organization must complete the following steps:

- 1. Complete and submit an annual application to AHFC for certification as a CHDO with the appropriate supporting documentation;
- 2. Receive certification from AHFC, after compliance with CHDO criteria about legal status, board structure and composition and demonstrated capacity;
- 3. Submit a Greater Opportunities for Affordable Living (GOAL), Special Needs Housing Program (SNHG) or HDP program proposal for evaluation. Proposals will be solicited through a NOFA process.

Tenant Based Rental Assistance (TBRA)

AHFC has identified the need to provide Tenant Based Rental Assistance (TBRA) to eligible households that are at or below 60% of the median area income. Preference will be given to special needs and at-risk populations as articulated in the Five Year



(SFY2011 through 2015) Consolidated Housing and Community Development Plan. Funding for TBRA remains available from previous Annual Action Plan HOME allocations. Therefore, no additional FFY2012/ SFY2013 HOME funds will be committed to Tenant Based Rental Assistance (TBRA). However, AHFC will continue to develop and offer this program to eligible households and will allocate program income and repaid funds to TBRA as necessary.

AHFC may partner with State of Alaska agencies or departments to target special needs and at-risk populations who will be transitioning from State supervision or programs into permanent housing. In addition, AHFC may select sub-recipients through a NOFA or RFQ process to assist with the administration of TBRA.

TBRA is essential to meeting the unmet needs of special needs and at-risk populations by providing opportunities for those seeking individual living options in normal residential settings or in need of subsidized rental housing; TBRA will help narrow the gap in benefits and services received.

TBRA is an essential part of AHFC's housing strategy and market conditions make TBRA a viable option; rental unit availability data indicates that there is an ample supply of units to make TBRA a viable housing strategy. This program meets the HUD objective of providing decent housing with improved affordability.

TBRA Vouchers may not be used within the Municipality of Anchorage. The TBRA service area will include communities that are served by the AHFC Public Housing Division, outside of Anchorage.

This program meets the HUD objective of providing decent housing with improved or new availability. It is estimated that fifteen households will be assisted.

There are a number of factors that will influence this outcome such as the length of the assistance provided to each household and the time it takes to perfect the TBRA delivery system. If households are renewed or require additional months of assistance than initially planned for, the number of households served may be reduced. In addition, outcomes may not be realized until future plan years as AHFC perfects the TBRA delivery system and forges partnerships necessary to implement TBRA.

Operating Expense Assistance Program for Community Housing Development Organizations (CHDOs)

Federal law gives the option to states of providing a limited amount of operating support funds to CHDOs actively expanding affordable housing opportunities with



HOME funds. A maximum of five percent (5%) of the state's annual HOME allocation may be used for this purpose.

A total of \$150,000 in SFY2013 (FFY 2012) HOME funds may be used for the Operating Expense Assistance Program for Community Housing Development Organizations (CHDOs). If these funds are not used for CHDO operating support they will be used for rental housing development.

The State is committed to developing a network of CHDOs throughout Alaska, not only for potential participation in the HOME program, but also to aid in the development and management of housing financed through other mechanisms. In addition to providing OEA through a grant agreement, AHFC will also be providing technical assistance to any organization seeking CHDO status in SFY2013. Funding will be available at the beginning of every State Fiscal Year. AHFC will also conduct or facilitate training opportunities targeted towards CHDO organizations and facilitate contracts with consultant firms or individuals who have housing experience to train key CHDO staff.

Homeownership Program: The Home Opportunity Program (HOP)

Expansion of housing choice is an important component of the State's housing strategy.

Significant numbers of steadily employed lower-income Alaskans have been unable to reach their homeownership goal.

1. HOP Addresses Obstacles to Homeownership

In the State of Alaska the greatest obstacles to achieving homeownership is generally an inability to:

- Qualify for conventional financing at the loan amount necessary to purchase homes; and
- Accumulate savings sufficient to satisfy down-payment and closing cost requirements.

A total of \$1,425,000 in SFY2013 (FFY 2012) HOME funds is reserved to provide down-payment, closing costs and buy down assistance to lower income homebuyers.

The Home Opportunity Program (HOP) will be administered by non-profit corporations and/or public agencies that have been competitively awarded funds by AHFC. A Notice of Funding Availability (NOFA) or a Request for Qualification (RFQ) will be



announced. Interested agencies are invited to respond by the published deadline and proposals are evaluated by AHFC. Prospective borrowers will be required to complete an orientation to homeownership through AHFC's innovative HOME CHOICE workshop offerings, or an equivalent program offered by private lenders and other qualified entities.

Eligible borrowers must have annual incomes at or below 80 percent of the area median, as determined by HUD, adjusted for household size. Additionally, they must exhibit the ability to meet the on-going responsibilities of homeownership, including the repayment of the primary mortgage loan.

The HOP program will primarily utilize the recapture model. The resale model is only allowable when HOP funds are being used in conjunction with other HOME projects that have received prior approval from AHFC to utilize the resale model.

2. HOP Recapture Model

Under the recapture model, assistance will be provided in the following manner:

- The maximum HOP assistance per assisted household will be \$30,000. Of this total, closing cost assistance may not exceed actual costs or \$3,000, whichever is less.
- Of the maximum \$30,000 in assistance, up to the first \$10,000 will be provided to the homebuyer as a forgivable loan. For every year the homeowner continues to own the home and make it his or her primary residence, the loan will be forgiven by a maximum of \$2,000, or twenty percent (20%) of the loan, whichever is less.
- If the homeowner fails to meet the primary residency requirement during the affordability period, the full amount of assistance is due and owing.
- Any remaining HOP assistance (the amount in excess of \$10,000) will be provided to the homebuyer as a loan with zero percent (0%) interest, repayable at time of sale. In the case of a sale (voluntary or otherwise) the maximum amount of funds subject to recapture is limited to whatever net proceeds are available (if any).
- Participants will be required to obtain primary mortgage financing from private lenders and will be expected to meet standard underwriting requirements.
- All HOP loans must be done in compliance with HOME Program regulations, and the HOP Policies and Procedure Manual.



By making only the first \$10,000 of the HOP loan forgivable, and having a forgiveness period of five years for all loans, the program will reach its goal of making homeownership affordable to lower income households. In addition, it will also be able to recycle the funds, making this scarce resource available to more households over time.

For homeowner agreements used under HOP, the amount of funds required to be repaid in the event of foreclosure is the amount that would be subject to recapture. The recapture agreement is based on "net proceeds" (if any) from a foreclosure sale. Net proceeds are calculated by the sales price less any non-HOME loans or repayments less closing costs. The homeowner must show that the appraised value of the home is not sufficient to pay off the HOME loan(s) in addition to any other lien in superior position, and standard and customary seller closing costs. The amount subject to recapture is the total HOP assistance provided the homeowner, less the prorated amount of the first \$10,000 forgiven per the terms described above plus any amounts not forgiven.

3. HOP Outcomes

This program meets the HUD objective of providing decent affordable housing with improved availability. The following outcomes are estimations that will be used to measure the progress of this program:

- It is estimated that forty-seven homebuyers will receive assistance.
- It is estimated that twenty will be first-time homebuyers.
- It is estimated that twenty homebuyers will receive down payment or closing cost assistance.
- It is estimated that thirty homebuyers will receive buy downs.

There are a number of factors that will influence these outcomes such as: market conditions, interest rates, changes in lending criteria and the income of households who apply.

HOME Program Development

AHFC must first commit any program income received by the HOME Program to current activities before federal funds are expended. As of January 5, 2012 AHFC has \$1,468,721 of uncommitted program income and repaid funds received during SFY2012. Of these receipts, \$1,422,697 are considered repaid funds. AHFC does not expect to continue to receive repaid funds at this rate, or much at all in the future. AHFC anticipates an additional \$93,271 in program income receipts by the



end of SFY2012; a total of \$1,561,993 in HOME program income and repaid funds is expected to be available in SFY2013. Historically, this is a substantial amount of funds receipted to the HOME program in a given year. AHFC will allocate these funds based on the priorities set forth below. Program income and repaid funds that are not committed during SFY2013 will be carried forward to SFY2014. In addition, in SFY2013 AHFC may reallocate any uncommitted HOP, ORP, HDP funds to other eligible HOME program areas based on these priorities.

Priority One: Fund additional rental housing development activities to the extent that the demand for these activities exists and AHFC determines that an applicant has a feasible, shovel-ready project.

Priority Two: Fund tenant-based rental assistance activities to the extent that the demand for these activities exists, feasible partnerships have been forged with State of Alaska agencies or departments, and it is anticipated that funds will be expensed within a reasonable time frame.

Priority Three: Invest additional HOME funds in existing HOME rental development "troubled" projects in order to preserve HOME-assisted housing projects that have become financially unviable. Prior to making a funding commitment to a HOME "troubled" property, AHFC must obtain a waiver from HUD to the provisions at 24 CFR 92.214 a. 6. that prohibits AHFC from investing additional HOME funds in rental properties.

AHFC may solicit proposals from project sponsors or owners either on a first come, first serve basis or by announcing a Request for Proposal. Eligible projects include: 1) projects determined to be "troubled" either by AHFC or HUD; 2) projects in at least the fifteenth year of the affordability period; 3) projects that have issues related to project financing, management or operation; 4) projects that have undergone and completed a HUD or AHFC Technical Assistance Review for Troubled Rental Projects.

A Project sponsor or owner that is concerned that they have a "troubled" project should contact AHFC's HOME Program Manager. Warning signs of "troubled" projects commonly include: deferred maintenance; limited or negative net operating income; or high vacancy rates.

Priority Four: Fund ORP, HOP and HDP activities in excess of what has been allocated to these programs in SFY2013 to the extent that demand exists and sub-recipients can feasibly expend additional funds within the grant performance period.

Administration



Federal law allows PJs to use up to ten percent (10%) of their federal HOME grant and any program income received for the administration of the program. It is the intent of AHFC to use these funds to support eligible administration expenses related to the program, including sub-recipient expenses subject to specified funding limitations, and if necessary, staff salaries. Any unused administrative funds will be allocated to program funding.

Matching Requirements

The SFY2013 (FFY 2012) allocation of HOME funds carries a twenty-five percent (25%) matching requirement. The PJ anticipates meeting the match through a contribution of AHFC corporate receipts. This contribution effectively increases the total amount of HOME funds available during SFY2013 (FFY 2012) to \$3,750,000. Whenever feasible, recipients of HOME funds will be encouraged to make additional contributions to HOME projects that will qualify as "match" under the federal regulations. This will allow the PJ to further stretch HOME funds to assist low-income Alaskans. If for some reason these strategies do not meet the twenty-five percent (25%) matching requirement, AHFC will utilize banked HOME match.

Monitoring

HUD HOME monitoring consists of four types of compliance reviews. The first type of compliance review consists of a desk review of pre-disbursement/initial documents and reports prior to any HUD HOME and AHFC funds being paid to the project developers and sub-recipients. The second type of compliance review consists of desk monitoring of financial and project status reports throughout the project development and grant period. The third type of compliance review involves once a year on-site visit or desk review of projects being developed and sub-recipients' financial administration of the project development and grant funding. The fourth type of compliance review consists of post-project completion or "affordability compliance" review of rental housing development projects, HOP and ORP.

1. Pre-disbursement Monitoring

The first type of compliance review is accomplished by AHFC's Planning and Program Department staff reviewing the project developers and sub-recipients' predisbursement/initial reports required of sub-recipients and project developers of rental housing projects. AHFC staff verifies that all pre-disbursement/initial

54



documents and reports are complete and accurate before any HUD HOME and AHFC funds are released to the project developers and sub-recipients. The required pre-disbursement/initial documents and reports will depend on the type of project being funded. A complete list of all the different pre-disbursement/initial documents and reports follows:

- Evidence of business license and insurance requirements
- Evidence of Debarment and Suspension (24 CFR Part 92.357)
- Cost allocation plan
- Evidence of funding commitments
- Authorized signatories
- Project work plan
- Certification of Section 3 and Women's and Minority Business Enterprises (WBE/MBE) compliance

The reports include a written Section 3 and Women's and Minority Business Enterprises (WBE/MBE) work plans. The Section 3 work plan identifies how sub-recipients will notify Section 3 residents and contractors of training and job opportunities, facilitate the training and employment of Section 3 residents, and the award of contracts to Section 3 businesses that includes the Section 3 Clause in all solicitations and contracts. The Women's and Minority Business Enterprises work plan includes a description of sub-recipients' planned outreach designed to inform Women's and Minority Business Enterprises of contract opportunities.

2. Monitoring Throughout the Performance Period

The second type of compliance review is desk monitoring conducted by AHFC's Planning and Program Development Department staff throughout the project development and grant period. This type is accomplished by AHFC staff reviewing project developers and sub-recipients monthly or quarterly invoices that sometimes includes supporting documents; and, quarterly and final financial and project status reports. Project status reports requirement vary depending on the type of projects funded. The following is a partial list of the different project status reports:

- Description of Section 3 and Women's and Minority Business Enterprises (WBE/MBE) compliance
- Description of job training activities
- Description of Affirmative Fair Housing Marketing compliance activities
- Certification of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964
- Certification of Conflict of Interest Provisions at 24 CFR Part 92.356
- Certification of Drug Free Work Place Act of 1988
- Certification of Debarment and Suspension (24 CFR Part 92.357)



- Certification of Flood Disaster Protection Act of 1973
- Certification of Lead-Based Paint Poisoning Prevention Act
- Project cost certification
- Copy of recorded federal, state and local building inspection reports (i.e. BEES, HQS, UPCS)
- Certification of Davis-Bacon Wage Act and Safety Standards Act if applicable
- Copy of proposed rental charges and low-income unit lease agreement
- Copy of executed deed restriction on the title to the land benefited by the project funding
- Project status narrative report

3. Formal Annual Monitoring

The third type of compliance review involves once a year on-site visits or desk review of projects being developed and sub-recipients' financial administration of project development and grant funding. AHFC staff from the Planning and Program Development Department and the Research and Rural Development Department (ORP only) share the responsibility of on-site or desk monitoring reviews. AHFC staff reviews project developers' and sub-recipients' records for compliance with financial administration and management regulations, program policies and regulations, procurement policies and procedures, and property requirements. The project developers and sub-recipients receive a formal written monitoring review report and are required to respond and correct any findings and observations.

In SFY2013, the Planning and Program Development Department staff will complete the following number of on-site monitoring compliance reviews:

- Two of the two HOME HOP sub-recipients
- Two of the two HOME ORP sub-recipients
- Two of the two HOME HDP grantees
- Two of the three HOME OEA sub-recipients
- Two HOME GOAL/SNHG sub-recipients

Additionally in SFY2013, it is anticipated that five percent (5%) of HOME ORP rehabilitation housing projects will be visited and inspected by Research and Rural Development Department staff for completion and HUD HOME rehabilitation requirements.

4. Monitoring by AHFC Internal Audit Department – Compliance Section

The fourth type of review is conducted by AHFC's Internal Audit Department (IAD) which is responsible for monitoring post-development completion or an "affordability



compliance" review of agencies with HOME funded single and multi-family rental housing developments. The IAD reviews are conducted throughout the year and based on a schedule that meets with federal audit requirements for the different types of rental housing developments.

As of January 1, 2012, AHFC Internal Audit Department (IAD) is responsible for monitoring a portfolio of 139 affordable housing developments throughout Alaska. Of this number, 21 are funded solely by the HOME program, with an additional 36 funded by a combination of HOME/Low Income Housing Tax Credits (LIHTC), and/or the State of Alaska Senior Citizens Housing Development Fund (SCHDF) programs. During calendar year 2012, the IAD is scheduled to conduct compliance audits of 56 of the 57 HOME and/or HOME/LIHTC/SCHDF developments. Of this number, 39 developments are scheduled for on-site physical inspections and administrative document/tenant file audits, with the balance of 17 developments scheduled for desk monitoring only of administrative documents. One (1) HOME Program development of the 57 HOME program developments is tentatively scheduled for a 1st year review in calendar year 2013 or later. Development Owners and Managers receive a formal written audit review report and are required to respond and correct any findings and questioned costs.

In all of the four types of program monitoring, AHFC staff works with the project developers and sub-recipients to ensure compliance with HUD HOME policies and regulations. The formal written monitoring review reports clearly identify non-compliance findings and questioned costs, cite HUD HOME, OMB Circulars and AHFC regulations that support the findings; and, recommends corrective actions the sub-recipients' should take to meet compliance requirements. In almost all non-compliance situations, the project developers and sub-recipients show a willingness and ability to comply with program policies and regulations. Throughout the project development and grant period, AHFC staff provides technical assistance to project developers and sub-recipients in order to preclude non-compliance findings and questioned costs during formal monitoring reviews.

Minority and Women-Owned Business Outreach Plan

Section 281 of the National Housing Affordability Act requires HOME participating jurisdictions to describe procedures establishing and overseeing an outreach program for minority and women-owned businesses. In administering the HOME program, the PJ of Alaska will actively encourage the participation of and use of minority and women-owned businesses in HOME supported efforts. Towards this end, where applicable the following policy provisions shall apply to sub-recipients and recipients of HOME funds:



- Use of the Small Business Administration's internet-based minority and women-owned business contractor list to ensure that bids are received from such enterprises to perform the needed work.
- Monitor of grantees to ensure compliance with procurement procedures.
- Sub-recipient training at the initiation of a new grant agreement.
- Development of an affirmative marketing plan.
- Publishing minority and women-owned business utilization goals covering contracts for services/supplies that have an estimated value above \$25,000 and contain items that can be subcontracted.
- Assisting contractors and potential contractors to identify qualified minority and women-owned enterprises to participate as subcontractors.

AHFC will require the recipients of HOME funds to submit a "Minority and Women-Owned Business Outreach Plan" prior to the disbursement of any HOME funds. In addition, all sub-recipients will be required to submit reports that disclose the total number and dollar amount of contracts executed, and specifically list contracts awarded to MBE/WBE or Section 3 contractors or subcontractors, where applicable. Grant agreements will require that this information be submitted on a schedule so that it conforms to the federal fiscal year (ending September 30), in order to assist in accurately reporting such information to HUD.

The CEO/Executive Director of Alaska Housing Finance Corporation or his/her designee will be responsible for the oversight of this program and this policy.

Affirmative Marketing Procedures

HOME program regulations at 24 CFR 92.351 require jurisdictions participating in HOME to adopt affirmative marketing procedures and requirements for all HOME-assisted housing containing five or more units. The PJ will extend this requirement to all rental units assisted, not just five or more units. These procedures apply to the group of activities the PJ identifies as "development" activities, which involve the acquisition, rehabilitation or new construction of housing.

Pursuant to 24 CFR 92.351, the State of Alaska will undertake an affirmative marketing program providing information necessary to attract eligible persons from all racial, ethnic, and gender groups to the availability of housing assisted with HOME program resources. The PJ will annually assess the affirmative marketing program to determine its success and what corrective actions might be necessary.



The following are the components of the State's HOME affirmative marketing effort and will serve as the minimum requirements for all applicants for HOME funds:

- The Equal Housing Opportunity log or slogan will be used with correspondence, notices and advertising related to affected HOME-funded housing development.
- Owners will be required to use affirmative fair housing marketing practices in soliciting renters or buyers, determining their eligibility, and concluding all transactions.
- Owners will be required to demonstrate a good-faith effort to solicit those eligible persons who are not likely to apply for housing assistance. These good faith efforts may include, but are not limited to, special outreach to community organizations, places of worship, employment centers, fair housing groups, counseling and social service agencies, medical service centers, homeless shelters and the use of minority specific media.
- Owners of HOME-assisted housing must maintain a file containing all marketing efforts and records of all applicants and tenants selected during the period of affordability. Records to assess the results of these actions must be available for inspection by the PJ.

The PJ will assess the affirmative marketing efforts of the owner during regular project audits, based on the guidance that has been provided as part of the policies and procedures manuals developed for every component of the HOME program and federal regulations. Good-faith outreach efforts will also be considered in evaluating the marketing efforts and results. Corrective action will be required when project audits indicate marketing efforts are insufficient.

VIII. Alaska's Continuum of Care for the Homeless

A. Continuum of Care Overview

The Continuum of Care (CoC) is a planning framework to meet the needs of people who are homeless or at-risk of homelessness, as they move to stable housing and maximum self-sufficiency. This continuum contains several critical components including homeless prevention services, street outreach, emergency shelter, transitional housing and permanent affordable housing, some of which comes with supportive services.

59



The term, CoC also represents the subset of the Alaska Coalition on Housing & Homelessness that participates in the preparation of the application for funding under HUD's Continuum of Care grant program. The Alaska CoC is comprised of non-profit service providers, representatives from local government (including school districts), business leaders, faith-based organizations, and interested citizens (including homeless and formerly homeless persons). AHFC works closely with the CoC throughout the year to identify areas of unmet need, determine funding priorities and make appropriate technical assistance arrangements to build capacity.

Recognizing the small role federal funding plays in the overall Continuum, one of the guiding principles of the Five Year (SFY2011 through 2015) Consolidated Housing and Community Development Plan is:

Use of federal homeless funds should emphasize activities that maintain and strengthen the service delivery system for Alaska's homeless, consistent with local strategies.

This guiding principle is consistent with the first of four principles listed in the Ten-Year Plan to End Long Term Homelessness in Alaska developed by the Alaska Council on the Homeless in 2009. By that, it means that Alaska/AHFC will do what it can to refrain from becoming too prescriptive or restrictive when it comes to prioritizing activities or persons to be served with the use of federal funds to the extent allowable by regulation. Decisions of that nature will be left to local homeless organizations whenever practicable.

B. Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) Program

1. ESG Overview

On December 5, 2011, HUD released the Interim Rule for the Emergency Solutions Grant. By contrast to a "proposed rule" this Interim Rule took effect on January 4, 2012 even though the public comment period had not closed and applied to the second allocation of FFY 2011 funds which are addressed in detail in another document. In addition to administrative activities, ESG funds may be used for five program components: street outreach, emergency shelter, homeless prevention, rapid re-housing assistance and Homeless Management Information Systems (HMIS).

The ESG regulations now restrict the use of funds for emergency shelter or street outreach activities to "the greater of 60 percent of the recipient's fiscal year grant; the amount of Fiscal Year 2010 grant funds committed" for emergency shelter or street outreach activities. The remaining 40 percent of the annual allocation must be used for homeless prevention, rapid re-housing, or HMIS activities.



To qualify for ESG assistance, program participants must meet the newly expanded definitions of "homeless" or "at risk of homelessness" described in 24 CFR 2. Program participants in the "at-risk of homelessness" category must also have incomes below 30% of area median income to qualify for ESG assistance. In addition to documenting client eligibility, agencies providing rental assistance are now required to inspect all units to document compliance with HUD's habitability standards and to execute a written rental assistance payment agreement with the landlord.



Sources of Funds and Matching Requirements

HUD has announced that for SFY2013 (FFY 2012) Alaska will receive \$228,007 in ESG funding. Alaska will exercise its option to award approximately 60 percent (\$136,800), the maximum amount allowable, for emergency shelter or street outreach activities. The remaining \$91,207 will be applied toward homeless prevention, rapid re-housing and administration activities. Alaska receives funding for HMIS activities through a CoC award so the need for additional ESG funding for this purpose is not anticipated for the SFY2013 program year.

As a state ESG recipient, Alaska will be obligated to meet a match requirement of \$128,007 for the FFY 2012 allocation. This match obligation will be met with a combination of funds awarded for the same program period through the state Homeless Assistance Program (HAP), the Council on Domestic Violence and Sexual Abuse (CDVSA) and resources generated by the ESG sub-recipients themselves.

In addition to the FFY 2012 allocation, Alaska anticipates that funds awarded through the second allocation of FFY 2011 ESG will be utilized during the SFY2013 program year. This second allocation of \$71,301 is explained in greater detail in the Substantial Amendment to the Consolidated Plan 2011 (SFY12) Annual Action Plan for the Second Allocation of Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) Funds document. Outcomes from this second allocation will be included in the SFY2013 CAPER.

2. HEARTH Act Prescribed provisions regarding ESG

Written Standards for Provision of ESG Assistance

In recognition of the large geographic area covered in the Alaska CoC geography and the varying needs and conditions of local communities, Alaska is adopting the provision outlined in 24 CFR 576.400(e)(2)(i)(B) that enables states to require each sub-recipient to establish their own written standards for providing ESG assistance and apply them consistently within the sub-recipient's program. This approach is consistent with the guiding principles of the Alaska HCD Plan which supports the use local strategies for determining unmet needs and targeting of resources. All requirements for written standards and policies will be incorporated in the grant agreement issued to the sub-recipient.

a. Standard policies and procedures for evaluating individuals' and families' eligibility for assistance under Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG).

As a prior recipient of ARRA-HPRP funds, the sub-recipient already has in place standard policies and procedures for evaluating each individual or family's eligibility for homeless prevention and rapid re-housing assistance. These policies will be



updated to incorporate the definitions of homeless and at risk of homelessness outlined in 24 CFR 576.2 and 24 CFR 576.500(b), (c), (d) and (e).

b. Policies and procedures for coordination among emergency shelter providers, essential service providers, homeless prevention and rapid re-housing assistance providers, other homeless assistance providers and mainstream service and housing providers.

The sub-recipient will incorporate into their ESG policies and procedures, by reference, existing cooperative agreements they have in place with the local Public Housing agency, the Indian Housing Agency (Kodiak Island Housing Authority), the domestic violence shelter (Kodiak Women's Resource & Crisis Center), the Dept. of Public Assistance (TANF), and the community behavioral health center. Additional formal agreements will be established with the local Salvation Army (provider of transitional housing) and the homeless school liaison for the Kodiak School District.

c. Policies and procedures for determining and prioritizing which eligible families and individuals will receive homeless prevention assistance and which eligible families and individuals will receive rapid re-housing assistance.

For this pilot program year, the sub-recipient intends to modify the policies they originally established during the ARRA-HPRP grant term to prioritize homeless households with persistent patterns of instability and multiple obstacles to obtaining and sustaining housing to receive ESG rental assistance. Households facing imminent displacement or uninhabitable conditions will be the priority group to receive ESG Homeless Prevention assistance. The sub-recipient will use other funding sources such as Emergency Food and Shelter and state Homeless Assistance Program funds to assist households with fewer housing barriers.

d. Standards for determining the share of rent and utility costs that each program participant must pay, if any, while receiving homeless prevention or rapid re-housing assistance.

To the extent practicable, the sub-recipient will adopt a payment standard for the ESG rental housing assistance that is consistent with that of the local housing authority's voucher program. The sub-recipient anticipates that several homeless participants may not be in a position to contribute anything toward their housing costs, initially, until income sources or mainstream benefits that were severed during their period of displacement are restored. Client contributions toward arrearages will be negotiated on an individual basis, considering such factors as resources currently on hand, and prospects for income in the next 60 days.

e. Standards for determining how long a particular program participant will be provided with rental assistance and whether and how the amount of that assistance will be adjusted over time.



Due to the amount of funding available for this round, the sub-recipient anticipates limiting RRH-rental assistance to no more than 12 months. Adjustments to rental assistance in the event of changes in income will be addressed in a manner similar to the local housing authority for consistency and preparation of the program participant to transfer to this longer term program should the opportunity arise.

f. Standards for determining the type, amount, and duration of housing stabilization and/or relocation services to provide a program participant, including the limits, if any, on the homeless prevention or rapid re-housing assistance that each program participant may receive, such as the maximum amount of assistance; or the maximum number of times the program participant may receive assistance.

Due to funding limitations, the only housing stabilization service anticipated for this grant term is case management. The sub-recipient will revise their written policies to incorporate the requirement for program participants to meet with their case manager at least monthly while receiving ESG assistance.

Continuum of Care Consultation Process

The State of Alaska and its designated housing agency, Alaska Housing Finance Corporation (AHFC), consulted with the Alaska Continuum of Care (CoC) on December 20, 2011 regarding the ESG Interim Rule. This consultation was in conjunction with their regular meeting schedule of the Alaska Coalition on Housing & Homelessness and the ESG Interim Rule was the featured program on the agenda. The discussion included how the relatively small amount of ESG funds awarded to Alaska would be allocated, the performance standards that would be applied to recipients of both ESG and state homeless funds, and expected changes to the existing HMIS policies and procedures with respect to ESG.

Optional Changes to the FY2011 Annual Action Plan

No changes with respect to a Centralized or Coordinated Assessment System or Monitoring procedures are anticipated until HUD issues more specific guidance.

3. Statement of Specific Annual Objectives

The anticipated ESG activities in SFY2013 will reflect the following national objectives:

Activity Type	Objective	Outcome
Emergency Shelter/Street	Create a Suitable Living	Availability/Accessibility
Outreach	Environment	



RRH-Homeless Assistance	Create a Suitable Living	Availability/Accessibility
	Environment	
HP- Homeless Prevention	Provide Decent Housing	Affordability
Administration	Not Applicable	Not Applicable

4. Statement of SFY2013 Outcome Measures

In view of the new regulatory changes in funding restrictions and activities, the State of Alaska is introducing the following outcome measures for the SFY2013 ESG program:

Table 3C – Planned Project Results			
Objectives/	Performance Indicators	Expected	Activity Description
Outcomes		Number	-
SL/AA	Shelter facilities upgraded	3	ES-Renovation/Rehab
	Number of unduplicated persons		
SL/AA	sheltered	3,000	ES-Operations
	Number of homeless		
	households/persons moving to		
SL/AA	permanent housing	10 hh/25 pp*	RRH –Homeless Assistance
	Number of households/persons		
	stabilized with rent/utility		
DH/A	assistance	10 hh/25 pp*	HP- Homeless Prevention
	Number of households/persons		RRH/HP- Case Management
SL/AA	receiving case management	20 hh/50 pp*	

^{*} Includes both FFY2011 second ESG allocation and FFY2012 award

In addition, a combination of all Federal and/or State homeless resources will be utilized to meet the following national homeless objectives and those identified in Alaska's Ten-Year Plan to End Long-Term Homelessness:

- Create new PSH beds for chronic homeless
- Exceed national 6-month retention goal of at least 77%
- Increase Temporary Housing to Permanent Housing placement rate to 65%
- Decrease the number of homeless households with children
- Increase the number of households receiving prevention assistance
- Achieve 75% rate of post prevention stability rate 90 days from intervention

5. Method of Distribution

ESG funds will be awarded on a competitive basis to units of local government and non-profit organizations. Applications are received annually, in response to a Notice of Funding Availability (NOFA). To incentivize coordination between the state HAP grant and ESG, AHFC conducts a joint application process for both of these



resources. Applicants requesting funding for Emergency Shelter or Street Outreach may request no less than \$20,000 and no more than \$30,000. The reason for these funding limitations is to achieve both administrative efficiency and broader geographic distribution of funds among Alaska's shelters. Should ESG allocations for this component rise above \$160,000, the funding limit will rise commensurately to \$40,000. No funding limits for the Homeless Prevention/Rapid Re-Housing set-aside will be considered until after a funding cycle occurs in which multiple applicants seek ESG funding for these activities.

Applicants for ESG/HAP funding now use an online application system that affords them an equal opportunity to submit within the same timeframe regardless of their remote location or transportation challenges. Most agencies applying for HAP/ESG funding are returning grantees seeking funding to continue their services into the next program year. Following the lead of the CoC process, past performance in achieving service projections and housing stability constitutes a significant portion of the ranking factors each year. If the applicant is not a returning grantee, they must provide a narrative explanation for 1) how they developed their service projections, 2) what they will do to monitor and report on housing retention, and 3) the applicant's experience and capability to serve homeless persons and meet all of the regulatory and administrative requirements.

Another ranking factor is relationship of their proposed activities to achieving the goals of state & local homeless. The next NOFA cycle will incorporate the Federal homeless plan, Opening Doors, as well. Other ranking factors include local progress toward a centralized or coordinated assessment process, the extent to which efforts are made to link program participants to mainstream resources, policies and procedures for prioritizing the delivery of homeless services and the degree to which each budget line item requested is thoroughly explained. Bonus points for small, rural communities and multi-agency partnerships are also part of the rating criteria. Up to 10 points may be deducted for a pattern of late reports or unresolved findings. In the next competition cycle, repeated findings for the same infraction in the 36 months prior to the application date will be added to the point deduction section.

With the exception of the narrative answers, AHFC has converted to an objective scoring system. Applications from agencies that did not receive funding in the prior year will be forwarded to a Project Evaluation Committee (PEC) to assign points to any subjective (narrative) sections of the application.

6. Monitoring

Monitoring for ESG grant recipients closely follows established processes for federal grant programs and may involve on-site or in-house monitoring as appropriate and within funding limitations. AHFC's grant regulations require all grantees to submit quarterly financial and progress reports which are carefully reviewed. Due to the complexity of the Homeless Prevention and Rapid Re-Housing components, AHFC anticipates the need to conduct on-site monitoring of any sub-recipients receiving funds for this purpose. The monitoring team will consist of the ESG Program



Manager and AHFC's Grants Specialist. The Program Manager will review client files for eligibility and documentation compliance, as well as the agency's policies and procedures to confirm that all of the elements required in 24 CFR 576.400(e)(2) were in place and adhered to during the grant term. The Grants Specialist will conduct the financial review.

IX. Assisting Alaskans with Special Needs

A. Overview

Alaskans with special needs face a variety of challenges in accessing and retaining affordable housing with appropriate supportive services. In many areas of the state, the lack of affordable housing options in general presents a significant barrier. Even after securing housing, persons with disabilities and the frail elderly remain vulnerable to homelessness because of their tenuous economic situation, the high cost burden imposed by their housing, and in some cases, discriminatory housing practices. Changes in their economic picture, such as loss of employment, health problems, or domestic violence can result in homelessness. Once people with chronic illnesses are homeless, they often cannot access treatment easily, and as a result, are at risk for institutionalization. Many chronically mentally ill homeless persons become incarcerated, then, homeless upon release and cycle back into correctional institutions at a high rate of recidivism. Several programs address these special needs populations.

B. Senior Citizens Housing Development Fund

The Senior Citizens Housing Development Fund (SCHDF) provides funding for the development of senior citizen housing. Funds provided under this program expand housing opportunities for the fastest growing segment of the Alaska population, persons meeting the federal definition of "senior" as selected by grant recipients. Through the Greater Opportunities for Affordable Living (GOAL) competition (which also includes the HOME and Low Income Housing Tax Credits), SCHDF grants are awarded for the purchase of building sites, site preparation, materials, construction, and rehabilitation of existing housing. Eligible applicants for this program include municipalities and nonprofit corporations with IRS 501(c)(3) status.

The Senior Access Program, a component of the SCHDF, provides funds through grants that are awarded to qualifying senior homeowners and renters. AHFC provides Senior Access funding to non-profit organizations ("Grantees") using a Notice of Funding Availability (NOFA) process. The Grantee administers the Senior Access Program in specified service areas, in accordance with AHFC guidelines.



Up to \$1,000,000 in Senior Citizens Housing Development Funds are planned for allocation to the Senior Housing Accessibility Modifications: Senior Access Program within SFY2013. Up to \$12,000 can be made available to homeowners for accessibility modifications. The Senior Access Program also provides funds for up to \$8,000 in modifications for rental housing in which a senior lives, and up to \$5,000 for seniors living in small state-licensed assisted living facilities having five or fewer beds. Waivers will be considered according to the Policy and Procedure Manual for this program.

It is anticipated that the GOAL Notice of Funding Availability will be announced in August of 2012. The SFY2013 capital budget request for the Senior Citizens Housing Development Fund is \$4,500,000.

C. Beneficiaries of the Alaska Mental Health Trust Authority

It is the duty of The Trust to provide leadership in advocacy, planning, implementing and funding for its beneficiaries. For a comprehensive discussion of Trust programs, refer to the *Moving Forward: Comprehensive Integrated Mental Health Plan* at http://hss.state.ak.us/dph/healthplanning/movingforward.

The Affordable Appropriate Housing Focus Area of The Trust will work to increase successful tenancy and tenure in stable affordable housing for homeless beneficiaries and those at risk of becoming homeless. Budget and policy priorities for SFY2013 are:

- AHFC Homeless Assistance Program (requesting \$8M)
- Special Needs Housing Program (requesting \$1.75M)
- Department of Corrections discharge incentive grants
- Bridge Home project expansion
- Assisted living home staff training project
- Long Term Care Strategic Planning efforts

D. Housing Opportunities for Persons With AIDS (HOPWA)

Alaska receives HOPWA funding under the competitive award program. As the result of a recent renewal grant from HUD, AHFC will continue to administer a HOPWA project serving the Interior and Southeast regions of the state. The amount awarded during the FFY2012 (SFY2010) cycle was \$915,440. This amount will be expended over a three-year period to provide approximately 19 households with rental assistance, 40 households with short-term assistance to prevent homelessness and more than 50 households with case management and linkages to health care and other supportive services. The state is in the process of applying for the renewal of a second HOPWA award for the South-Central area. The award for the South-central region is expected to be \$781,269.



AHFC will contribute at least \$365,000 in matching funds over the life of the HUD grant additional to the commitment of over \$1,000,000 worth of services from other state and local agencies. This HOPWA funding will address what would otherwise be a serious gap in housing services available to this fragile population.

E. Beneficiary and Special Needs Housing Grant Program

The Beneficiary and Special Needs Housing Grant (SNHG) Program provides funds for Alaskan non-profit service providers and housing developers to increase supportive housing opportunities to the homeless, Alaska Mental Health Trust Beneficiaries and other special needs populations throughout Alaska. Types of projects that may be funded through this program include:

- Congregate housing for people with mental illness or developmental disabilities;
- Supportive housing, including assisted living, for people with mental illness, developmental disabilities, or multiple disorders;
- Transitional housing with support services for newly recovering alcoholics and addicts.

The SFY2013 capital budget request for the Beneficiary and Special Needs Housing Program is \$1,750,000.

In SFY2012, these SNHG funds were leveraged with Housing Assistance Program (HAP) funds to preserve operating and supportive service grants to projects servicing special needs populations. The State, Alaska Mental Health Trust Authority and AHFC jointly funded this effort.

F. Expanding the Capacity of Sponsors to Access Special Needs Housing Programs

The Alaska Department of Health and Social Services, Division of Behavioral Health (DBH) provides housing development and supportive services expertise statewide to non-profit agencies serving individuals with mental illness, developmental disabilities, chronic alcoholism or substance addictions, and people with Alzheimer's disease and related dementia.

The Governor's Council on the Homeless identified institutional discharge as one of the critical areas contributing to homelessness in Alaska. A core group of persons with severe mental illness do not have the skills or supports to remain stable in housing after being discharged from correctional facilities. For SFY2013 AHFC will continue to provide, Tenant Based Rental Assistance (TBRA) with a portion of the



prior year HOME Investment Partnerships Program focusing on recently discharged inmates. In addition, the State is designing a TBRA program to assist youths as they age out of foster care or other residential situations.

During SFY2013 AHFC will continue to offer HUD funded technical assistance (TA) activities to improve the capacity of sponsors to access special needs housing programs. Subject to the restrictions and limitations of HUD TA funding, a flexible menu of both direct TA (directed towards the specific needs of designated HUD grantees) and workshop training will be offered. AHFC did not receive an award of FFY2009 or FFY2010 TA funds which may limit future TA opportunities offered by AHFC.

G. Efforts to Promote Accessible Housing

Accessible, available, and affordable housing is the key to independence for Alaskans with disabilities. Throughout SFY2013, AHFC will continue to discuss ways to expand opportunities in this area with the Governor's Council on Disabilities and Special Education, the State Independent Living Council, the Alaska Commission on Aging, the Alaska Mental Health Trust Board, the Advisory Board on Alcoholism and Drug Abuse and the Alaska Mental Health Trust Authority. Strategies will be developed to help persons with disabilities secure adequate, appropriate and affordable housing. Potential demonstration projects and educational outreach initiatives will be developed to the extent that available funding permits.

AHFC administers the Low Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC), HOME Investment Partnerships (HOME), Neighborhood Stabilization Program, and the Senior Citizen's Housing Development Funds (SCHDF) programs, each of which requires compliance with the following standards:

- Americans with Disabilities Act
- U.S. Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1988
- Alaska Statute AS 18.80.240
- Local government ordinances
- Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (HOME Program only).

AHFC's LIHTC, SCHDF, and HOME programs (including HDP, ORP, and TBRA) all promote accessible housing through the rating criteria used to select applications to be funded during each competitive award cycle. In addition, special underwriting considerations are given to multi-family projects targeting special needs groups, through AHFC's Multifamily, Special Needs and Congregate Housing Loan Programs. AHFC has several efforts to promote accessible housing as public housing stock as described in Section XIII of this document.



To assist Alaskans in their search for affordable housing, AHFC maintains an on-line housing data base linked to its web site. The "Alaska Housing Locator" enables persons with disabilities to locate units with accessibility features and help those who are "shopping" with a Section 8 Housing Choice voucher to identify properties that participate in the program. The service is free of charge to landlords and postings will be mandatory for agencies receiving development funding from AHFC.

X. Alaska's Fair Housing Plan

A. Impediments to Fair Housing

AHFC conducted a statewide Fair Housing Survey in February-March of 2010 to formally update the "Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice" (AI). Based on this survey, the SFY2011 Annual Action Plan formally identified the following impediments to fair housing choice which have been updated for this SFY2013 Annual Action Plan:

<u>Impediment 1:</u> Lack of knowledge of the classes of people protected by Fair Housing laws is an impediment to fair housing choice.

The 2010 Fair Housing Survey demonstrated that in the seven years since the last survey (2003), more Alaskans have learned to identify the protected classes. However, respondents to the 2010 survey still failed to accurately identify groups protected by the Fair Housing Act, some identifying unprotected groups as protected and *vice versa*. This Fair Housing knowledge gap is a factor in several of the other impediments identified below.

Some professional groups offer fair housing classes as part of the educational requirements for licensing. The Institute of Real Estate Management was identified by 65% of the realtor/lender group as their primary trainer for Fair Housing. HUD and/or AHFC sponsor annual Fair Housing events. Other than these, widespread of Fair Housing training has not been available in all areas in Alaska.

<u>State's Response to Impediment 1:</u> AHFC will sponsor a Fair Housing/504 Training on an annual basis. This training is targeted for Public Housing Division staff, Community Housing Development Organizations, HOME grantees, and McKinney-Vento grantees. Other entities such as builders, realtors, landlords and mortgage lending partners will be invited to attend these trainings on a space-available basis.

During SFY2013, AHFC will work with the Alaska State Office of HUD to continue coordinate Fair Housing outreach and training calendars. AHFC's Public Housing Division (PHD) may provide additional training on Fair Housing/Section 504, specifically for PHD staff.



AHFC, in all of its tenant and participant notices, provides information about reasonable accommodations and the means to request an accommodation. With assistance from the HUD Office of Fair Housing, AHFC modified several of its reasonable accommodation forms to better serve both persons with disabilities and staff in the decision making process.

<u>Impediment 2:</u> Low awareness of available fair housing enforcement mechanisms, caused at least in part by the lack of fair housing advocacy organizations, is identified as an impediment.

All complaints and cases are filed either with the Seattle HUD Fair Housing Office or the Alaska State Commission for Human Rights. The 2010 Fair Housing Survey identified the Department of Housing and Urban Development as the clear first choice regarding Fair Housing Complaints, followed by the Alaska State Commission for Human Rights (ASCHR) and the Municipality of Anchorage Equal Rights Commission (ERC). Improvement was seen between 2003 and 2010; however, a low level of awareness of fair housing enforcement mechanisms continues to exist among the Residential Construction sector and the Property Manager sector, where respectively, 25% and 24% of the individuals surveyed were unsure of where to refer an individual who had a Fair Housing complaint. Among members of the general public, this awareness may be at an even lower level.

<u>State's Response to Impediment 2:</u> AHFC, in all of its tenant and participant notices, provides information about reasonable accommodations and the means to request an accommodation. With assistance from the HUD Office of Fair Housing, AHFC modified several of its reasonable accommodation forms to better serve both persons with disabilities and staff in the decision making process.

During SFY2013, AHFC will continue to provide information regarding fair housing and encourage potential fair housing program sponsors to apply for HUD Fair Housing funding. In cooperation with the Alaska State Field Office of HUD, AHFC will continue to work with other agencies and organizations to identify opportunities to increase awareness of fair housing enforcement mechanisms.

Where possible, State money is being used to leverage HUD training funds so that private sector builders and managers can attend Fair Housing Training; the State is pursuing options to work more closely with Institute of Real Estate Managers and other professional organizations to expand this knowledge.

<u>Impediment 3:</u> Housing opportunities for persons with a disability, a class protected by the Fair Housing Act, are limited because of financial barriers and the lack of accessible and appropriate housing stock.

The lack of housing stock that is both affordable and accessible continues to be an impediment to fair housing choice. Although improving from the 2003 Survey, areas



of the housing industry continue to be unaware that persons with a disability are a protected class under the Fair Housing Act. Many developers do not construction accessible and/or appropriate housing because to do so increases the total cost of construction.

Many members of protected classes have low incomes. Surveys of Alaska Mental Health Trust beneficiaries reveal that only 30-35 percent of adults with mental illness or developmental disabilities are employed. Those who are employed usually work in low paying or part-time jobs.

State's Response to Impediment 3: The AHFC GOAL Program Rating Criteria governs the award of Low-Income Housing Tax Credits, HOME Rental Development funds, and Senior Citizens Housing Development Funds (SCHDF). The GOAL Program makes 504 compliance mandatory and requires a basic percentage of units to be 504 compliant; in addition to this, the program will continue to award points for the number of units to be developed which are in excess of the minimum required by federal fair housing law, state or local law, or specific program requirements. In addition, the GOAL Rating and Award Criteria Plan will award points for additional units in projects that serve special needs populations.

In the 2010 Fair Housing Survey, 70% of the Residential Construction sector surveyed indicated that they would incorporate universal design and accessibility features into the homes they build in the future. Only 40% of this sector in 2003 indicated that they would utilize universal design. This represents a substantial increase in the level of awareness and willingness to provide housing that provides accessibility for all.

On the tenant-based rental assistance side, PHD administers several set-asides of voucher targeting over 150 families where the head of household or spouse experience a permanent disability. There voucher are recirculated to similarly eligible families as voucher turnover occurs. Ninety-Six vouchers are set-aside for families with disabilities; another 25 vouchers are set-aside for disabled families receiving Medicaid Waiver services; 20 vouchers are dedicated to families dually diagnosed with mental illness and substance abuse; and 45 vouchers are set-aside for single, disabled persons who reside in the Fairbanks area.

<u>Impediment 4:</u> Various administrative policies, procedures, and practices are impediments to fair housing choice for members of protected classes.

Many individuals and organizations active in the housing industry do not perceive fair housing discrimination to be a significant problem. AHFC's 2003 and 2010 Fair Housing Surveys showed that 5% or less of the realtors, mortgage lenders and builders surveyed believed that fair housing discrimination was a problem. Sixteen percent (16%) of all renters surveyed in 2010 believed that fair housing discrimination was a problem, while only 2% of the property managers surveyed



viewed housing discrimination as a problem. Non-profit and agency providers reported the highest level of perceived fair housing discrimination, with 27% of agency providers surveyed believing discrimination to be a problem. The 2010 Fair Housing survey revealed a significant increase in educational opportunities on the topic of Fair Housing and Section 504. Realtors (98%) report the highest total level of training regarding Fair Housing laws and the training was provided most often through the Institute of Real Estate Management. Rental Property Managers reported the least amount of training. Increased efforts are needed to continue to examine administrative policies, procedures and practices for potential impediments to fair housing.

Reasonable accommodation for persons with disabilities is one specific area which requires additional focus. Some level of awareness exists in the area of reasonable accommodation for persons with observable physical disabilities. However, further opportunities exist to improve clarity and comprehension of reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities not easily observable.

In general, the level of awareness and comprehension of fair housing laws and enforcement mechanisms could be enhanced to communicate the gravity associated with fair housing discrimination.

State's Response to Impediment 4: During FY 2007/2008, the AHFC Public Housing Division updated its 504 Self Analysis including updated Fair Housing documentation. AHFC continues to update the Self Analysis as units are modified and/or rehabilitation projects move forward. This review covers records retention; further examination of impediments to fair housing choice within housing assistance programs; ensuring that the next available mobility accessible unit in public housing is targeted to waiting list family requiring those features; and working with local jurisdictions to implement any of their initiatives to affirmatively further fair housing that require AHFC Public Housing Division involvement.

AHFC has developed a Limited English Proficiency Plan (LEP) for its Public Housing Division. At the Corporate level, the plan includes a contract for 24/7 telephonic translation service. AHFC's website includes an icon that allows users to translate the website instantaneously into more than 240 languages. AHFC's webpage is equipped with a Google translator button. This feature will translate the entire website with a click into any desired language.

To the extent reasonable, AHFC will work with real estate industry trade and professional organizations, and the Alaska Municipal League to encourage an ongoing review of the administrative, operating and business practices that may have fair housing implications.

AHFC is working with the State of Alaska's Department of Law to revise a portion of the Landlord Tenant Act clarifying language related to a landlord's approval of



tenants under a sub-lease. The Alaska Attorney General's office is revising the State of Alaska Landlord Tenant Act booklet to reflect the necessary changes.

<u>Impediment 5:</u> The lack of available affordable housing stock that is designed to meet the needs of individuals, who are members of one or more protected classes, is an impediment to fair housing.

The 2010 Fair Housing Survey indicates that one out of every three renters, who had problems finding a rental, reported they had some form of disability and among these renters, their disability made it more difficult to find a place to live.

By a wide margin, the major barriers in both the 2003 and 2010 Fair Housing Surveys were reported to be the high costs and rents associated with existing housing and a general shortage of appropriate affordable housing stock. One specific example concerns larger households. A significant percentage of the individuals assisted by agency and non-profit service providers surveyed were members of protected classes. Thirty-five percent of these agencies reported that large families were the hardest to place due to people "not wanting to rent to large families" (23%), a "housing shortage" in general (20%), and more specifically a "shortage of affordable housing" (18%). This statistic represents a 7% drop from the 2003 Fair Housing Survey, but represents a continuing unmet need in the State.

Annual point-in-time homeless surveys conducted by AHFC show that Alaska's homeless population continues to have a high percentage of persons who are in a protected class. The most recent point-in-time count identified a group of 57 persons belonging to homeless families with children. Over thirty percent of individuals identified in the point-in-time count reported having a disability. The most prevalent disability was mental illness. The 2010 Fair Housing Survey identified that "large families" (presumably with children) continue to be the hardest household size to place (35%).

State's Response to Impediment 5: In SFY2013, in order to increase access to existing housing stock, AHFC will continue to work with the Alaska Coalition on Housing and Homelessness, the Alaska Council on the Homeless, Alaska Department of Health and Social Services and other appropriate entities to ensure that case management services are available. Case management will help ameliorate disability issues among the homeless thereby helping them gain access to existing housing stock.

AHFC continues to offer bonus points in its GOAL Rating and Award Criteria Plan for projects which serve special needs populations, including homeless persons and to projects that include three or more bedroom units to accommodate larger families. The Public Housing Division continues to offer its highest admissions preference points to families experiencing domestic violence, the homeless, and those living in substandard housing. The Public Housing Division is exploring modifications to the



preference point system and may recommend revisions during SFY2013. More recently, AHFC amended its homeless definition to include families with children who receive school-based McKinney/Vento homeless assistance benefits if documented by an Alaskan school district.

During the SFY2011-2015 Five-Year Plan period, AHFC will continue to review impediments to fair housing and respond to alleviate them as indicated.

B. Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing

AHFC conducts many activities which affirmatively further fair housing:

- Through its Planning and Program Development Department, AHFC provides information to developers and project sponsors on how to comply with accessibility guidelines. AHFC administers the Low Income Housing Tax Credit program, NSP, HPRP, ESG and HOME (ORP, HDP, TBRA) grants. In its distribution of tax credits, extra points are awarded for projects that develop accessible units. HOME funding and three of its programs (HDP, ORP, and TBRA) automatically require the minimum of 5% accessible and 2% site and sound unit thresholds. These programs have adopted 504 requirements as the accessibility standard and require an architect's certification that they comply.
- All AHFC Grant Agreements across the state have requirements to affirmatively further fair housing. Development projects require affirmative marketing plans to be submitted to the Internal Audit Department.
- AHFC displays the appropriate signage at all of its properties and on all correspondence indicating that it abides by laws governing Fair Housing and Section 504.
- AHFC typically offers Fair Housing/Section 504 Training each year to a broad sector of the community. AHFC also provides statewide staff training on both fair housing and Section 504 on an annual basis. During the past year, AHFC hosted a Fair Housing/Section 504 Training on April 18, 2011 and cosponsored multiple HUD Fair Housing training sessions in March of 2011. AHFC will work with HUD to examine the potential to teach sessions on Fair Housing/Section via the long-distance teleconferencing opportunities through the HUD Fair Housing office due to the elimination of local training dollars through HUD to support local training opportunities. No local Fair Housing/Section 504 trainings have been scheduled to-date by the One CPD contactor.



- AHFC ensures that each and every assisted housing applicant and participant receives the brochure, "Equal Opportunity for All" and a copy of how a person with disabilities can apply for reasonable accommodation.
- AHFC's Public Housing Division has a designated 504 Coordinator on its staff, responsible for among other things, decisions on accommodation requests, training and technical assistance.
- Compliance with Fair Housing requirements is monitored through the AHFC Internal Audit's Compliance Department and through the Planning Department through a periodic Grantee On-Site or Desk Monitoring Review.
- During February/March 2010 AHFC funded a statewide market research survey to assess impediments to fair housing among landlords, service providers, realtor/lenders and renters. The data gathered will help frame subsequent community-wide trainings on discrimination in the housing marketplace.
- A review of AHFC's Public Housing Division Internal Management Database on public housing tenant characteristics reveals that minorities are served in greater proportion to their respective numbers in the general population; the number of families whose head or spouse is a person with disabilities is 30% of the entire public housing portfolio. In February of 2011, outside of the Municipality of Anchorage, 50% of the housing choice voucher families included one or more individuals in the household who experienced permanent disabilities.

Activities that promote fair housing and fair housing choice are outlined below:

 Following HUD guidelines, AHFC conducted a review of the number of contacts with Limited English Proficiency individuals and other pertinent data. None of the thresholds were met requiring written translation of documents. For oral translation, AHFC relies on local professional assistance or use of a 24/7 phone translation service that is on retainer for corporate-wide use.

AHFC contributes staff time and financial resources to team up with other advocacy agencies to deliver fair housing training to the general public. In the spring of 2008, AHFC hosted an architectural training on Section 504 design considerations, offered to architects and engineers statewide. In April 2009, July 2010, and April 2011 AHFC hosted Fair Housing/Section 504 training for the general public.



- In its briefing packets for both Public Housing and Housing Choice Voucher participants, AHFC provides information on fair housing, the Alaska Landlord Tenant Act, and methods for voicing a housing discrimination complaint. AHFC recently updated its web page with the objective of increasing information about fair housing choice. The web site contains a link to the 'Alaska Housing Locator,' a rental housing database that includes information about units with accessibility features and related information.
- In all of its tenant and participant notices, AHFC provides information about reasonable accommodations and the means to request an accommodation.
- AHFC maintains a database of accessible public housing units and enforces policies that ensure those units are occupied by families requiring the features.
- In all of its recent renovations of public housing, AHFC required architects and contractors to meet the 504 requirements; the 5% and 2% requirements for accessible and sight and sound features were most often exceeded.
- In development of its annual Moving to Work Plan, AHFC ensures that its Resident Advisory Board represents a true cross section of its public housing population. Certifications of compliance with fair housing and Section 504 requirements are promoted both in the public hearing and among the Advisory Board. It is not unusual for them to insist upon examples of how compliance is documented.

XI. Limited English Proficiency (LEP)

LEP persons are defined as those who do not speak English as their primary language and who have a limited ability to read, write speak or understand. They are entitled to language assistance with respect to a particular type of service, benefit, or encounter. In the Federal Register dated January 22, 2007 (72FR2731) HUD finalized guidance originally issued December 19, 2003. The "Guidance to Federal Financial Assistance Recipients Regarding Title VI Prohibition Against National Origin Discrimination Affecting Limited English Proficient Persons" provides examples of populations likely to include LEP persons who are encountered and/or served by HUD recipients and should be considered when planning language services. These populations include, but are not limited to:

 Persons who are seeking housing assistance from a public housing agency or assisted housing providers or are currently tenants in such housing;



- Persons seeking assistance from a state or local government for a rehabilitation grant for their home;
- Persons who are attempting to file a housing discrimination complaint with a local Fair Housing Assistance program grantee;
- Persons who are seeking supportive services to become first-time homebuyers;
- Persons seeking housing related social services, training, or any other assistance from HUD recipients; and
- Parents and family members of the above.

In keeping with this guidance, five factors will be used to assess current LEP practices and procedures, and provide a foundation for better addressing LEP obligations. The five factors are:

- 1. The number or proportion of LEP persons served or encountered in the eligible service population.
- 2. The frequency with which LEP individuals come into contact with the program.
- 3. The nature and importance of the program, activity or service provided by the program.
- 4. The resources available to the recipient and cost.
- The effectiveness of projects' affirmative market plan to target LEP households.

Additional to the above, other mechanisms have been implemented to aid LEP persons that might come into contact with AHFC's website. AHFC's website now includes a Google Language Selection Button. This allows all users to translate the entire content of the website page into the desired language. In 2010, through a third party provider, AHFC also implemented interpretation services capable of translation into over 240 different languages, thus making all information fully accessible to LEP users.

XII. Other Housing and Community Development Actions

Other activities to be undertaken during SFY2013 (FFY 2012) include actions to promote the development and maintenance of affordable housing, including the use of public housing resources and the development of public housing resident initiatives. A number of actions during SFY2013 will address housing and community development barriers. These actions include the improvement of organizational capacity; the development of infrastructure for housing and community development;



the role of local governments in this area; targeting and leveraging resources; and protecting and improving housing and community development assets.

A. Public Housing Division

1. Overview and Planning Process

Alaska Housing Finance Corporation, Public Housing Division is the public housing authority for the State of Alaska, including the Municipality of Anchorage. For all areas outside of Anchorage (balance-of-state), AHFC manages and maintains 932 rental units, most subsidized through the public housing or the Section 8 Multifamily Project-Based programs. These units are located in Bethel, Cordova, Fairbanks, Juneau, Ketchikan, Kodiak, Nome, Sitka, Valdez, Wasilla/Mat-Su, Wrangell, and Seward.

AHFC also administers the Housing Choice Voucher program for the entire state. Among the twelve balance-of-state communities, AHFC administers 1,855 tenant based vouchers and an additional 45 special needs vouchers in Fairbanks targeting single, disabled persons less than 62 years of age. Most recently, AHFC and the Veterans Administration have entered into an amendment governing Veterans Administration Support Housing vouchers targeted to homeless veterans. Vouchers are distributed in Fairbanks, Homer, Juneau, Ketchikan, Kodiak, the North Slope Borough, Petersburg, Sitka, Soldotna, Valdez, Wasilla/Mat-Su, and Wrangell.

For detailed information regarding Public Housing units, Section 8, Moving to Work, and Non-MTW data visit:

http://www.ahfc.state.ak.us/icemages/reference/mtw annual plan fy2011.pdf.

2. Moving To Work

On June 24, 2008, AHFC entered into a Moving To Work Agreement (MTW Agreement) with the US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). MTW is a demonstration program authorized by Congress that gives AHFC the flexibility to waive certain statutes and HUD regulations to test approaches for providing housing assistance. A waiver of statutory or regulatory language must address at least one of three goals:

- Reduces cost and achieves greater cost effectiveness in Federal expenditures;
- Gives incentives to families with children whose heads of household are either working, seeking work, or are participating in job training, educational or other



programs that assist in obtaining employment and becoming economically self-sufficient; and,

Increases housing choices for low-income families.

For a comprehensive review of MTW programs nationwide, please visit the HUD website at:

http://www.hud.gov/offices/pih/programs/ph/mtw/index.cfm

Please also visit the AHFC website to view the full text of the fiscal year 2012 Moving to Work Program Annual Plan at:

http://www.ahfc.us/reference/plans.cfm

To review accomplishments during the fiscal year 2011, you can find the September 2011 MTW Annual Report at the AHFC website at:

http://www.ahfc.us/reference/reports.cfm

The Public Housing Division SFY2013 Moving to Work Annual Plan was presented for public comment in draft form in February 2012. After a thirty day comment period and public hearing in March 2012, the plan was presented to the AHFC Board of Directors at its April 4, 2012 meeting.

Among the new items anticipated for inclusion in the 2013 MTW Plan are the following:

- A recommendation to replace the points based preference system used to select applicants from statewide waiting lists. A review of the Anchorage intake process was conducted by Quadel and Associates, a national organization that provide technical assistance to public housing authorities. Their observations were that, "... (the AHFC) points based preference system is confusing, difficult to administer and prone to misuse and error." It is also extremely labor intensive at a time when Congress has consistently reduced administrative fees used to support administration of the Housing Choice Voucher program. In general, the Public Housing Division prefers to focus on an income based priority using the federal poverty guidelines as income cap for eligibility. The Governor's budget for SFY2013 includes a \$1.3 million proposed set-aside for domestic violence victims intended to provide a match to federal voucher funds.
- ✓ A recommendation to revise the process used to determine subsidy where one or more members are ineligible non-citizens.

A discussion about various 'rent simplification' options that are under consideration by PHD, is subject to further examination concerning impact on customers and the AHFC bottom line to ensure program viability.



3. Anticipated Capital Improvement Plan

The Public Housing Division conducts an annual Physical Needs Assessment (PNA) for each of its properties. The source of the data is the property management and maintenance team. They establish a hierarchy of need within the property that is then compared with other competing capital needs. The Construction Department then conducts a preliminary cost estimate to justify budget requests. During the period of this AAP, it is estimated that approximately \$5.4 million will be expended for AHFC Public Housing construction activities in all areas of the state outside of Anchorage, including, Bethel, Cordova, Fairbanks, Juneau, Kodiak, Ketchikan, Nome, Seward, Sitka, Wasilla, Wrangell and Valdez. This figure is likely to be modified during the MTW planning period to take into account further refinements in cost and budget athority.

B. Teacher, Health Professional, and Public Safety Housing Grant Program

Attracting and maintaining a pool of qualified teachers, health professionals, and public safety officials in rural Alaska is a goal of the State of Alaska. In order to achieve this, housing for these professionals must be available, affordable and of a quality that encourages these professionals to locate in rural settings. Under the Teacher, Health Professional and Public Safety Housing Grant Program (THHP), funding is available from the Denali Commission and AHFC for the rehabilitation and development of teacher, health professional, and public safety housing in rural Alaska.

AHFC implemented a web-based THHP application system in 2011. A total of 19 applications were received representing approximately \$20.0 million in development cost. Ten of these applications were awarded \$7.46 million in AHFC Corporate Funding and State of Alaska General Funds. The construction and rehabilitation of 31 THHP housing units will begin in the spring of 2012:

Project	Total Funding
Fort Yukon Two New Teacher Housing Duplexes	\$686,330
Huslia New Teacher Housing Duplex	\$688,494
Kobuk Rehabiltation of Three Teacher Housing	
Units	\$698,064
Manokotak New VPSO Housing Duplex	\$583,510
Metlakatla Two New Professional Housing	\$867,500



Duplexes	
Nunam Iqua Two New Teacher Housing	
Duplexes	\$664,638
Quinhagak Two New Teacher Housing Duplexes	\$1,225,525
Saxman New VPSO Housing Duplex	\$563,640
Tanana New Professional Housing Duplex	\$687,766
Venetie Two New Teacher Housing Duplexes	\$802,467
Total	\$7,467,934

AHFC will release a Teacher, Health Professional, and Public Safety Housing Grant NOFA for the SFY2013 round in the spring of 2012. AHFC anticipates approximately \$3.0 million in available AHFC corporate funding and \$3.0 million in available State of Alaska General Funds (subject to legislative appropriation) for rental development rehabilitation, and new construction.

Since program inception in SFY 2004, the Teacher, Health Professional, and Public Safety Grant Program has funded the new construction or rehabilitation of 335 units of housing totaling \$106 million in total project cost. Eighty-three percent (277) of these units are completed and in service.

C. Weatherization Programs

The Alaska State Legislature passed legislation in 2008 to enable the development of a comprehensive energy saving strategy in Alaska. AHFC was designated as the lead agency in the development of three programs to provide Alaskans with the tools to reduce energy bills and increase energy efficiency in homes throughout Alaska. AHFC received \$360 million dollars to develop the two programs enumerated below and administer them over a period of five years. AHFC is requesting an additional \$51.5 million dollars for the Weatherization and Home Energy Rebate programs in its SFY2013 Capital Budget.

The Home Energy Rebate Program is available to Alaskan homeowners who wish to make energy efficiency improvements on their homes. First, an authorized energy rater evaluates the energy efficiency of a home before and after improvements. The energy rebate amount is determined based on the points and step increases between the before and after energy rating as a result of the energy efficiency improvements. Rebates are limited to a maximum amount of \$10,000. The rebate program is available to all Alaskans, regardless of income level.

The existing AHFC Weatherization Program is substantially expanded as a result of this legislation. The Weatherization Program is available to Alaskans who meet certain income and eligibility guidelines and is a grant program. This program is administered in local areas through a regional housing authority or weatherization



provider. The weatherization provider or regional housing authority will provide program services at no cost to qualified applicants.

Between May 2008 and November 2011, AHFC invested \$132 million for weatherization of 5,310 homes throughout Alaska. According to the Association of Alaska Housing Authorities, more than 70% of those households served through the program include either a senior citizen or a disabled person and more than half include children under the age of six. These programs will continue through SFY2013. Additional information and program applications are located at www.ahfc.us.

D. Developing Economic Opportunities for Low Income Families

Alaska modified its workforce investment system in 2003, transforming the state and two local workforce investment boards into one overarching entity, the Alaska Workforce Investment Board (AWIB). This system provides a clear, streamlined and efficient governance structure. This includes a strong linkage to local employers, development projects and regional workforce issues.

Regional councils define regional priorities for workforce development, and show how they are linked to employer demand, economic development, and education or training strategies. The Department of Labor & Workforce Development engages with the councils to make better investment decisions at both the local and statewide levels.

The state and providers implement training programs according to the policies resulting in a streamlined and simple system that business and industry are able to more easily access. Services are delivered through grantees and the Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce Development One-Stop Job Centers. They are categorized as core, intensive and training levels of service. The programs serve adults, dislocated workers, and youth both in and out of school.

On May 31, 2005, the Alaska Two Year State Plan for Title I of the Workforce Investment Act of 1998 was released. Improved service delivery to hard to serve populations was identified as a priority. Transportation and housing were identified as barriers to full inclusion for the disabled and welfare to work clients. A need was seen for transitional housing opportunities to support the expansion of employment opportunities. On June 30, 2011, the State Plan for Title I of the Workforce Investment Act of 1998 was extended for one year through SFY2012. It is expected the State Plan will be modified to a five year plan which will begin in SFY2013. The entire plan can be accessed at http://labor.alaska.gov/bp/forms/WIA-strategic-plan-extension.pdf.



Additionally, the Denali Commission in partnership with the Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce Development administers the Denali Training Fund. The Denali Training Fund provides assistance to local residents in obtaining the skills necessary to become employed in the areas of the construction, operation, and maintenance of Denali Commission and other public infrastructure projects in rural Alaska. This provides a mutually beneficial atmosphere where jobs are created directly and locally for rural Alaskans and the significant investment by the Denali Commission in infrastructure, and other state and federal construction projects, is maintained by the fact that Alaskans have the skills and knowledge required to work on the construction, operation and maintenance phases of these projects.

E. Evaluating and Reducing Lead Based Paint Hazards

The Consolidated Housing and Community Development Plan supports actions to evaluate and reduce lead based paint hazards. The Interagency Steering Committee for the Consolidated Plan will continue to work with the Alaska Division of Public Health, Section of Epidemiology to monitor the blood lead levels in tested Alaskan children.

All covered projects under the HOME, CDBG, HOPWA, Public Housing and Section 8 programs will be administered to conform to the applicable lead based paint regulations. Rehabilitation of housing constructed pre-1978 using HUD housing assistance programs covered by the lead based paint rule (Subpart of the Rule Within 24 CFR Part 35), will follow the applicable HUD procedures, reporting and record keeping standards outlined.

Section 1018 of the Residential Lead-Based Paint Hazard reduction Act of 1992 requires that sellers, landlords and agents warn homebuyers and tenants of lead-based paint and lead-based paint hazards in pre-1978 housing. A prospective home purchaser or prospective tenant must receive the following information prior to becoming obligated under any contract to lease or purchase a property covered by this Act:

- An EPA approved information pamphlet on identifying and controlling leadbased paint hazards.
- Any known information concerning lead-based paint or lead-based paint hazards.
- Any records or reports on lead-based paint which are available to the seller or landlord.
- An attachment to the contract or lease which includes a Lead Warning Statement and confirms that the seller or landlord has complied with all of the notification requirements.



Sellers must provide homeowners a 10-day period to conduct a paint inspection or risk assessment for lead-based paint or lead-based paint hazards. Parties may mutually agree, in writing, to lengthen or shorten the time period for inspection. Homebuyers may waive this inspection. Sellers are not required by law to allow homebuyers to void their contract based on the results of the lead based paint evaluation.

Beginning in April 2010 and according to EPA-issued new rule, contractors performing renovation, repair and painting projects that disturb lead-based paint in homes, child care facilities and schools built before 1978 must be certified and must follow specific work practices to prevent lead contamination.

Although the testing done so far does not point to a great lead-based paint hazard in Alaska, an estimated 15% to 20% of all of the housing stock in the state may contain lead based paint. The State concurs with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency that increased education about the potential health risks from exposure to lead based is an important step in reducing health related problems involving lead poisoning. AHFC is planning a survey to provide a current assessment of Alaska's housing stock at risk of containing lead-based paint in the balance of state.

XIII. Addressing Housing and Community Development Barriers

In the State of Alaska's Five Year (SFY2011 through 2015) HCD Plan, barriers to affordable housing and sustainable community development projects were identified. The five year plan identified general approaches and strategies, with specific activities to be outlined in the Annual Action Plans. These barriers fall into five categories:

- organizational capacity,
- infrastructure for housing and community development
- the role of local governments,
- accessing targeting and levering resources,
- protecting and improving housing and community development assets.

A. Improving Organizational Capacity

Across Alaska, organizational capacity for the effective delivery of housing and community development programs is very unevenly distributed. Many communities, particularly in rural areas, lack the organizational capacity to effectively implement projects using the multitude of housing and community development programs available. The involvement of several agencies and a variety of funding programs in

86



a single project usually complicates the development process, and places additional demands on the project sponsor.

During SFY2013. AHFC will continue to deliver technical assistance activities designed to improve organizational capacity. Through HUD funding and AHFC corporate matching funds, technical assistance will be given to existing Community Housing Development Organizations (CHDOs), new CHDOs, and to other organizations seeking CHDO certification. This technical assistance will emphasize activities that will improve the ability of CHDOs to plan, implement, and operate Technical assistance will also be offered to HOME affordable housing programs. grantees and other non-profit housing providers, including those serving Alaska's homeless and special needs populations. A menu of opportunities will be offered, which will include direct technical assistance, quarterly topic-based Alaska Training Events, as well as scholarship opportunities to attend local, regional or national training events. AHFC plans to host no less than three Alaska Training Events each year and offers scholarships to approved trainings and conferences for eligible Participants are required to document the objectives that will be achieved through attendance at a specific training activity. A limited number of these activities will be available to other providers and/or the general public on a spaceavailable basis on topics such as Fair Housing/Section 504 that affect a broad spectrum of Alaskan providers. AHFC will also plan training events in coordination with training activities hosted by other groups, such as HUD or the homeless coalition, to maximize training resources and training availability.

Because of the reorganization of HUD CPD training opportunities, AHFC became part of the OneCPD ICF national training team and AHFC will be a partner in ICF's next application for SFY2013.

B. Infrastructure for Housing and Community Development

The availability of appropriate infrastructure will continue to be a critical factor impacting housing affordability and sustainable community development projects during SFY2013. The nature of Alaska presents special challenges in this area. Approximately 237 Alaskan communities are accessible only by air or by small boat. Many rural communities have inadequate sanitation facilities or suffer from a lack of safe drinking water. Extremely high electric costs are an impediment to sustainable housing and community development projects.

• From 2005 to 2011, several reports highlight the concern for energy efficiency in Alaska. They are: The Rural Energy Action Council report, 2005; "Alaska Energy Efficiency Program and Policy Recommendations, 2008; "Alaska Energy: A First Step toward Independence," 2009, and its second phase which was issued for use in SFY2011.



The issues addressed in these efforts included: incentives to lower energy delivery costs; regional supply and distribution centers; cooperative fuel purchases; power plant operational efficiencies; consolidation of energy providers; a review of Alaska Energy Authority programs; acceleration of alternative energy methods; and energy conservation measures.

- The State of Alaska's Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program is one key funding resource in addressing the State's infrastructure needs in qualifying communities. One of the seven guiding principles of this Annual Action Plan is that use of community development funds should emphasize the creation of economic opportunity through development of infrastructure. The State of Alaska's Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program description outlines the State's priorities and strategies on allocating CDBG funds during SFY2013.
- The Indian Community Development Block Grant Program (ICDBG) program assists eligible recipients to develop viable communities, including decent housing, as suitable living environment, and economic opportunities for persons of low and moderate income. Eligible applicants include any Indian tribe, band, group or nation (including Alaskan Indians, Aleuts or Eskimos) or Alaska native Village which had established a relationship to the Federal government as defined in the program regulations. ICDBG funding can be used for housing, community facilities, and economic development. Alaskans will receive over \$6.5 million in FFY2011 ICDBG awards.
- AHFC's Supplemental Housing Development Program provides capital funding to Regional Housing Authorities, which use the funds to supplement housing projects approved for development under the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) Housing Development Programs. The funds in AHFC's program are limited to twenty percent (20%) of HUD's total development costs per project, and can only be used for the cost of on-site sewer and water facilities, road construction to project sites, electrical distribution facilities, and energy efficiency design features in the homes. A total of \$7 million has been requested in AHFC's SFY2013 capital budget for the Supplemental Housing Development Program of which it is estimated that approximately \$5.6 million may be used for projects in the balance of state.

C. Role of Local Governments

Local governments can play a significant role in promoting or impeding housing and community development (HCD) projects. A positive example of this role in HCD development is seen when local government acts as the applicant under the State's



Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Program. The goals of the Alaska CDBG program are to provide resources to Alaskan communities for public facilities and planning activities which address issues detrimental to the health and safety of local residents and to reduce the cost of essential community services. The CDBG program may also fund Special Economic Development activities that result in the creation of jobs for low and moderate income persons. Any Alaskan municipal government (except Anchorage) is eligible to apply for State CDBG funds. Non-profits may apply as co-applicants with the local government for these pass-through funds. During early SFY2013, the State will offer technical assistance workshops on the CDBG program that will assist local governments and non-profits to better access and implement CDBG projects.

Many activities of local government impact affordable housing projects. Platting and zoning decisions, and the development and maintenance of infrastructure are examples of such activities. Property tax assessment policies are another example of local government actions that can greatly impact the viability of affordable housing developments. During SFY2013, education and outreach will continue to be targeted towards local governments to help them better understand the impact of their actions upon affordable housing projects. AHFC will continue to work with Alaska Municipal League to support affordable housing development through annual resolutions and educate local governments regarding how to encourage affordable housing development.

D. Accessing, Targeting and Leveraging Resources

At the federal, state and local levels, there has been an increased emphasis placed upon using multiple funding sources to finance housing and community development projects. In the State of Alaska's Five Year HCD Plan, Alaska's unmet needs far exceed the resources available to programs governed by the HCD Plan. To address these unmet needs, available HCD resources must be effectively targeted and leveraged with other available resources. Both public and private funding is necessary to meet these needs, and in many cases a combination of funding sources is necessary to make a project viable. During SFY2013, AHFC will continue to encourage the effective and coordinated use of available funding resources.

AHFC's GOAL Program (Greater Opportunities for Affordable Living) uses a single application and review process for several of the affordable housing programs it administers: HOME Rental Development Program, the Low Income Housing Tax Credit Program, and the Senior Citizen Housing Development Program. The GOAL Program awards points in two categories based on the projects leveraged resources: the ability of the applicant to provide written commitments from other funding sources and the amount of leveraged funds in relation to the applicable project cost standard.



Accessing, targeting and leveraging resources require information about the wide range of HCD funding programs easily accessible to individuals and organizations. In the area of homeownership programs, AHFC's HOME CHOICE workshops will continue to provide an opportunity in SFY2013 for Alaskans to better understand available homeownership programs, the home-buying process, and the responsibilities of homeownership. Since 1995, nearly 50,000 individuals have completed HOME CHOICE training.

The largest single source of funding for housing in rural Alaska is the Indian Housing Block Grant (IHBG) Program. This program will provide over \$99 million in FFY2012 through the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. The Native American Housing Assistance and Self-Determination Act (NAHASDA) of 1996 is designed to provide Federal Assistance for Indian tribes in a manner that recognizes the right of tribal self- governance. NAHASDA provides a single block grant to Tribally Designated Housing Entities (TDHEs). TDHEs develop and maintain Indian Housing Plans that describe priority needs and proposed activities for the use of NAHASDA funds.

Additional funding sources include programs under the Indian Health Service (IHS), Alaska Native Tribal Health Consortium (ANTHC), and the Alaska State Village Safe Water Program (VSW).

E. Protecting and Improving Housing and Community Development Assets

As previously mentioned, over the last several years, AHFC has increased the emphasis on rehabilitation and preservation of existing affordable housing resources in the rating criteria for the LIHTC, HOME and SCHDF programs. As a result, a substantial number of affordable housing rental units have been renovated and several federally subsidized rental projects have remained in the affordable housing stock.

Rehabilitation, preservation and weatherization are important components of the State's housing strategy to improve existing housing stock. In SFY2013 this strategy will be implemented through:

- continued support of the Weatherization and Energy Rebate programs,
- the Owner Occupied Rehabilitation Program (ORP) and
- the Formula for Current Assisted Stock (FCAS) under the IHBG Program, which
 provides for maintenance and repair of existing housing stock owned by
 Tribally Designated Housing entities;
- continued refinement of energy codes and standards; and,
- implementation of green building techniques.



XIV. Input from Other Planning Efforts

A number of other sources of data and planning input in the area of housing and community development have been used in the preparation of this SFY2013 Annual Action Plan. The Consolidated Planning process is designed to incorporate a broad scope of input and perspectives, and a wide range of resources targeted towards housing and community development. Examples of input from other planning and research efforts include:

- "Moving to Work" National Conference
- National Finance Development Seminar Sponsored by NAHRO
- Alaska Continuum of Care for the Homeless—Homeless Strategy for All Areas Outside of Anchorage.
- AHFC---Moving to Work Plan
- AHFC --- Housing Needs Assessment, 2009
- AHFC's Homeless Point in Time Charts.
- Alaska Council on the Homeless, Ten-Year Plan to Reduce Homelessness
- Alaska Energy Authority, Alaska Energy: A first step toward independence; A guide for Alaskan Communities to utilize local energy resources; January, 2009
- Alaska Energy Authority, Renewable Energy Atlas of Alaska, 2011
- Cold Climate Housing Research Center Alaska Energy Efficiency Program and Policy Recommendations; June, 2008
- Alaska Low Income Weatherization Plan
- NCSHA Federal Liaisons Monthly Telephone Round Table
- Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation---Village Safe Water
- Alaska Department of Health and Social Services—Comprehensive Integrated Mental Health Plan.



- Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce Development--- Alaska Two Year State Plan for Title I of the Workforce Investment Act of 1998, July 1, 2007 through June 30, 2012.
- Alaska Department of Transportation —Statewide Transportation Improvement Program
- Kenai Peninsula Borough---Quarterly Report of Key Economic Indicators
- Tribally Designated Housing Entities---Indian Housing Plans
- Alaska Housing Market Indicators -- Quarterly Survey of Alaska Lenders, the Quarterly Survey of Alaska Permitting Activity, the Annual State of Alaska Rental Market Survey and the Construction Cost Survey
- Institute for Social and Economic Research (ISER) 2010 Report on the Alaska Non-Profit Economy - A report on the economic importance of Alaska's nonprofit sector -The Foraker Group.
- ISER, Alaska Energy Statistics 1960-2010 Preliminary Data; Ginny Fay, Alejandra Villalobos Melendez, and Amber Converse; September 2011
- ISER, Alaska's Construction Spending 2012 Forecast; Scott Goldsmith and Mary Killorin; February 2012
- Alaska Economic Development Council Economic Forecast Presentation
- Alaska Department of Corrections 2009 Offender Profile
- Alaska Prisoner Reentry Task Force, Five Year Prisoner Reentry Strategic Plan 2011-2016; February, 2011

During SFY2013, the HCD Interagency Steering Committee will review other sources of planning and research for potential input into the Plan.

92



XV. Annual Performance Report

This SFY2013 Annual Action Plan is the third implementation plan of the Five Year Consolidated Housing and Community Development Plan for the State of Alaska (State Fiscal Years 2011 through 2015). An important component of the Consolidated Planning process is the Consolidated Annual Performance and Evaluation Report (CAPER) that must be submitted to the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development within 90 days of the close of the state fiscal year. In early SFY2013, the process to develop the SFY2012 CAPER will begin, with the completed report to be submitted to HUD by September, 2012.

Any questions concerning the State of Alaska's Consolidated Housing and Community Development planning process should be directed to:

Oscar Cedano HCD Coordinator Planning and Program Development Alaska Housing Finance Corporation P.O. Box 101020 Anchorage, Alaska 99510-1020

Phone: 1-907-330-8417 or 1-800-478-2432, Ext. 8277 ocedano@ahfc.us

FAX: 1-907-338-2585 Web Site: www.ahfc.us

Substantial Amendment to the Consolidated Plan 2011 (SFY12) Annual Action Plan for the Second Allocation of Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) Funds

A. Requirements for Preparing the Substantial Amendment

For ease of reference to the HUD Guidance for preparing this Substantial Amendment, the same information outline has been used.

B. Required Contents of the Substantial Amendment to the SFY2012 (FFY2011) Consolidated Plan Annual Action Plan

1. Standard Form 424 (SF-424) See Attachment 1

2. Summary of Consultation Process

The State of Alaska and its designated housing agency, Alaska Housing Finance Corporation (AHFC), consulted with the Alaska Continuum of Care (CoC) on December 20, 2011 regarding the ESG Interim Rule. This consultation was in conjunction with their regular meeting schedule of the Alaska Coalition on Housing & Homelessness and the ESG Interim Rule was the featured program on the agenda. The discussion included how the relatively small amount of ESG funds awarded to Alaska would be allocated, the performance standards that would be applied to recipients of both ESG and state homeless funds, and expected changes to the existing HMIS policies and procedures with respect to ESG.

3. Summary of Citizen Participation Process

Alaska/AHFC determined that since the timeline for the Substantial Amendment coincided with the development of the 2012 (SFY13) Annual Action Plan, the most efficient way to meet its citizen participation requirements was to conduct its solicitation of comments simultaneously for both documents. A public hearing was held on February 2, 2012. At that hearing, the ESG Program Manager outlined the changes in the Interim Rule and described the approach Alaska would take in awarding this relatively small allocation.

Comments were solicited from February 17-March 20, 2012.

4. Match

AHFC will award matching funds to the ESG sub-recipient through the state Homeless Assistance Program (HAP) and contribute administrative oversight to meet the obligations outlined in 24 CFR 576.201(a)(2). A detail of match amounts are identified in the overall budget in the next section.

5. Proposed Activities and Overall Budget

a. Proposed Activities

The activities that will be funded under this substantial amendment include the following:

• Rapid Re-Housing – Housing Relocation & Stabilization Services

- Rapid Re-Housing Rental Assistance
- Homeless Prevention Housing Relocation & Stabilization Services
- Homeless Prevention Utility Payment
- Homeless Prevention Rental Assistance
- (1) In terms of corresponding with "priority need from the recipient's Annual Action Plan," this award is consistent with <u>both</u> Alaska's Five Year HCD and Annual Action Plan that state: "Use of federal homeless funds should emphasize activities that maintain and strengthen the service delivery system for Alaska's homeless, consistent with local strategies." These activities are also consistent with the needs identified in Sections F-3 and F-4 of Alaska's 10-Year Plan to End Long-Term Homelessness which is incorporated by reference in the Annual Action Plan.
- (2) a. RRH-Housing Relocation & Stabilization Services: funds will be used to pay the costs of staff who will be responsible for collecting all of the required documentation to qualify program participants, conducting an initial assessment, working with the household to develop a housing stability plan and assisting with the housing search and placement process. Ongoing case management will also be provided to these households. The selected sub-recipient and its partner, the local behavioral health center, have already identified 5-8 households that have been frequent users of shelter to target for this program.
 - b. <u>RRH-Rental Assistance</u>: funds will be used to provide financial assistance for rental costs for up to 12 months. Depending on the level of tenant contributions, the program is expected to serve 5-8 households with histories of multiple shelter stays and behavioral health issues who are willing to enter a special housing stabilization program.
 - c. <u>HP-Housing Relocation & Stabilization Services</u>: funds will be used to pay the costs of staff who will be responsible for collecting all of the required documentation to qualify program participants who are at-risk of homelessness, conducting an initial assessment, working with the household to develop a housing stability plan and processing payment agreements to landlords.
 - d. <u>HP-Utility Payments</u>: funds will be used to provide financial assistance for households facing utility shut-offs or exhaustion of their heating fuel supply, which would, in turn, render their dwellings uninhabitable. Approximately 5-10 households are expected to receive financial assistance with utility arrearages.
 - e. <u>HP-Rental Assistance</u>: funds will be used to provide financial assistance for households whose arrearage situation is such that they will become homeless without the ESG intervention. Approximately 5-7 households are expected to receive financial assistance with rental arrearages.
 - f. <u>Administration</u>: funds will be used to cover the cost of overall management of the project in accordance with 24 CFR 576.108.
- (3) Presumably, the same standard objective/outcome categories will apply to ESG as with HPRP:

Activity Type	Objective	Outcome
RRH-Homeless Assistance	Suitable Living Environment	Availability/Accessibility

HP- Homeless Prevention	Provide Decent Housing	Affordability
Administration	Not Applicable	Not Applicable

- (4) The anticipated start date for this second allotment is July 1, 2012. Program activities are expected to conclude by June 30, 2013 with final close-out completed by September 30, 2013.
- (5) Below is the complete budget for the program period identified above:

Activity	ESG	AHFC/HAP Match	Total
RRH-Services	\$4,400	\$35,600	\$40,000
RRH-Rental Assist.	\$53,700	\$5,000	\$58,700
HP-Services	\$4,636	\$5,364	\$10,000
HP-Utility Payments	\$2,500	\$16,500	\$19,000
HP-Rental Assist.	\$2,500	\$6,402	\$8,902
Admin	\$3,565	\$2,435	\$6,000
Total	\$71,301	\$71,301	\$142,602

(6) The following performance indicators have been identified for this project:

Activity	Indicator
RRH-Homeless Assistance	# of homeless households moving to permanent housing
HP – Homeless Prevention	# of households stabilized with rent/utility assistance

(7) In accordance with the performance indicators identified above, the following accomplishments are anticipated within one year:

Activity	Accomplishment
RRH-Homeless Assistance	77% of households served will achieve 7+ mos. of housing stability
HP – Homeless Prevention	85% of households served will remain stably housed at least 3 months
	later after receiving assistance with arrearages

(8) Due to the small amount of funding associated with this allocation, AHFC does not anticipate these activities to exceed one year. Therefore, no additional indicators or accomplishments are projected for a multi-year grant term.

b. Discussion of Funding Priorities

The activities chosen under section IV.B.5.a of the Substantial Amendment notice (FR-5591-N-01) were essentially the only activities allowable under the ESG Interim Rule for the second allocation. During the application cycle for FFY2011 ESG funds, only one applicant, Kodiak Brother Francis Shelter (KBFS), requested funding for Homeless Prevention or Rapid Re-Housing (HPRP) activities. All other applicants requested funding for Emergency Shelter activities. Historically, very little funding has been requested for these activities because 1) the need was far greater for Emergency

Shelter operating support and 2) funding for HPRP-type activities was available from sources that were far less restrictive and administratively burdensome.

As the sole requester of funds for the allowable activities in the FFY2011 ESG competition, KBFS is now in a unique position to "demonstrate" to other providers in the state how these ESG funds may be used to effectively break the cycle of homelessness with longer-term rental assistance. In years past, KBFS could do little more than provide an initial deposit or the equivalent of one month rent to try to stabilize a household. With the FFY2011 allocation, KBFS can develop a more effective, longer-term rental assistance program that would be replicable in other parts of the state when addition ESG funds are available in subsequent funding cycles.

Kodiak Island is an economically depressed area of the state. During the program year in which KBFS administered ARRA-HPRP funds, they used \$142,250 to assist 105 households containing 255 people. In an effort to assist as many households as possible, the average household seeking homeless prevention at that time only received approximately \$500 in direct financial assistance. Most of the persons served that year received homeless prevention assistance because funding was insufficient to assure housing stability with an initial deposit and one month of rental assistance. This time around, KBFS will use this smaller increment of ESG funds to provide longer term rental assistance for some of their more frequent users of shelter. This assistance will be accompanied by a wide array of support services from the local behavioral health center and domestic violence shelter that worked with KBFS to develop this demonstration project.

c. Detailed Budget Table 3

	Table 3: FFY 20	11 Detaile	d Budget Tabl	е		
First Allocation	\$126,757.00		FFY 2011			
Second Allocation	\$71,301.00	Emergency	rgency Shelter Grants/Emergency Solutions Gran			
Grant Amount	\$198,058.00		Program Allocations			
Total	, , , , , ,					
Administration	\$14,854.35					
		First A	Allocation	Second Allocation	Total Fiscal Year 2011	
		Activity	Reprogrammed	Activity	Activity	
	Eligible Activities	Amount	Amount	Amount	Amount	
S	Homeless Assistance	\$124,227.00	\$0.00		\$124,227.00	
ani	Rehab/Conversion	\$0.00	\$0.00		\$0.00	
Emergency Shelter Grants Program	Operations	\$124,227.00	\$0.00		\$124,227.00	
ler ter rog	Essential Services	\$0.00	\$0.00		\$0.00	
Fr P P	Homelessness Prevention	\$0.00	\$0.00		\$0.00	
S	Administration	\$2,530.00	\$0.00		\$2,530.00	
	Emergency Shelter Grants Subtotal	\$126,757.00	\$0.00		\$126,757.00	
	Emergency Shelter**			\$0.00	\$0.00	
	Renovation**			\$0.00	\$0.00	
	Operation**			\$0.00	\$0.00	
	Essential Service**			\$0.00	\$0.00	
	URA Assistance**			\$0.00	\$0.00	
	Street Outreach - Essential					
_	Services**			\$0.00	\$0.00	
l an	HMIS		\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	
80.	Rapid Re-housing		\$0.00	\$58,100.00	\$58,100.00	
ency Solutions Grants Program	Housing Relocation and Stabilization Services		\$0.00	\$4,400.00	\$4,400.00	
irar	Tenant-Based Rental					
ls G	Assistance		\$0.00	\$53,700.00	\$53,700.00	
ion	Project-Based Rental					
1	Assistance		\$0.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	
S S	Homelessness Prevention		\$0.00	\$9,636.00	\$9,636.00	
l locy	Housing Relocation and		ψο.σσ			
le ge	Stabilization Services			\$4,636.00	\$4,636	
Emerge	Utility Payments			\$2,500.00	\$2,500	
_ <u> </u>	Tenant-Based Rental					
	Assistance			\$2,500.00	\$2,500	
	Project-Based Rental					
	Assistance			\$0.00	\$0.00	
	Administration			\$3,565.00	\$3,565.00	
	Emergency Solutions Grants Subtotal		\$0.00	\$71,301.00	\$71,301.00	
	Grants Subtotal		T-1 10		6400.050.00	
			Total Grant	amount:	\$198,058.00	

^{**}Allowable only if the amount obligated for homeless assistance activities using funds from the first allocation is less than the expenditure limit for emergency shelter and street outreach activities (see Section III.B. of this Notice).

6. Written Standards for Provision of ESG Assistance

In recognition of the large geographic area covered in the Alaska CoC geography and the varying needs and conditions of local communities, Alaska is adopting the provision outlined in 24 CFR 576.400(e)(2)(i)(B) that enables states to require each sub-recipient to establish their own written standards for providing ESG assistance and apply them consistently within the sub-recipient's program. This approach is consistent with the guiding principles of the Alaska HCD Plan which supports the use local strategies for determining unmet needs and targeting of resources. All requirements for written standards and policies will be incorporated in the grant agreement issued to the sub-recipient.

a. Standard policies and procedures for evaluating individuals' and families' eligibility for assistance under Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG).

As a prior recipient of ARRA-HPRP funds, the sub-recipient already has in place standard policies and procedures for evaluating each individual or family's eligibility for homeless prevention and rapid re-housing assistance. These policies will be updated to incorporate the definitions of homeless and at risk of homelessness outlined in 24 CFR 576.2 and 24 CFR 576.500(b), (c), (d) and (e).

b. Policies and procedures for coordination among emergency shelter providers, essential service providers, homeless prevention and rapid re-housing assistance providers, other homeless assistance providers and mainstream service and housing providers.

The sub-recipient will incorporate into their ESG policies and procedures, by reference, existing cooperative agreements they have in place with the local Public Housing agency, the Indian Housing Agency (Kodiak Island Housing Authority), the domestic violence shelter (Kodiak Women's Resource & Crisis Center), the Dept. of Public Assistance (TANF), and the community behavioral health center. Additional formal agreements will be established with the local Salvation Army (provider of transitional housing) and the homeless school liaison for the Kodiak School District.

c. Policies and procedures for determining and prioritizing which eligible families and individuals will receive homeless prevention assistance and which eligible families and individuals will receive rapid re-housing assistance.

For this pilot program year, the sub-recipient intends to modify the policies they originally established during the ARRA-HPRP grant term to prioritize homeless households with persistent patterns of instability and multiple obstacles to obtaining and sustaining housing to receive ESG rental assistance. Households facing imminent displacement or uninhabitable conditions will be the priority group to receive ESG Homeless Prevention assistance. The sub-recipient will use other funding sources such as Emergency Food and Shelter and state Homeless Assistance Program funds to assist households with fewer housing barriers.

d. Standards for determining the share of rent and utility costs that each program participant must pay, if any, while receiving homeless prevention or rapid re-housing assistance.

To the extent practicable, the sub-recipient will adopt a payment standard for the ESG rental housing assistance that is consistent with that of the local housing authority's voucher program. The sub-recipient anticipates that several homeless participants may not be in a position to contribute anything toward their housing costs, initially, until income sources or mainstream benefits that were

severed during their period of displacement are restored. Client contributions toward arrearages will be negotiated on an individual basis, considering such factors as resources currently on hand, and prospects for income in the next 60 days.

e. Standards for determining how long a particular program participant will be provided with rental assistance and whether and how the amount of that assistance will be adjusted over time.

Due to the amount of funding available for this round, the sub-recipient anticipates limiting RRH-rental assistance to no more than 12 months. Adjustments to rental assistance in the event of changes in income will be addressed in a manner similar to the local housing authority for consistency and preparation of the program participant to transfer to this longer term program should the opportunity arise.

f. Standards for determining the type, amount, and duration of housing stabilization and/or relocation services to provide a program participant, including the limits, if any, on the homeless prevention or rapid re-housing assistance that each program participant may receive, such as the maximum amount of assistance; or the maximum number of times the program participant may receive assistance.

Due to funding limitations, the only housing stabilization service anticipated for this grant term is case management. The sub-recipient will revise their written policies to incorporate the requirement for program participants to meet with their case manager at least monthly while receiving ESG assistance.

7. Making Sub-awards

As a state recipient, Alaska/AHFC conducts an annual competition prior to the start of each fiscal year to determine who will receive both ESG and state HAP funds for the coming year. Eligible applicants include units of general local government and private non-profit organizations, including community and faith-based organizations. The reason the competition is held well ahead of the start of the fiscal year is so the state is in a position to meet HUD's strict award commitment deadlines. The sub-recipient identified in this Substantial Amendment was part of the FFY 2011/SFY 2012 competitive round. Because they were the only applicant to request ESG funds for homeless prevention and rapid re-housing activities, they will receive the entire second allocation.

8. Homeless Participation Requirement As a state recipient, this section is not applicable.

9. Performance Standards

Consistent with performance standards adopted by the Alaska CoC for evaluating projects, the following performance standards will be applied to the FFY2011 ESG project:

- i. The degree to which homelessness was reduced among the target populations of chronic homeless, homeless Veterans and families with children.
- ii. The degree to which persons leaving the program left with employment income or income from benefits for which they were entitled.

- iii. The degree to which goals of 7+ mos. of housing stability is achieved for household entering permanent housing from homelessness.
- iv. No significant or persistent monitoring findings within the past 36 months.
- **10.** Certifications See Attachment 3 in the back of this document
- C. Written standards required for recipients who are eligible and decide to use part of the second allocation of FY2011 funds for emergency shelter and street outreach activities

This section is not eligible as Alaska will not be using any part of the second allocation of FFY2011 funds for emergency shelter and/or street outreach activities.

D. Requirements for recipients who plan to use the risk factor under paragraph (1)(iii)(G) of the "at risk of homelessness" definition

Neither the recipient nor the sub-recipient intend to use the risk factor under paragraph (1)(iii)(G) of the "at risk of homelessness" definition. The conditions of (1)(iii)(A-F) appear sufficient to qualify persons in the intended service area for ESG assistance.

E. Optional Changes to the FY2011 Annual Action Plan

No changes with respect to a Centralized or Coordinated Assessment System or Monitoring procedures are anticipated until HUD issues more specific guidance.

APPENDIX A

UNEXPENDED FUNDS BY FISCAL YEAR

PROJECT STATUS REPORT

Source	Year	Category	Allocated	Committed	Expended	Unexpended	Uncommitted
HOME - Corp	SFY 2006	HOME - ORP	\$225,000.00	\$204,213.64	\$47,553.00		\$ 20,786.36
HOME - Corp	SFY 2006	HOME - ORP Admin	\$60,000.00	\$ 400.44	\$400.44	\$ 59,599.56	\$ 59,599.56
HOME - Corp	SFY 2007	GOAL Hsg Prod Pre-Devel	\$100,000.00	\$48,355.35	\$48,355.35	\$ 51,644.65	\$ 51,644.65
HOME - Corp	SFY 2008	GOAL Housing Production	\$500,000.00	\$493,500.00	\$493,500.00	\$ 6,500.00	\$ 6,500.00
HOME - Corp	SFY 2008	GOAL Hsg Prod Pre-Devel	\$50,000.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$ 50,000.00	\$ 50,000.00
HOME - Corp	SFY 2008	HOME - ORP	\$100,000.00	\$14,374.36	\$13,928.00	\$ 86,072.00	\$ 85,625.64
HOME - Corp	SFY 2008	HOME - ORP Admin	\$45,000.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$ 45,000.00	\$ 45,000.00
HOME - Corp	SFY 2009	HOME - ORP	\$90,000.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$ 90,000.00	\$ 90,000.00
HOME - Corp	SFY 2009	HOME - ORP Admin	\$18,000.00	\$18,000.00	\$3,549.60	\$ 14,450.40	\$ 0.00
HOME - Corp	SFY 2010	GOAL Hsg Prod Pre-Devel	\$50,000.00	\$ 700.00	\$700.00	\$ 49,300.00	\$ 49,300.00
HOME - Corp	SFY 2010	HOME - HOP	\$141,400.00	\$111,784.99	\$111,784.99	\$ 29,615.01	\$ 29,615.01
HOME - Corp	SFY 2010	HOME - HOP Admin	\$23,600.00	\$18,952.77	\$18,952.77	\$ 4,647.23	\$ 4,647.23
HOME - Corp	SFY 2010	HOME - ORP	\$115,000.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$115,000.00	\$115,000.00
HOME - Corp	SFY 2010	HOME - ORP Admin	\$40,000.00	\$12,000.00	\$0.00	\$ 40,000.00	\$ 28,000.00
HOME - Corp	SFY 2010	HOME - TBRA	\$150,000.00	\$150,000.00	\$ 17,644.50	\$132,355.50	\$ 0.00
HOME - Corp	SFY 2011	GOAL Housing Production	\$237,000.00	\$135,711.75	\$ 94,889.63	\$142,110.37	\$101,288.25
HOME - Corp	SFY 2011	HOME - HOP	\$300,000.00	\$300,000.00	\$225,212.40	\$ 74,787.60	\$ 0.00
HOME - Corp	SFY 2011	HOME - HOP Admin	\$33,000.00	\$33,000.00	\$ 15,832.68	\$ 17,167.32	\$ 0.00
HOME - Corp	SFY 2011	HOME - TBRA	\$150,000.00	\$150,000.00	\$ 12,359.50	\$137,640.50	\$ 0.00
HOME - Corp	SFY 2012	GOAL Housing Production	\$350,000.00	\$ 0.00	\$ 0.00	\$350,000.00	\$350,000.00
HOME - Corp	SFY 2012	HOME - HOP	\$325,000.00	\$325,000.00	\$ 9,113.56	\$315,886.44	\$ 0.00
HOME - Corp	SFY 2012	HOME - HOP Admin	\$75,000.00	\$ 75,000.00	\$ 0.00	\$ 75,000.00	\$ 0.00
HOME - Corp	Sub-Total					\$2,064,223.58	\$1,087,006.70

APPENDIX A

UNEXPENDED FUNDS BY FISCAL YEAR

PROJECT STATUS REPORT

Source	Year	Category	Allocated	Committed	Expended	Unexpended	Uncommitted
HOME - HUD	FFY 2004	HOME - CHDO	\$32,727.00	\$ 0.00	\$ 0.00	\$ 32,727.00	\$ 32,727.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2005	HOME - CHDO	\$93,736.09	\$ 93,736.09	\$ 0.00	\$ 93,736.09	\$ 0.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2005	HOME - ORP	\$836,263.91	\$836,263.91	\$623,396.55	\$212,867.36	\$ 0.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2005	HOME - ORP Admin	\$120,000.00	\$120,000.00	\$100,766.67	\$ 19,233.33	\$ 0.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2006	GOAL Housing Production	\$1,551,111.00	\$1,518,411.00	\$1,518,411.00	\$ 32,700.00	\$ 32,700.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2006	HOME - OEA	\$150,000.00	\$150,000.00	\$144,129.99	\$ 5,870.01	\$ 0.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2007	HOME - CHDO	\$456,027.00	\$452,720.00	\$240,000.00	\$216,027.00	\$ 3,307.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2007	HOME - CHDO	\$205,537.91	\$205,537.91	\$ 0.00	\$205,537.91	\$ 0.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2007	HOME - OEA	\$150,000.00	\$150,000.00	\$126,932.50	\$ 23,067.50	\$ 0.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2007	HOME - ORP Admin	\$30,000.00	\$ 27,365.29	\$ 25,953.00	\$ 4,047.00	\$ 2,634.71
HOME - HUD	FFY 2008	GOAL Housing Production	\$908,609.00	\$908,608.85	\$908,608.85	\$ 0.15	\$ 0.15
HOME - HUD	FFY 2008	HOME - HOP	\$671,081.00	\$655,081.00	\$655,081.00	\$ 16,000.00	\$ 16,000.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2008	HOME - OEA	\$150,000.00	\$150,000.00	\$149,934.74	\$ 65.26	\$ 0.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2008	HOME - ORP	\$201,389.00	\$201,389.00	\$131,965.00	\$ 69,424.00	\$ 0.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2008	HOME - ORP Admin	\$30,000.00	\$ 30,000.00	\$ 8,180.00	\$ 21,820.00	\$ 0.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2008	HOME-HDP	\$209,000.00	\$209,000.00	\$133,097.00	\$ 75,903.00	\$ 0.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2009	HOME - CHDO	\$1,269,674.85	\$1,048,412.00	\$1,048,412.00	\$221,262.85	\$221,262.85
HOME - HUD	FFY 2009	HOME - OEA	\$150,000.00	\$130,376.23	\$ 33,557.88	\$116,442.12	\$ 19,623.77
HOME - HUD	FFY 2009	HOME - ORP	\$278,737.15	\$184,236.64	\$ 0.00	\$278,737.15	\$ 94,500.51
HOME - HUD	FFY 2009	HOME - ORP Admin	\$65,000.00	\$ 31,529.16	\$ 0.00	\$ 65,000.00	\$ 33,470.84
HOME - HUD	FFY 2009	HOME - TBRA	\$130,000.00	\$130,000.00	\$ 17,644.50	\$112,355.50	\$ 0.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2009	HOME - TBRA Security Deposit	\$20,000.00	\$ 20,000.00	\$ 16,752.00	\$ 3,248.00	\$ 0.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2009	HOME-HDP	\$450,000.00	\$257,999.00	\$172,340.14	\$277,659.86	\$192,001.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2010	GOAL Housing Production	\$1,092,294.25	\$942,294.25	\$503,737.85	\$588,556.40	\$150,000.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2010	HOME - CHDO	\$657,705.75	\$657,705.75	\$207,705.75	\$450,000.00	\$ 0.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2010	HOME - HOP	\$800,000.00	\$800,000.00	\$725,636.00	\$ 74,364.00	\$ 0.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2010	HOME - HOP Admin	\$95,000.00	\$ 95,000.00	\$ 64,244.22	\$ 30,755.78	\$ 0.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2010	HOME - TBRA	\$130,000.00	\$130,000.00	\$ 26,720.50	\$103,279.50	\$ 0.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2010	HOME - TBRA Security Deposit	\$20,000.00	\$ 20,000.00	\$ 4,450.00	\$ 15,550.00	\$ 0.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2011	GOAL Housing Production	\$750,000.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$750,000.00	\$750,000.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2011	HOME - CHDO	\$450,000.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$450,000.00	\$450,000.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2011	HOME - HOP	\$1,201,118.00	\$1,201,118.00	\$156,596.55	\$1,044,521.45	\$ 0.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2011	HOME - HOP Admin	\$100,000.57	\$100,000.57	\$0.00	\$100,000.57	\$ 0.00
HOME - HUD	FFY 2011	HOME-HDP	\$300,000.00	\$0.00	\$0.00	\$300,000.00	\$300,000.00
HOME - HUD	Sub-Total					\$6,010,758.79	\$2,298,227.83

APPENDIX B

OBJECTIVES TO END CHRONIC HOMELESSNESS AND MOVE FAMILIES AND INDIVIDUALS TO PERMANENT HOUSING

Alaska Council on the Homeless Ten-Year Plan to Reduce Long Term Homelessness

F-1. Housing for Chronic &	& Special Needs Homeless	Baseline: 627 chronic homeless out of 3.305 total homeless (PIT) 161 Chronic Hsg units out of 428 Perm Sup. Hsg. inventory			
Strategy	Action Steps	12-Month Outcome	By the Year 2014	By the Year 2019	
1.Expand housing options (construction/rehab/rental asstnc)	1.a Build capacity to maximize use of resources (811/202; HOME) 1b Develop prototype model for supportive housing 1.c Develop a coordinated funding source (HTF) to house more high need homeless persons 1.d Develop intensive service-enriched housing for persons w/high needs exiting API & DOC	1.a Financial incentives provided to at least one 202 or 811 project that targets homeless persons w/special needs 1.b & c. Technical & financial assistance provided to projects under development in ANC & FBX 1.d Project identified	1.a 25 new 202 units and 25 new 811 units 1.b, 10 new programs developed from model 1.c&d 300 addt'l HH assisted	1.b 50 new 202 units and 50 new 811 units 1.b,c,d 800 addt'l HH assisted	
2. Increase supplemental support for services not covered by Medicaid	2. a Identify unmet service needs and costs2.b Utilize housing finance resources to cover cost of room & board for persons served by Adult Protective Services (APS)	2. DHSS & AHFC issue joint white paper on delineated costs	2. a 30% of service needs addressed 2.b 50% of APS clients recv'g hsg asstnc	2. 70% of service needs addressed 2.b 100% of APS clients recv'g hsg asstnc	
3. Increase pool of operating support to preserve existing housing stock	3.a Inventory existing projects for operating assistance needs 3.b Issue NOFA to award project-based assistance	3. HUD waivers secured for project-based voucher support	3. 100 project-based rent asstnc	3. 200 project-based rent asstnc	

APPENDIX B SFY 2013 HCD Annual Action Plan

Alaska Council on the Homeless Ten-Year Plan to Reduce Long Term Homelessness

F-2. Housing for Persons D	ischarged from State Custody	Baseline: 8,000/yr disch 33 existing beds for	narged from DOC w/no transitioning youth (A	<u> </u>	
Strategy	Action Steps	12-Month Outcome	By the Year 2014	By the Year 2019	
Revise discharge policies to explicitly discourage discharge to homeless shelters.	1.a Review policies and identify text revisions 1.b Establish baseline on discharges to homelessness	a. Policy revisions completed by May 2011 b. Contact person to report discharge information identified in each department	1.b 50% reduction of discharge to shelter or streets	1.b 75% reduction of discharge to shelter or streets	
2. Increase # of units available to transitioning youth	2.a Identify exact # of transitional beds needed (300 est.) 2b. Apply for Family Unification Program vouchers from HUD	2.a Contact person within DHSS identified 2.b Vouchers awarded by HUD	2.a 50% of needed beds added to inventory 2.b 100% FUP voucher utilization	2.a 50% of needed needed added to inventory 2.b 100% FUP voucher utilization	
3.Develop landlord incentives to rent to "hard to house" persons.	3.a. Identify incentives (e.g. damage fund, rent-up bonus, etc) 3.b Develop a coordinated funding source (HTF) to house more high need homeless persons	3.a & b. Re-Entry Task Force issues recommendations	3.a&b 50% placement success	3.a&b 75% placement success	
4. Increase employment/vocational opportunities for persons in transition.	4.a Identify models	4. a Re-Entry Task Force issues recommendations	Programs in every DOC & DJJ facility	100% job referral upon discharge	

3

Alaska Council on the Homeless Ten-Year Plan to Reduce Long Term Homelessness

F-3. Permanent Housing for Households w/Children Transitioning from Homelessness		Baseline: 1,507 People (494 Families) out of 3,305 total homeless in PIT		
Strategy	Action Steps	12-Month Outcome	By the Year 2014	By the Year 2019
1.Expand housing options (construction/rehab/rental asstnc)	1.a Build capacity to maximize use of resources (HOME/TBRA) 1.b Create incentives to utilize existing hsg programs to address needs of low-income families 1.c Develop coordinated funding source (HTF) to assist more homeless families	1. Incentives for family housing & service-enriched placement services incorporated in GOAL & BHAP grant applications.	1.b&c 150 Units w/20% f/large families	1.b&c 300 Units w/20% f/large families
2. Increase pool of operating support to preserve existing housing stock	2. Inventory existing projects for operating assistance needs	Rent burden survey completed and needs identified	100 assisted units	200 assisted units
3. Provide rapid re-housing services for HH w/children	3.a Create incentives for central intake & assessment of family homeless needs 3.b Develop coordinated funding source for move-in costs.	3. Central intake & use of assessment tools incentivized in BHAP application	3.a &b. 50% HH rehoused within 90 days	3.a&b. 85% HH rehoused within 90 days
4. Improve outreach & linkages to housing resources & services	4.a Build capacity among homeless school liaisons & rural school districts 4.b Expand outreach on use of AK Housing Locator 4.c Improve 211 to accurately reflect all local homeless services	4.a Liaison outreach project conducted for PIT 4.b. Locator information distributed during grant monitoring 4.c. Grant issued to 211	4.a 50% increase in homeless school liaison participation in state hsg coalition 4.b 100% increase in Locator listings 4.c 80% coverage	4.a 100% increase in homeless school liaison participation in state hsg coalition 4.b 200% increase in Locator listings 4.c 95% coverage

SFY 2013 HCD Annual Action Plan

Alaska Council on the Homeless Ten-Year Plan to Reduce Long Term Homelessness

F-4. Short-Term Homeless Prevention / Crisis Intervention		2008 Baseline: 324 households served by HAP-funded prevention component in SFY08/ 67% housing retention rate			
Strategy	Action Steps	12-Month Outcome	By the Year 2014	By the Year 2019	
1. Create local centralized pool of prevention resources to provide assistance with rent, mortgage & utility arrearages OR to cover housing costs for persons temporarily absent due to hospitalization, SA treatment or short-term incarceration (less than 60 days).	1.a Coordinate existing resources (ESG, LIHEAP, EFSP, ATAP Diversion) 1.b Develop framework for central prevention pools 1.b Set aside min 30% HAP/ASHP authorization for prevention activities 1.c Develop coordinated funding source (HTF) to assist more households at-risk of homelessness	1.a Interagency meeting convened 1.b Centralized prevention pools incentivized through HAP	100% increase in # of households served 75% retention rate	200% increase in # of households served 85% retention rate	
2. Apply a uniform assessment tool to identify barriers to housing stability	2.a Integrate assessment tool into HMIS	2.a Updated version installed	60% assessments completed on prevention cases	100% assessments completed on prevention cases	

APPENDIX B SFY 2013 HCD Annual Action Plan

Alaska Council on the Homeless Ten-Year Plan to Reduce Long Term Homelessness

F-5. Data Collection				
Strategy	Action Steps	12-Month Outcome	By the Year 2014	By the Year 2019
1. Expand HMIS coverage to all federal and state-funded homeless programs.	1.a Continue ongoing training and access project to connect all providers of shelter & transitional housing in AK (except DV)	1.a Policy adopted by HMIS Data Committee to prioritize access & training based on reporting mandates	75% bed coverage in HMIS	85% bed coverage in HMIS
2. Coordinate prevention report from all sources (ESG, HAP, LIHEAP, ATAP Diversion, STRAP)	2. Develop MOU w/funders to coordinate report	2. Fund administrators meet & forge agreement	2. Report reflects 50% coverage	2. Report reflects 90% coverage

F-6. Community Infrastructure					
		12-Month			
Strategy	Action Steps	Outcome	By the Year 2014	By the Year 2019	
1. Ensure housing policy is	1.a Educate AML & CoC's re:	1.a Comp plan enabling	1.a Comp plan	1.a Comp plan	
addressed at the local level	housing component in comp plans	legislation introduced	enabling legislation enacted & 30% comp	enabling legislation enacted & 70% comp	
2. Provide operational support to local housing planning organizations to coordinate services and reporting	2.a Develop long-range organizational plan	2.a. Organizational plan developed by Coalition board	plans inc. housing element 2.a Local organizations established in 5 communities	plans inc. housing element 2.a Local organizations established. in 9 communities	

APPENDIX C

TABLE 3A, Summary of Specific Annual Objectives

TABLE 3B, Annual Housing Completion Goals

TABLE 3C, Consolidated Plan Listing of Projects

Optional Table 3A Summary of Specific Annual Objectives

Specific Obj.	Outcome/Objective Specific Annual Objectives	Sources of Funds	Performance Indicators	Program Year	Expected Number	Actual Number	Percent Completed
DH-1	Availability/Accessibility of Decent Housin	g				!	
DH-1.1	Home Opportunity Program: Creating opportunities for home ownership through education and financial assistance.	НОМЕ	Number of homebuyers receiving assistance. Number of tenant households	2010	22 10 22	38 10	35% 20%
DH-1.2	Tenant Based Rental Assistance: Improving the availability of affordable housing options through rental subsidies.	НОМЕ	receiving rental assistance.	2012	10 22 10		
				2013	22 10		
				2014	22 10		
			MULTI-YEAR GOAL		110 50		
DH-2	Affordability of Decent Housing	•					
DH-2.1	Rental Housing Dev Creating affordable decent housing opportunities through	HOME	Number of affordable units developed. NOTE: For the rental	2010	6 10	14 16	46% 100%+
	rehabilitation and preservation of existing housing resources. Homeownership Dev. Program- Creating	710) (F	development program, only the federal HOME units are reported.	2011	8 0		
DH-2.2	affordable housing for LMI families through assistance with the cost of development.	HOME		2012	0		
	assistance with the cost of development.			2013	6		
			MANAGE AND COLOR	2014	6 0		
			MULTI-YEAR GOAL		30 10		

DH-3	Sustainability of Decent Housing						
DH-3.1	r		Number of homeowners receiving	2010	14	8	11%
	housing with improved or new sustainability.	with improved or new sustainability.	assistance.	2010	14		
				2012	14		
				2013	14		
				2014	14		
			MULTI-YEAR GOAL		70		

Optional Table 3A Summary of Specific Annual Objectives (cont)

Specific Obj.	Outcome/Objective Specific Annual Objectives	Sources of Funds	Performance Indicators	Program Year	Expected Number	Actual Number	Percent Completed
SL-1	Availability/Accessibility of Suitable Living	Environment					
SL-1.1	Create a suitable living environment through new construction or renovation of public		Number of persons with new access to a public facility or	2010	2670 18/30	3230 19/40	
	facilities to benefit low to moderate income persons.		infrastructure benefit.	2011	2860 0/0	1236 0/0	
SL-1.2	Create a suitable living environment by		Number of LMI households receiving funding to address health	2012	2 2400 0/0		
	providing funding for owner-occupied housing rehabilitation services which address emergency needs and health and safety measures for LMI households.	h address	and safety issues <u>and</u> number of persons in those households	2013	3100 0/0		
			benefitting.	2014	2650 15/15		
			MULTI-YEAR GOAL		13,680 34/55		
SL-2	Affordability of Suitable Living Environme	nt					
SL-2.1	N/A			2010			
				2011			
				2012			
				2013			
				2014			
			MULTI-YEAR GOAL		•		

Annual Housing Completion Goals (Table 3B)

Grantee Name: AHFC/ DCCED	nual Housing Com Expected Annual	Actual Annual		es used d	lurina th	e period
	Number of Units	Number of Units			······9 ···	poriou.
Program Year: FFY2011/ SFY2012	To Be Completed	Completed	CDBG	HOME	ESG	HOPWA
BENEFICIARY GOALS (Sec. 215 Only)						
Homeless households						
Non-homeless households	54- HOME					
Special needs households	10-HOME			\boxtimes		
Total Sec. 215 Beneficiaries*	64 – HOME					
RENTAL GOALS (Sec. 215 Only)						
Acquisition of existing units						
Production of new units	8 – HOME			\boxtimes		
Rehabilitation of existing units						
Rental Assistance	10 - HOME			\boxtimes		
Total Sec. 215 Affordable Rental	18 – HOME					
HOME OWNER GOALS (Sec. 215 Only)						
Acquisition of existing units						
Production of new units	10 – HOME			\boxtimes		
Rehabilitation of existing units	14 – HOME			\boxtimes		
Homebuyer Assistance	22 – HOME			\boxtimes		
Total Sec. 215 Affordable Owner	46 – HOME					
COMBINED RENTAL AND OWNER GOALS (Sec. 215 Only)						
Acquisition of existing units						
Production of new units	18 – HOME					
Rehabilitation of existing units	14 – HOME					
Rental Assistance	10 – HOME			\boxtimes		
Homebuyer Assistance	22 – HOME			\boxtimes		
Combined Total Sec. 215 Goals*	64 – HOME					
OVERALL HOUSING GOALS (Sec. 215 + Other Affordable Housing)						
Annual Rental Housing Goal	18 – HOME			\boxtimes		
Annual Owner Housing Goal	46 – HOME			\boxtimes		
Total Overall Housing Goal	64 – HOME					

^{*} The total amounts for "Combined Total Sec. 215 Goals" and "Total Sec. 215 Beneficiary Goals" should be the same number.

Table 3C (Optional)

Annual Action Plan Planned Project Results

Outcomes and Objectives	Performance Indicators	Expected Number	Activity Description
	Number of homebuyers	_	
DH 1.1	receiving assistance.	22	HOME Opportunity Program
	Number of tenant households		
DH 1.2	receiving assistance.	10	Tenant Based Rental Assistance
	Number of HOME units		
DH 2.1	developed.	8	Rental Development Program
	Number of affordable units		Homeownership Development
DH 2.2	developed.	10	Program
	Number of homeowners		Owner-Occupied Rehabilitation
DH 3.1	receiving assistance.	14	Program
	CDBG- Number of persons		
	with new access to a public		
	facility or infrastructure		
SL 1.1	benefit.	2264	CDBG- Community Development
	CDBG- Number of LMI		
	households receiving funding		
	to address health and safety		
	issues and number of persons		
	in those households		CDBG Owner-Occupied
SL 1.2	benefitting.	0	Rehabilitation Program
	ESG- Number of homeless		
SL-1.3	facilities upgraded	3	Rehabilitation/ Renovation
	ESG- Number of bednights		
	provided in homeless		
SL-1.4	facilities		Maintenance & Operating Costs
	ESG- Number of homeless		
	persons who benefited from		
SL-1.5	shelter or services	3,000	Essential Services

*Use one of 9 outcome/objective categories

	Availability/Accessibility	Affordability	Sustainability
Decent Housing	DH-1	DH-2	DH-3
Suitable Living Environment	SL-1	SL-2	SL-3
Economic Opportunity	EO-1	EO-2	EO-3

APPENDIX D

SF-424 Application for Federal Assistance

Certifications: CDBG – ESG - HOME

Copies of Certifications will be available upon written request

APPENDIX E

PUBLIC COMMENTS

According to the State's Citizen Participation Plan, and as part of the outreach effort to promote citizen participation in the Annual Action Plan (AAP) planning process, AHFC held a public hearing, participated in several community development events, and solicited and received individual comments from citizens throughout the state.

AHFC conducted a public hearing at the AHFC main offices in Anchorage, Alaska prior to the release of the AAP draft to gain public input into the development of this plan. The hearing was held on February 2, 2012; it was attended in person by a representative from the Cook Inlet Housing Authority. At the hearing, AHFC provided an overview of the consolidated planning process and the programs it covers, a description of the performance of the current HOME, ESG and CDBG programs, and the timeline for the development of the AAP. Public comment was encouraged and heard. The hearing was teleconferenced statewide and the records were transcribed and are attached to the AAP in Appendix D.

The AAP was published on the AHFC website on February 16, 2012 and remained available for public comment until close of business on March 20, 2012. Written comments were received from the Matanuska Susitna Valley Homeless Coalition; Housing First, Inc. in Juneau and the Juneau Homeless Coalition. Comments offered at the public hearing prior to drafting the AAP are summarized first, below; comments received during the public comment period regarding the draft AAP, are summarized second.

A. Comments from the February 2, 2012 Public Hearing and Statewide Teleconference Held during Development of the SFY2013 Annual Action Plan (Transcript available upon request)

<u>Comment A1:</u> A representative of Cook Inlet Housing Authority commented that when a rental housing development project is funded with HOME monies under the AHFC Greater Opportunities for Affordable Living (GOAL) Qualified Allocation Plan (QAP), it is required to set aside 40% of the units for households at or below 50% Area Median Income (AMI). He stated that this 40% is twice as much as is required by the HOME project rule itself. He also noted that as the HOME allocation for Anchorage is much smaller than that for the balance of state, the 40 % requirement makes it a greater challenge to fund projects with HOME funds in the Municipality of Anchorage.

State Response to Comment A1: The comment summarized above refers directly to the QAP, which is under review with a public comment period extending through March 29, 2012. These comments will be added to the public record for the QAP comment process and be formally responded to in the response(s) to public comment received during that cycle.

As a point of clarification, the QAP does not require that projects receiving HOME funds through the Municipality of Anchorage set-aside 40% of their units for households at or below 50% AMI. The QAP scores all projects receiving HOME funds the same way,

regardless of whether the HOME funding is provided through AHFC or the Municipality of Anchorage; however, the 40-50 threshold for unit set-asides <u>only</u> applies to HOME funded projects in the balance-of-state.

Comment A2: The same representative of the Cook Inlet Housing Authority commented that HOME Homeownership Development Program (HDP) funds should not be restricted to projects using the USDA 523 Self-help Program, or sponsored by Community Land Trusts, CHDOs and Habitat for Humanity. He indicated that the Native Village of Quinhagak is developing a self-help type housing project that could benefit from HDP funds and that eligible HDP recipients should be expanded to include 501(c)(3) non-profit organizations, Native Village organizations and Regional Housing Authorities.

State Response to Comment A2:

The FY2012 Appropriations Act for HOME funds restricts funding to entities with staff who have demonstrated development experience. Restricting the Homeownership Development Program (HDP) to applicants that are USDA 523 Self-Help Program participants, Community Land Trusts, CHDOs and Habitat for Humanity affiliates guarantees the threshold level of required experience amongst applicants for this type of activity. It is likely that the FY2012 Appropriations Act and the proposed new HOME rule, if adopted, will mandate further restrictions on experience thresholds.

Three options may exist for a project that is interested in utilizing HOME funds but does not qualify as an HDP applicant: 1) interested 501c3 agencies may consider certifying as a Community Housing Development Organization (CHDO), 2) partner with an entity that meets the HDP applicant qualifications, 3) solicit the participation of one of the existing HOME Opportunity Program sub-recipients to provide down payment, closing cost and/or principle buy-down to eligible applicants outside their current service area.

An entity that is interested in any of these options should contact the State's HOME Program Manager, Colette Slover, at 907-330-8275.

B. Written Comments – Received during the Public Comment Period February 17, 2012 through March 20, 2012

<u>Comment B1:</u> The Mat-Su Homeless Coalition submitted a comment referencing the priorities established during a recent Coalition meeting. Based on a summit held in December 2011, the three main areas of concern identified in the Mat-Su: prisoner reentry, rapid rehousing of homeless and homelessness among the youth population. They stated that the Coalition has seen the number of homeless increase over recent years that the Mat-Su has the highest percentage of homeless youth identified of any school district in the state. They intend to participate more fully in all programs available to meet the needs of the homeless in the Mat-Su.

<u>State Response to Comment B1:</u> AHFC commends the citizens of the Matanuska-Susitna Borough who are dedicating their time to addressing homelessness in their region. AHFC will continue to provide technical assistance to housing organizations to help achieve their goals to the greatest extent practicable.

Comments B2 through B11 were provided by a representative from Housing First, Inc. in Juneau.

<u>Comment B2:</u> Despite the Plan's CDBG set-asides and designations for construction-ready homeless shelters or transitional housing projects, long term housing solutions would better meet the demand for small rental units. Permanent housing solutions for those in transitional and shelter housing would alleviate overcrowding of temporary housing currently available.

<u>State Response to Comment B2:</u> The State appreciates the comments in regard to the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program. While viable permanent housing solutions for those in transitional and shelter housing is a need identified in the Juneau Housing Needs assessment, the focus of the statewide Community Development Block Grant funding continues to be community infrastructure projects, as based upon comments received during recent CDBG workshops and the number of applications received during past years for these types of projects.

While infrastructure needs are the focus of the statewide CDBG program, housing activities are eligible activities under the program. Any application we receive for eligible housing activities will be reviewed with other eligible applications.

<u>Comment B3:</u> Regarding Homeless Prevention and Rapid Re-housing, the requirement for small agencies to show capacity in order to receive ESG funds becomes an obstacle to providing affordable housing. The use of consulting services with professionals needs to be allowed instead of requiring increased capacity through training.

State Response to Comment B3: According to statutory and regulatory requirements of the Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) program, consulting services are not an allowable cost. ESG project sponsors are provided training events and products through HUD's centralized technical assistance program to build the required capacity to use standardized assessment tools, document eligibility, calculate rental assistance amounts and collect and enter data into the Alaska Homeless Management Information System. AHFC concurs that the requirements of this newer component of the ESG program may initially complicate addressing the needs of the state, especially in view of HUD's requirement to award funds within a strict timeline to a limited number of agencies with demonstrated capacity. The SFY2013 AAP takes this into consideration with the enhancement of its technical assistance program.

<u>Comment B4:</u> NSP3 funds should be available throughout the state. The SFY2013 AAP states that \$5 million are destined to be used in Anchorage. Doesn't AHFC have its own resources to develop public housing?

<u>State Response to Comment B4:</u> The NSP3 allocation strategy was the result of a lengthy public process in 2010 that included consideration of federal program requirements, the required timelines for expenditure and other factors including all public comment provided at the time. Its inclusion in this section Summary of FY13 Changes, is intended to provide an update on the program status.

<u>Comment B5:</u> The commenter stated: AHFC was encouraged to seek a HUD waiver to provide additional HOME investment in "troubled" rental properties if deemed necessary to preserve units.

<u>State Response to Comment B5:</u> At Section VIII, L. HOME Program Development of the SFY2013 AAP outlines provisions and considerations pertaining to projects that may be "troubled" in anticipation of seeking waivers.

<u>Comment B6:</u> More HOME funds should be allocated around the state. AHFC has a responsibility to find ways to encourage development in smaller communities that don't have capacity to develop within the community.

<u>State Response to Comment B6:</u> Smaller communities and entities that do not have the capacity to develop within the community could partner with an entity that has the required experience and capacity. The SFY2013 AAP makes Technical Assistance and training funds available to assist with staff training and capacity development.

<u>Comment B7:</u> Allocate more HOME funds to rental housing development and less to home ownership. The homeownership goals in the SFY2013 AAP indicate a total of 59 units will receive funding through the HDP and HOP programs.

State Response to Comment B7: The SFY2013 AAP allocates \$1,550,000 in SFY2013 funds and \$757,788 of unexpended, prior year funds for a total of \$2,307,788 for rental housing development activities. This figure represents an approximately 30% increase to rental development allocations, averaged over the past three years. The SFY2013 AAP makes funding additional rental housing development activities the first priority for HOME program income and repaid funds. By comparison, homeownership programs are allocated a total of \$1,650,000. It is likely that developing homeownership opportunities will create a similar number of available rental units as renters move to homeownership. Increasing the amount of funding available to rental development does not guarantee that the demand or the amount requested for these funds will increase. Finally, it must be noted that, because of the nature of the homeownership programs, the amount of funds invested in each unit under homeownership programs is significantly less than the amount required to construct

new rental units, thus producing a greater number of homeownership units as compared to rental development units.

<u>Comment B8:</u> A comment was made questioning whether the 10-unit outcome of the \$2,307,788 allocated for rental development was due to the high cost of developing housing in remote areas of Alaska.

State Response to Comment B8: The expected outcomes represent a conservative estimate for unit production based on observed development costs and typical leverage rates. The allocation amount would support the development of 10 units with total development costs of \$274k per unit, assuming 16% of the development costs could be supported through debt. Unit production estimates are conservative figures, given the potential for larger units, geographic cost factors, and/or relatively small sponsor resources to drive up the subsidy needed on any given project.

<u>Comment B9:</u> Statement of support for the use of HOME program and repaid funds for the priorities identified in the SFY2013 AAP and the order of the priorities.

<u>State Response to Comment B9:</u> The State appreciates the acknowledgement and support for the priorities of this allocation.

<u>Comment B10:</u> The SFY2013 AAP does not include a geographic distribution formula. Funding allocations should be targeted to areas of the state with the highest need and extra points should be awarded to applicants proposing housing in those targeted areas.

<u>State Response to Comment B10:</u> HOME, CDBG and ESG funds are distributed through competitive grant application processes with funding allocated in response to applications that demonstrate project feasibility and sustainability (among other factors). There are many areas of Alaska that have a substantial need for new housing and community development. Given the size of these pools of funds, geographic distribution is difficult and could result in insufficient funding to make a project feasible. Targeting funds to particular geographic areas may cause funding to remain unallocated which would jeopardize HUD commitment requirements.

<u>Comment B11:</u> A comment was made questioning how the estimated 15 TBRA households would be distributed throughout the balance of state; why, with a burgeoning Section 8 waiting list, not all TBRA funds from last year were allocated; and asking about data to support the statement: "Rental unit availability data indicates that there is an ample supply of units to make TBRA a viable housing strategy."

<u>State Response to Comment B11:</u> The TBRA service area is comprised of those communities which have Public Housing Choice Voucher Program offices, with the exception of Anchorage. The TBRA program targets former prisoners. TBRA Coupons are not divided

amongst communities, they are offered on a first come, first served basis to households referred to the program by the State of Alaska Department of Corrections (DOC). The TBRA program is a partnership between AHFC and DOC.

The majority of TBRA eligible households do not qualify for Section 8 due to criminal history and are therefore not on the Section 8 waiting list.

Unit vacancy rates are used to determine the availability of rental units; the State of Alaska Department of Labor estimates vacancy rates annually. Vacancy rates do not take into account the number of landlords that do not want to rent to households with criminal histories. The State is not excluding a community from TBRA participation due to a low vacancy rate or tight rental market; although, we may see fewer TBRA households lease-up in these communities. Additional funds for TBRA will not be allocated until it is anticipated that prior year allocations are fully expensed.

Comments B12 through B15 were provided by the Juneau Homeless Coalition

<u>Comment B12:</u> Several suggestions were made concerning office and staff development and assistance to rental developers.

<u>State Response to Comment B12:</u> The state appreciates these suggestions, which are programmatic in nature and not specific to the SFY2013 AAP and will take them into consideration when reviewing the subject areas.

<u>Comment B13:</u> The Juneau non-profit and for profit developers continue to see their housing projects rejected when rated against market study analysis by AHFC. These types of projects in Juneau depend on project-based subsidies to meet operating expenses, especially in the presence of AHFC financing, which makes them fail against the criteria.

<u>State Response to Comment B13:</u> Since adopting the pre-application review process, no project from Juneau has been rejected based on the market study findings. Since SFY2002, AHFC has funded three rental development projects in Juneau through the Greater Opportunities for Affordable Living (GOAL) program and two projects located in Juneau through the Special Needs Housing Grant (SNHG) program.

<u>Comment B14:</u> Block grant affordable housing development funds to Alaska communities and empower them to determine how best to meet their affordable housing needs. Base funding criteria on per-capita rates of homelessness, vacancy rates in low- and very-low-income projects and the ratio of local match. Create a balance-of-state development fund to assist with gaps.

<u>State Response to Comment B14:</u> In order for the State to meet HUD expenditure and commitment deadlines and avoid returning funds to HUD, the State must make funding commitments that are project-specific. This is mandated under new HOME regulations. The

GOAL program is designed to provide HOME funds to the Balance-of-State to assist with development fund gaps. The rating criteria approved by the AHFC Board of Directors currently prioritizes projects that 1) target homelessness, 2) avoid areas of high vacancy and favor those in areas with low vacancy rates, and 3) provide a higher degree of matching funds.

<u>Comment B15:</u> The Coalition supports the use of the one-time HOME program income funds according to the priorities noted in the SFY2013 AAP: rental development, TBRA or assistance of troubled properties.

<u>State Response to Comment B15:</u> The State appreciates the support for the priorities identified in the SFY2013 AAP.

<u>Comment B16</u> was provided by BOTH Housing First, Inc. of Juneau and the Juneau Homeless Coalition

<u>Comment B16:</u> The State should support local developers and CHDO's by continuing to fund the AHFC HOME Pre-development Program.

<u>State Response to Comment B16</u>: The SFY2013 AAP allocates funding to Technical Assistance instead of the Pre-development Program. The Pre-development Program provided a maximum of \$14,000 for early project planning such as single line drawings, site work, zoning, and consultation. The State found that \$14,000 is not enough to provide project planning in a stand-alone grant to a project sponsor, but that these costs can be fully funded as part of an overall project development budget.

With the elimination of the HUD CD-TA awards for training and technical assistance, the State will no longer directly receive federal technical assistance funds to develop and maintain CHDO capacity. The redirection of predevelopment funds to technical assistance activities will maintain and develop CHDO staff capacity in order to ensure that HOME funds continue to be committed in accordance with the FFY2012 Appropriations Act requirements. The State technical assistance funds will also be used to provide ongoing training and technical assistance opportunities for affordable housing project sponsors across the state in order to maintain and/or increase project sponsor capacity.

The Appropriations Act includes provisions that funds may not be committed to a CHDO unless it has demonstrated development experience.

The State has spent the past year exploring how to better utilize the predevelopment resource and has determined that building provider capacity and having additional funds available for active development projects is a move forward in order to more effectively and strategically utilize one of our affordable housing resources.

ALASKA HOUSING FINANCE CORPORATION PUBLIC HEARING SFY-2013 CONSOLIDATED HOUSING and COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT ANNUAL ACTION PLAN

February 2, 2012 4300 BONIFACE PARKWAY ANCHORAGE, ALASKA

- 1	
_	_

PROCEEDINGS

(On record - 4:15 p.m.)

3 CEDANO:

Good afternoon. This is Oscar Cedano a planner for Alaska Housing Finance Corporation. Today is Thursday, February 2nd, 2012 and we're here to collect testimony for the State fiscal year 2013 Annual Action Plan for the State of Alaska.

I'm here with Kris Duncan, planner for the Alaska Housing Finance Corporation. And then I have Elaine Mello, planing officer also for Alaska Housing. I have Lona Hammer, planner for the Alaska Housing Finance Corporation. I have Daniel Delfino. I have Colette Slover and I also have Mr. Taylor Robinson in the room.

We don't have anybody on line yet, so I will proceed to introduce the Consolidated Housing Plan for the State.

Now, the Consolidated Housing and Community

Development plan is a federally mandated planning

process that serves as an application for several

formula grant programs for the U. S. Department of

Housing and Urban Development, HUD. These formula

grant programs include the Community Development

Block Grant, CDBG, HOME Investment Partnership Act,

HOME and Emergency Solutions Grant, ESG or Emergency

Shelter Grant which is converting to the Emergency Solutions Grant under the Hearth Act.

In Alaska, two Participating Jurisdictions receive formula funding for the CDBG, HOME and ESG Programs, Anchorage and the State of Alaska. The Municipality of Anchorage is responsible for its own Consolidated Housing and Community Development Planning process and the State of Alaska HCD Planning process covers all geographic areas of Alaska outside of the Municipality of Anchorage which is known as the balance of state. So I am here today to talk about HCD planning for the balance of state.

The State of Alaska HCD Plan is a cooperative effort of the Alaska Housing Finance Corporation,

AHFC, the Alaska Department of Commerce, Community and Economic Development, DCCED, the Alaska Department of Health and Social Services, the Alaska Mental Health Trust Authority and the Alaska Workforce Investment Board.

Now, Alaska (sic) is the lead agency in the preparation and maintenance of the Alaska Consolidated Plan. The Consolidated Housing and Community Development planning process includes a five year plan referred to as the HCD, an Annual Action Plan for each of the five years and a

Consolidated Annual Performance Evaluation Report or CAPER, for each of the five years. And the subject of today -- of today's hearing is the 2013 State Fiscal Year Annual Action Plan.

So I'll talk a little bit about the current efforts. A 2013 Annual Action Plan will profile housing and community development conditions in Alaska, outside of Anchorage, outline an assessment of housing and community development needs and provide a market analysis of the environment in which these needs exist. This plan will include a strategy to be followed in carrying out the HUD programs and other resources leveraged in conjunction with these programs.

We are here today to take public comment about housing needs in the balance of state and will consider those comments as the Annual Action Plan for 2013 is formulated.

The State's Annual Action Plan for the 200- -- for the State fiscal year 2013 covers the period beginning July 1st of 2012 and ending June 30, 2013. This one year plan will identify housing and community development resources expected to be available during the year and detail the State's plans for the use of HOME, CDBG and ESG funds.

The Annual Action Plan will include a description of how funds will be allocated, the program activities to be undertaken and the amount of funds to be distributed for each program activity.

Also included in the Annual Action Plan will be an overview of homelessness needs and actions to be undertaken to address homelessness, special needs housing, lead based paint hazards, collaboration with the public housing agency and non-housing community development concerns. The Annual Action Plan will provide a basis for assessing effectiveness through annual performance reports.

Now, the planning to date, to day the HCD planning process has included meetings with the HCD Steering Committee, included representatives from AHFC, DCCED, DHSS or the Department of Health and the Workforce Investment Board updating of pertinent statistical and demographic information, collection and review of several studies and source documents, identification of resources and this Public Hearing and Statewide teleconference.

Now, for the use of the funds based on this planning effort, I'd like to tell you a little bit about the funding programs that these plans enable us to use. The ESG Program receives approximately

\$228,007 annually to assist homeless persons. This money can be spent for rehab of temporary shelters, essential services such as health care and transportation, operating costs for temporary shelters or transitional housing or homeless prevention service.

We will also talk a little bit about -- a little bit more about the ESC Plan as it changes due to the coming (ph) of the Hearth Act and for that we have -- we have Kris Duncan here with us and so as soon as I finish here she'll give us a little more detailed description of that.

The HOME Program is -- I'm going to talk about now about the HOME Program which is the -- another one of the areas of -- covered by the Annual Action Plan.

The HOME Program receives about \$3 million annually.

It can be used for a wide range of activities that build, buy or rehab affordable housing for rent or homeownership or provide direct rental assistance to low income people. Additionally, the State will match this amount with approximately \$750,000 and we will likely have approximately 1.5 million in program income for the coming year.

The CDBG Program receives about 2.1 million annually which can be used for community development

such as clinics, fire stations, water/sewer, et cetera, planning such as comprehensive community development plans and feasibility studies, special economic development that creates jobs and housing rehab. It does not include new construction.

Keep in mind that these amounts are for all areas in Alaska outside the Municipality of Anchorage.

The statutory goal of the HCD Plan is to provide decent housing, create suitable living environments and expand economic opportunities for Alaskans at or below 80 percent of median income.

In closing I would like to reiterate that you can and should be involved in this process. Give us your comments of the Annual Action Plan is developed and on the draft Plan once it's published. You can do this using several methods. You can go to website and read the current Annual Action Plan and that website address is www.ahfc.state.ak.us/reference -- correction, the address is as follows it's www.ahfc.us/reference/plans.

You can also e-mail Oscar Cedano and that's ocedano@ahfc.state. -- correction again, ocedano@ahfc.us. You can watch our website for updates and notices on any other meetings that we may be attending.

And now is there anybody who would like to provide

comment at this time? Do I have anybody on line?

Okay. Well, here in the room we have Mr. Robinson.

Yes, please. Would you mind stating your name for

the record?

6 ROBINSON:

Yes, my name is Tyler Robinson and I'm with Cook Inlet Housing Authority. Thank you for the opportunity to provide comment. I have two general categories of comments to provide. The first has to do with rental housing development and I understand that the policy on which I'm going to comment also, in fact, may live in the QAP rather than in this particular document, but given that it's a funding source — that it pertains to the funding source in the Action Plan I feel like I should comment on it here as well.

And that is the policy that when combined with -in the GOAL round and combined with tax credits that
the use of HOME dollars requires a set aside of 40
percent of the units to be 50 percent AMI units. The
Action Plan of this current year clearly states that
one of the challenges of development in Alaska has to
do with the overall cost of development and that
funding gap that is created and yet the use of HOME
dollars in effect, if not a significant source of

funds in a project has -- serves to actually expand or make more infeasible expand the gap on a project at times by -- by reducing the debt carrying capacity of the project through that 40 percent set aside which, again, is double the set aside that's typically just required under the HOME -- HOME project rule itself.

The second, sort of, corollary comment to that is -- is the policy that AHFC has given that Cook Inlet Housing does most of our activities within the Municipality of Anchorage and so we would be utilizing HOME funds from the Municipality of Anchorage and that -- in those cases, but that this policy still pertains to the use of HOME funds through Anchorage HOME funds.

The issue there, of course, is that the Municipality's pot of HOME funds is quite a bit smaller, call it a million dollars or less. By the time you take away admin dollars and programs that are funded regularly such as the Anchor Program, the amount of funds potentially available for a rental housing development in any given year might be something in the -- to the tune of about \$300,000. And while that could provide important GAP funding to a project, accepting a grant at \$300,000 on a \$15

million project and so doing obligating oneself to 40 percent, 50 percent units really makes that source of money not that attractive.

My second set of co- -- so, again, the recommendation would be for AHFC to consider the policy either here in the Action Plan or the QAP both for your own policy, as well as -- as it affects the Municipality of Anchorage HOME funds.

My second category of comments has to do with homeownership development and I've spoken to some staff about -- about this briefly and I just want to expound upon it a little bit, but currently those funds are restricted to certain -- certain participants, those that participate in the USDA 523 Self-help Program, Community Land Trust, CHODOs and Habitat for Humanity.

I understand that the source of funds is not that great yet I want to tell you a little bit about a project that Cook Inlet has been involved in that could potentially be a good fit for those funds.

Funded by Foraker Group we've been involved in a group of consultants and program developers including Agnubak (ph), HUD, Foraker Group, Cold Climate Housing Research Center and AVCP Housing Authority working with the Native village of Quinhagak to

develop a self-help program.

As you're probably aware the Village of Quinhagak has a number of housing units that have been deemed uninhabitable mostly due to mold and structural issues. Their housing situation is dire and they've got a big road ahead just in terms of replacing their existing units, let alone planning for the expanding population in the community.

The Tribe itself would like to engage in a self-help program and they've, in fact, made great strides to move forward with a project this coming year.

They plan to build an initial eight homes beginning this summer. However, currently they're not eligible to apply for those funds and I think there should be consideration made to expand who all could apply for those homeownership development funds potentially including 501C3s, Native villages or Regional Housing Authorities.

I guess the final comment would simply be a more general one relating to the same topic and I would encourage Staff involved in the creation of the Action Plan to read the report that we put together funded through the Foraker Group that talks about the feasibility of a self-help housing program in Quinhagak. Obviously additional assistance is needed

1	in the form of program development, financing for the
2	Native village of Quinhagak, as well as to individual
3	home buyers and gap funding.
Λ	We recommend AUFC explore wave in which to partner

5

8

9

We recommend AHFC explore ways in which to partner with the Tribe in this effort including, but not limited to the use of HOME homeownership development funds. I think you all could be an excellent partner in that effort. And with that I'd like to conclude my comments. Thank you.

10 CEDANO: Thank you, Mr. Taylor (sic). Do I have anybody on line? Mr. Robinson, sorry. Do we have anybody on line?

13 GERAGHTY: Yeah, Oscar, this is Bruce Geraghty. I just called in.

15 CEDANO: Oh, hi, hi, Bruce. Would you like to render a comment for the plan?

17 GERAGHTY: I think I better listen for now. I -- I'll try

18 and submit some written comments just with regard to

19 the lack of -- or really (ph) the continuing need for

20 special needs housing.

21 CEDANO: Okay. So are you going to do that in a little while?

23 GERAGHTY: Yeah, I hope to have it done by tomorrow. Isn't

24 your -- is your written comment period opened till -
25 for a little bit here?

The written comment period is not opened yet. It CEDANO: 1 2 will start February 17th, Saturday. It will go on 3 for --.... 4 **GERAGHTY:** Okay. 5 CEDANO:it will go on for 32 days. **GERAGHTY:** Very good. 6 7 CEDANO: Do I have anybody on -- anybody else on line or 8 anybody else that wants to make comment? 9 Okay. Again, we're here to take testimony for the 10 State fiscal year 2013 Annual Action Plan for the 11 State of Alaska. And like I said before when I was

12

13

14

15

16

17

22

23

24

25

State fiscal year 2013 Annual Action Plan for the State of Alaska. And like I said before when I was describing the programs that are covered in this plan, one of them is the ESG or Energy Solutions Grant and since we have Kris Duncan here with us I would like to give her the opportunity to clarify a little more how that program is going to be changing with the coming of the Hearth Act. Kris.

18 DUNCAN: Thank you. We have been appraising the providers

19 and interested, affected stakeholders about some of

20 the regulatory changes that were coming down. It was

21 presented at the December Homeless Coalition meeting

because the interim regs were out at that time.

information as far as the specific amounts that will

Just for the record we have received more updated

be touched upon in the SFY 2013 Action Plan.

There will actually be two processes, kind of, operating in conjunction with that program years partly because the award for the Federal fiscal year '11 was divided, some from the old Emergency Shelter Grant and then a second increment that comes under this rule, the Emergency Solutions Grant rule. That balance of funds will be approximately \$74,000 that can only be used for homeless prevention and rapid rehousing component.

25 CEDANO:

And then of the Federal fiscal year '12 ESG funds that comes under the new rule that 60 percent may be used for shelter operations or ess- -- what they call essential services, supported services. And the other 40 percent must, again, be used for homeless prevention/rapid rehousing activities.

So roughly that means about \$165,000 will be used to meet requests for shelter operation and essential services and then the remainder will be applied toward those homeless prevention and rapid rehousing requested.

So to -- just so that people know what those amounts will be when we are making allocations this year from that competitive award process, those are the numbers that we will be working with.

Thank you. It is 4:35, do we have anybody on

1	line? We're going to go off record since we don't
2	I don't hear anybody else. We'll come back in about
3	15 minutes or 10 minutes to check to see if there is
4	anybody else who wants to render comment. Thanks.
5	(Off record - 4:35 p.m.)
6	(On record - 4:55 p.m.)
7 CEDANO:	Okay. We're back on record. It is 4:55 now
8	February today, February 2nd, 2012. And, again,
9	we're here to collect testimony for the State fiscal
10	year 2013 Annual Action Plan for the State of Alaska.
11	Do I have anybody on line?
12 GERAGHTY:	Nobody new, Oscar, this is Bruce, but and I'm
13	going to sign off, so
14 CEDANO:	Okay, Bruce, thanks for coming.
15 GERAGHTY:	I'll catch you later. Okay, bye.
16 CEDANO:	Okay, bye. For the record we'll just go off line
17	and we'll come back in a few minutes to check for new
18	comments. We will go off record now and we'll come
19	back in about 10 minutes. Thank you.
20	(Off record - 4:57 p.m.)
21	(On record - 5:13 p.m.)
22 CEDANO:	We're back on the rec back on the record. It
23	is 5:13 p.m., February 2nd, 2012. Do I have anybody
24	on line? Is there anybody on line? Well, hearing no
25	one we'll go off the record. We'll come back in 10

```
2
                (Off record - 5:13 p.m.)
3
                (On record - 5:30 p.m.)
                   We're back on the record. Do I have anybody on
4
  CEDANO:
5
                line? Anybody on line? Well, seeing no one and
                hearing no one we will go off the record until 5:45
6
7
                p.m. Today February 2nd, 2012. Thank you.
8
                (Off record - 5:30 p.m.)
9
                (On record - 5:45 p.m.)
10 CEDANO:
                   Okay. And we're back on record. Do I have
                anybody on line? Well, just for the record it is
11
12
                5:45 p.m., February 2nd, 2012 and this is a Public
13
                Hearing to collect comment for the State Fiscal Year
14
                2013 Annual Action Plan for the Housing and Community
15
                Development Consolidated Plan for the State of
16
                Alaska.
17
                   We'll go off the record until 6:00 p.m. Thank
18
                you.
19
                (Off record - 5:46 p.m.)
20
                (On record - 6:00 p.m.)
21 CEDANO:
                   We're back on record for the State Fiscal Year
                2013 Annual Action Plan for the State of Alaska from
22
23
                4:00 to 6:00 p.m. It is 6:00 p.m. right now and we
24
                will close our comment period. Thanks to all of you
                that rendered comment and we'll go off record now.
25
```

more minutes. Thank you.

1

```
1          Thanks.
2          (Recessed - 6:00 p.m.)
3
4
```

CERTIFICATE 2 UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 3 SS STATE OF ALASKA) 5 I, Suzan Kay Olson, Notary Public in and for the 6 State of Alaska, residing at Anchorage, Alaska, and Electronic 7 Reporter for R & R Court Reporters, Inc., do hereby certify: 8 THAT the annexed and foregoing PUBLIC HEARING of the 9 Alaska Housing Finance Corporation regarding CONSOLIDATED HOUSING 10 and COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT ANNUAL ACTION PLAN, was taken before 11 Suzan Olson on the 2nd day of February, 2012, commencing at the 12 hour of 4:00 o'clock p.m., at the offices of AHFC, 4300 Boniface 13 Parkway, Anchorage, Alaska, pursuant to Notice; 14 THAT this Transcript, as heretofore annexed, is a 15 true and correct transcription of said Public Hearing, taken by 16 and thereafter transcribed by Suzan Olson; 17 THAT the original of the Transcript will be lodged 18 with the Alaska Housing Finance Corporation; 19 THAT I am not a relative, employee or attorney of any 20 of the parties, nor am I financially interested in this action. 21 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and 22 affixed my seal this 3rd day of February, 2012. 23 24 Notary Public in and for Alaska 25 My Commission Expires: 08/01/15